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FOREWORD

he famous James H. “Jimmy” Doolittle, first to fly an aircraft entirely on

instruments, racing trophy winner,World War I hero,and an honorary mem-
ber of the Air Line Pilots Association, was an extraordinary figure in the history
of aviation. In the sunset of his life, while I was working with him on his autobi-
ography (I Could Never Be So Lucky Again),1 asked him why he waited until
he reached his mid-90s to tell his life story. He replied,“There is an optimum
time to write history.That is after the emotions have cooled down and before
memory has started to fade.Very frequently when an individual writes history
immediately after the event, he is still knowingly or unknowingly emotionally
involved.I think only after those emotions have cooled down can you have a
real rationalization. Rational thinking and emotions don’t go together”

Past, present, and future members of ALPA will find that this second book on
the history of their union follows this premise.The emotions of the past have
cooled somewhat, and it represents the “rational thinking” of many leading par-
ticipants as stated by a professional historian, George E. Hopkins, Ph.D.,who, in
1982, wrote Flying the Line: The First Half Century of the Air Line Pilots
Association. That book covered the air mail pilots’strike of 1919,the Association’s
subsequent founding in 1931,and the incumbency of the first three presidents
to the midpoint of Capt.].J. O’'Donnell’s 12-year term.

This volume explores in great depth the Association’s history from that time
through the incumbency of Capt. Henry A. Duffy and the assumption of the
ALPA presidency by Capt.Randolph Babbitt.It takes the reader behind the scenes
of the political battles that were fought internally and presents a rare, uninhib-
ited evaluation of the motives, emotions, and personalities involved in the trau-
matic issues that threatened to destroy the organization.

As Hopkins explains in his preface, he is a Navy-trained pilot who nearly
became an airline pilot but elected to pursue a career as a historian. He exam-
ines the internal political workings and hidden mechanisms of ALPA from an
informed, omniscient viewpoint that is rarely found in a history of any organiza-
tion, much less that of a labor union.After interviews with,and having the con-
sent of, ALPA’s past leaders, he reveals and comments freely on their quarrels
with pilot groups before and after the passage of the Airline Deregulation Act of
1978. Here will be found frank revelations of the power of the “elephant” pilot
groups and the influence that“ants” have had on the union’s recent history. And
the reader will see the disruptions that occur and the bitterness between pilot
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groups about seniority that has proven inevitable when airlines merge.

Those who have read Flying the Line, Vol. I, will recall the villainy of E.L. Cord
in his dealings with pilots in the 1930s.They will see that there was a modern-
day equivalent in the person of Francisco Lorenzo, who willfully and ruthlessly
broke the laws of labor/management relations and was determined to destroy
ALPA as a viable union. ALPA spent $200 million to fight the war against this
tyrant and finally witness his downfall. The book contains a straightforward
examination of the motivations of some of the airline pilot group leaders during
this dismal period and their influence on the transition of leadership from
O’Donnell to Dufty as well as the behind-the-scenes political machinations that
led to Dufty’s victory by a mere 129 votes.The rise and influence of Randolph
Babbitt in ALPA’s internal affairs and his controversial election to the presidency
are discussed with equal candor.

Pilots who have joined ALPA in recent years will learn the origin and meaning
of such terms as suspension of service, labor protective provisions, blue skies
contract, Mutual Aid Pact, Project Acceleration, B-scale wages, withdrawal of
enthusiasm, stovepipe standalone seniority lists, Major Contingency Fund, fam-
ily awareness programs,and ALPA’s fragmentation policy.And readers will grasp
what Capt. Frank Mayne, former ALPA executive vice-president, meant when he
said, “Whatever goes wrong, ALPA will get the blame. Whatever goes right, the
company will get the credit.”

Members will gain an assessment of the role of the Reagan and Bush Admin-
istrations and the judiciary in labor negotiations and in the disastrous effects of
deregulation on the pilot profession.There are interesting “names”encountered
here,including such unlikely personalities as Donald Trump and Michael Milken,
Lorenzo’s junk bond friend who was convicted of security fraud and sentenced
to 10 years in prison.

Nowhere else will readers get such a valuable, unvarnished, inside view of
the downfall of Braniff and Eastern, two of the nation’s proud airlines, and the
sad effects that mergers caused for airline employees. Hopkins traces the troubles
and the drastic changes in the industry to a new breed of corporate wheeler-
dealers who had no airline experience and minimal qualifications for leader-
ship and who gleefully tried to break the unions. Men like Lorenzo typified
everything that is wrong about airline deregulation and caused Sen. Ted Kennedy,
a one-time proponent, to admit that deregulation has been a failure.

As a staff member and editor of Aér Line Pilot,1 was privileged to witness, but
not to participate in, many of the political events discussed so vividly in the
following chapters. My first experience with ALPA might be said to have been
when I met my flying instructor at Army Air Corps primary flight school in
1941.He was Verne Treat, known as“Mr. U” on that list of ALPA’s founding mem-
bers who had to keep their identities secret and are listed on that impressive
brass plaque in the lobby of ALPA’s Herndon, Va., office. He would not discuss
those early days with cadets, but he taught me the basics of piloting, and I owe
a successful, accident-free flying career to his instructional skills.When I joined
the ALPA staff 36 years later, I learned why his name is so permanently memori-
alized.That is revealed in Hopkins’s The Airline Pilots:A Study in Elite Union-
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ization and reinforced in Flying the Line.I had joined an organization with a
proud heritage formed by men of great courage and vision.

This current work of Hopkins should be required reading for all present and
future ALPA members. It is a study of crisis and effect and contains priceless
lessons that can be learned from past mistakes and successes.The book illus-
trates the lasting truth of the author’s statement that “no victory ever stays won”
and should be an incentive for members to get involved in the internal affairs of
their union and use the experience of the past as preparation for the future.

C.V.Glines

Former Editor
Air Line Pilot

IX
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PREFACE

hy another book on the history of ALPA and pilot unionization? Weren’t
my two previous books enough? What has happened since 1970?

The short answer is “history” Over the last three decades,change in the airline
industry has been remorseless and revolutionary. Ask any former Braniff, East-
ern,or Pan American pilot about that “change.”

When Hank Duffy approached me about writing a sequel to Flying the Line,
I was skeptical. I wasn’t sure ALPA (or airline flying as a “profession,” for that
matter) would survive long enough for anybody to care! That’s how bad things
were in the 1980s, a decade dominated by Frank Lorenzo and the decertifica-
tion of ALPA after a lost strike at Continental Airlines. Pilots flying the line today,
most of whom began their careers after the trauma described in this book
occurred, need to know their history, or they run the risk of repeating it.

But why should I write it? How did the study of airline pilot unionization
become my life’s work? Thereby hangs a tale.

In 1964, after five years as a naval aviator, I opted for an academic career. It
was a tough choice,for I became a Navy pilot because I saw it as the best way to
become an airline pilot. I even requested multiengine training because I had
heard that airlines preferred pilots with that background.

In 1966, after two years of graduate studies in history at the University of
Texas at Austin, I faced the Ph.D.“comprehensive” exams. If I passed,I would go
on to write a dissertation, receive my doctorate, and then become a college
professor. If I flunked, I would have to find a new career (while presumably
taking up history as a hobby!).I had a wife and child,I was nearly 30 years old,
and I was feeling uneasy about the future.

Atjust this time,Dick Russell,an old Navy friend then flying for Braniff, phoned.
“If you ever want to fly again,now’s the time,” Dick said. Braniff needed pilots—
I needed career insurance. So I interviewed with Braniff, got hired, and was
assigned a class date.

Career insurance safely in hand,I passed the comprehensive doctoral exams
and reluctantly wrote to Braniff declining employment. But to this day, I keep
that framed Braniff job offer on my office wall,a constant reminder that I could
have chosen another career.

I then had to write a“dissertation.”A dissertation is supposed to be a “signifi-
cant contribution” to the field of history. Selecting a dissertation topic takes
months—researching and writing one often takes years.An old joke holds that
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there are two kinds of dissertations: good ones—and those that get finished!

My dissertation adviser,Robert A. Divine, suggested that because I had a back-
ground in aviation,and because as a graduate student I had already published an
article on American bombing policy in World War II,1 ought to continue in this
vein. My Navy experience, combined with an aviation specialty, would make
me an unusual academician, Divine believed.

My first thought was to write the history of an airline.With the help of Profes-
sor Joe B.Frantz,a business historian who knew the presidentof Braniff, Harding
L.Lawrence,I got an interview with Lawrence in his opulent office atop “One
Braniff Place” in Dallas. I needed access to Braniff’s records. Lawrence was cor-
dial, but he insisted that Braniff would have to retain control over my work.That
was quite impossible for a dissertation.

After several more blind alleys that lasted into 1967,1 remembered Dick Russell
saying: “You won’t believe this, Hopkins, but I'm now a card-carrying union
member” Dick,a Naval Academy graduate and staunch Republican, gave me an
idea.

I discovered that no history of ALPA was listed in any bibliography.So I wrote
toALPA, still located in Chicago,asking permission to use any records the union
might have. Almost immediately I received a phone call from W. W. (“Wally”)
Anderson, ALPA’s executive administrator under Charley Ruby.Wally’s first com-
ment was:“We’ve been wanting somebody to write our history for a long time.
How much would you charge?”

I explained that my services would be free, but that I needed unrestricted ac-
cess to ALPA’s records. So I came to Chicago in the summer of 1967, and after a
brief interview with Charley Ruby,I got his approval—no strings attached.“He
seems all right to me” was all Ruby said to Wally Anderson after the interview.

In 1971, Harvard University Press published The Airline Pilots: A Study in
Elite Unionization, the book that resulted from my dissertation. It took four
years to write and covered only the first seven years of ALPA’s history, from its
formation in 1931 to passage of the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938.1 guess ALPA
liked what I wrote, for in 1978, J.J. O’Donnell asked me to write another history
commemorating the union’s 50th anniversary. With the understanding that I
would give ALPA its history “warts and all,’T agreed.

The result was Flying the Line: the First Half-Century of the Air Line Pilots
Association, published in 1982. My interpretation of ALPA’s history was not
censored. I work for Western Illinois University specifically and for an abstrac-
tion called“history” generally Although frankly nervous about the book,O’Donnell
understood that prettified “court history” praising the King (so to speak) would
be worthless. If pilots were to derive insight from my book;, it had to be free to
go wherever truth took it.

Insiders understood that Hank Dufty’s interest in a sequel to Flying the Line
signaled his decision not to seek reelection as ALPA’s president in 1990. Duffy
never quibbled about my independence.

And so I plunged anew into the thicket of the profession’s history,and into its
crucible—ALPA. This book offers my best judgment of events spanning two
decades, from 1970 to 1990. It is written primarily for contemporary airline
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pilots, but I believe anybody interested in the history of the aitline industry can
benefit from it.

My interpretation of significant events that have made the profession what it is
today is leavened by my experience as an academic observer since the 1960s—a
time when many of the Old Guys,ALPA’s founders, were still alive.In some cases,
I got to them with my tape recorder near the ends of their lives.I was fortunate to
know them, and I am still honored that the Old Guys, men like Homer Cole and
John Huber (who served alongside Dave Behncke asALPA’s first national officers)
found me a worthy vehicle to pass on to posterity their stories. Had they not
trusted me,I doubt that contemporary pilots, many of whom appear as principal
figures in this book, would have been as candid with me.

This book is dedicated not only to the Old Guys who built ALPA, and in the
process transformed a mere “job”into a“profession,”but also to their successors
who have kept ALPA alive through some difficult years. Without their help, this
book could not have been written.Without their perseverance ALPA would not
exist.

My special thanks goes to the Aér Line Pilot magazine staff who have worked
to prepare this manuscript for publication.When I began this project, Esperison
Martinez,Jr.was the magazine’s Editor-in-Chief,and he served as book editor for
Volume II. Gary DiNunno, the current magazine editor, served as publisher, edi-
tor, and production manager.William A.Ford created the page and cover design
and photo layouts. Jody McPherson and Susan Fager provided their editing and
proofreading expertise. In addition, Cathy Sobel indexed the final manuscript.
Chris Sorensen photographed the cover image.

George E. Hopkins

Western Illinois University
March 2000
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CHAPTER 1

THEWORLD OF THE AIRLINE PILOT
A Profession at Century's End

“rThe day begins at “Oh dark-thirty”The sun rides high over the Atlantic Ocean.
The North American continent still slumbers.

Thousands of professional airline pilots are awakening in the predawn dark-
ness, fumbling toward full alertness. Soon they will sit in the noses of winged
metal tubes, marvels of late 20th century technology, which will hurtle through
the air at speeds that were inconceivable just a generation ago. Behind these
professional airline pilots, completely oblivious to their technical skills and the
rigors of the occupational world they inhabit, will sit bundreds of thousandls of
passengers, strapped to their seats, trapped and trusting.

In the span of one lifetime,commercial aviation has made progress that would
shame the wildest flights of science fiction fancy. What might a pioneer aviator
of the 1920s have thought of a prediction that before the century ended, the
few hardy fools who entrusted themselves to the cramped passenger compart-
ment of a Boeing 40B mailplane, would become today’s millions of routine
travelers? And what would that pioneer aviator have thought of his profession,
transmuted through the decades to century’s end?

The world of modern airline pilots, like the world of the first airline pilots,
who turned a mere job into a profession, still begins with the ritual of flight
preparation. For every flight, whether predawn or at midnight, professional
airline pilots draw on a legacy passed down through the decades.The preflight
ritual,almost religious in its intensity, is full of obeisances to costly lessons learned
in other eras by other pilots, who flew vastly different aircraft, primitive by
today’s standards. Modern preflight preparation is more than a routine—it is a
rite as old as the professional aviator’s calling; and like nothing else in the work-
day, it links modern airline pilots to their forebears who flew the ungainly air-
craft of yesteryear.Just as in 1927, airline pilots at century’s end carefully apply
the skills of their craft, checking a thousand details, each with the potential of
life and death, as they set about making the nation’s air transportation system
actually work.

Pilots who flew airliners in the era of wooden wings would recognize in-
stantly the physical stresses modern airline pilots face. If a grizzled old captain
of a Ford Trimotor lumbering along between Omaha and Chicago should sud-
denly, by some sci-i time-warp, find himself at the controls of the latest genera-
tion glass cockpit, fly-by-wire marvel, he would be utterly lost, in a technical
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Flying the Line

sense. So much has changed—equipment, procedures, the very language of
flight.

But the basic process of flight, of readying both pilot and airplane, would be
eerily familiar The “Old Guy”would understand. The wrenching impact of inter-
rupted sleep, the physical and psychological tricks by which airline pilots have
always deceived their bodies into functioning in mid-day form, these would be
the same. Men like Dave Behncke and Rube Wagner,“Doc”Ator and Walter Bul-
lock, Homer Cole and John Huber, Byron Warner and John Pricer—legendary
pilots from the dim days of the industry’s infancy—these men would under-
stand cold dawns and protesting bodies. They would understand the physical
toll an airline pilot’s calling exacts, for they lived lives of too many mornings
begun too early,and too many days extended too long.They knew their profes-
sion robbed the footstep of its spring, prematurely creased the face,and acceler-
ated the complaints of age. It still does—all the technological progress in avia-
tion at century’s end hasn’t changed that.

But what one of these ancestral pilots would have thought of the flying envi-
ronment, we can only imagine.What would A. M.“Breezy”Wynne, the American
Airlines pilot who fought so hard to stave off the defection of his airline from
ALPA in 1963, have thought of the ground control chatter at Chicago’s O’Hare?
A somewhat younger contemporary of ALPA’s founders, Wynne would likely
have found the machinegun delivery of O’Hare ground controllers too exasper-
ating to tolerate.Airline pilots of the 1990s are so inured to the self-consciously
rapid hyperventilations of today’s tower-to-cockpit communications that they
routinely tolerate such tart admonitions as:“951,DON"TYOU DARETURN LEFT
BEFORETHE STUB!”

Old Breezy Wynne, a man of commanding presence, might well have turned
on the tower’s verbal scattergunners with withering effect: “Sonny, what the
hell is a STUB?”

But modern pilots, taxiing in a queue of perhaps a dozen aircraft for takeoff,
are almost obligated to respond with a “Roger” to even the most confusing,
nonstandard instructions. If they can’t figure out for themselves what “the stub”
is, they’ll take further measures to ensure the safety of their flight—certainly
they won'’t trust the verbal show-offs running ground control for that! But they
won’t halt the frenetic pace of operations to correct a single ambiguity that is
strictly local in its application. The systemn has to flow, and without the daily
adjustments applied to this imperfect system in the cockpit, it just won’t work.
The “Old Guy” would remember that, all too well.

But the pace of operations before takeoff is only a prelude to the rapid-fire
world aloft. From the moment a modern pilot enters the company operations
area, the task at hand is subject to a peculiar interface where aviator meets
computer, meets machine, meets programmed response. At bottom, modern
airline pilots must still do what the pilot of a Ford Trimotor did in 1929—meet
the professional responsibility of getting the airplane aloft and the passengers
to their destination, safely. The biggest change is that airline pilots of yesteryear
suffered from an information deficit—modern airline pilots are besieged by an
information overload.
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The World of the Airline Pilot

Danger has many faces, and the most insidious is the one that presents mul-
tiple threats, subtly masked. Modern airline pilots get so much information that
they have the constant problem of separating what’s nice to know from what’s
absolutely necessary to know.In a world aloft, where computers control every-
thing from preflight plans to enroute sequencing, modern pilots are enmeshed
in a system of dependency. Pilots depend on controllers, flight dispatchers,
weather forecasters, and an almost unlimited array of auxiliary players.Yet just
like pilots of 1930, modern pilots are ultimately responsible for the safe and
effective functioning of the crucial apex of the air transportation system—the
single point at which the vast array of supporting staff concentrate their ef-
forts—the cockpit.All the gewgaws of computerized modernity haven’t changed
that—or lessened the essential danger each pilot faces in making this crucial
apex work.

Danger, of course, is inherent in the professional airline pilots’ calling and is
not the real issue. Every pilot understands danger, instinctively, as have pilots in
all eras, old as well as new. Even among their mutely trusting passengers, few
perceive flying today as really dangerous. Scratch the surface of “Joe Public’s”
perceptions, and a fanciful airline pilots’ world emerges, where fabulously rich
aviators take lengthy vacations and only occasionally “work” while flying to
glamorous places—not dangerous in the least! Perhaps flying was dangerous
once, but not now, not today! Such is the “conventional wisdom.”

If a popular news magazine were to feature the question,“Is Your job Killing
You?” which era would it represent, 1930 or 1990? If the news magazine, in its
lists of the most dangerous occupations, cited “timber cutters/loggers,” with 129
deaths per 100,000 people employed,as the most dangerous of all jobs,nobody
would be surprised—in 1930 or 1990.If the next most dangerous job classifica-
tion was “airplane pilots,”with 97 deaths per 100,000, then surely the magazine
must be of 1930 vintage, or thereabouts. How could it be otherwise, when the
third most dangerous job is “asbestos worker;” with 79 deaths per 100,000?
Being a pilot is more dangerous than working with asbestos? Surely the news
magazine must date from some bygone era, one in which pilots regularly en-
gaged in wing-walking and rum-running—a 1920s period piece of Jazz Age
journalism.

The news magazine is Parade, the popular supplement to Sunday newspa-
pers.The date is Jan.8, 1989!

Of course, not all the pilots in this survey of dangerous jobs were airline
pilots. Many were crop dusters,charter pilots, flight instructors, helicopter emer-
gency medical pilots, military jet jockeys.But few pilots arrive in the cockpit of
an airliner without serving a long apprenticeship in this extended aviation sys-
tem.Before pilots can become airline pilots, they must pass through the danger-
ous years of initiation, while they build the necessary pilot time and qualifica-
tions.

But danger is not the point. Pilots, for reasons psychological and practical,
have always made light of flying’s dangers. For professional airline pilots today,
unlike the “Old Guys,” danger lies not in the routine hazards, or even the haz-
ards of routine. The most consistent danger confronting pilots today, as pilots,
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Flying the Line

is something that outsiders are only vaguely aware of —the hazard of change—
rapid, remorseless, unremitting change.This change assaults pilots in the way
they live, the equipment they fly, the conditions of their employment, and the
structure of their corporate world, once so immutably secure, now so fragile
and shifting. For airline pilots at century’s end, change is a condition of daily life;
and while an old pilots’adage holds that no two flights are ever quite the same,
the variety of original experiences that each pilot endures on an almost daily
basis is unlike anything any previous generation of pilots has known.

Despite all the changes that have occurred in what is now nearly a century of
commercial aviation history,one unvarying constant links modern professional
airline pilots to their professional forebears.That constant is the undeniable fact
that airline flying is a physically demanding profession that inevitably takes its
toll—whether in 1930 or at the century’s end.

“If this job is so easy;” a familiar lament of contemporary airline pilots goes,
“then why am I always falling asleep at the dinner table after a three-day trip?”

Critics who charge that airline pilots are “overpaid and underworked”should
follow a typical airline crew through a routine workday:.

First, consider the question of pace. In some ways, modern airline pilots con-
front physical challenges that the men who flew in open cockpits never knew.
Rising at 03:30 for a dawn takeoff from Chicago to Cincinnati would be just as
tough on the pilot of Boeing “Monomail”in 1930 as on a Boeing 757 pilot today.
But the “Old Guy” who flew a Monomail would be home after one roundtrip.
The hours would be long. He might have to battle the terrible mix of low-
altitude weather a modern jet captain can generally avoid (except during the
critical terminal phases of flight); but once finished, the “Old Guy” could take
what was left of the day off. He wouldn’t suffer from multiple crossings of time
zones, or exposure to high-altitude radiation, or the possibility of errant elec-
tronic impulses from his cathode-ray-laden cockpit.

“Acute circadian rhythm disfunction”(a physiological complaint modern flight
surgeons see all too often) wouldn’t trouble the airline pilot of 1930 after a long
hard flight in a Monomail. The modern flight deck crew,however, will find their
work day extending far beyond the limited time zones that encompass a Chi-
cago-Cincinnati trip. Unlike the “Old Guy” in his Monomail, their day will not
end with a return to Chicago.Their trip will continue, perhaps to another inter-
mediate stop (say Minneapolis, with a four-hour ground wait interspersed—
perhaps planned, perhaps caused by a faulty food service cart that can’t be
secured in its bay and might come hurtling out to cripple a cabin attendant
during takeoff). Next, they fly across the continent in either direction, perhaps
easterly one day, westward the next. Time zones blur during a three-day trip, the
diurnal rotation of the earth advances or retards a pilot’s physiological main-
spring, and eventually the circadian rhythm will take its revenge on human
biology, ravaging the most basic functions of the human organism, sleep effi-
ciency first, other more sinister effects later.

By the time our modern B-757 crew has checked into a hotel, three time
zones and 12 to 14 hours after waking up,only a sadist would say that they have
been “underworked.”And the day is but a prelude to tomorrow, when they will
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The World of the Airline Pilot

have to do it all again. The tempo is wearing, and the physical response to the
time compression that is so much a part of modern airline piloting rivals any-
thing pioneer pilots endured.

James H.“Jimmy” Roe,ALPA stalwart and friend of Dave Behncke, was a man
whose career on TWA spanned the spectrum of aviation from props to jets.
When Roe retired in 1961, he admitted that the new era of jet aviation was too
much for him. Roe was no shrinking violet, and he was in good shape for his
age, despite a lifetime of personal high flying to complement his reputation as a
bachelor bon vivant. Near the end of his life, Roe declared that the pace of jet
aviation had made him accept retirement with equanimity.

“There was a graciousness to the old days,”Roe said in the late 1970s from his
Arizona retirement home. “Flying was an adventure for the passengers, high
style, like an ocean voyage, and the captain was like an ocean liner captain. We
had time to actually get to know our passengers, to mingle.All that ended with
the jets”

A hint of disgust crossed old Jimmy Roe’s face. Perhaps these were just the
ravings of a septuagenarian,doting on a dimly remembered past that never was.
Perhaps not.

Roe, like many of the first generation of professional pilots who survived into
the dawn of the jet age, knew that the pace of modern aviation was taking a toll
on pilots that was mysterious and unsettling. These transitioning pilots instinc-
tively knew that the pace of modern jet operations was taking something out of
them that the great piston queens of the 1950s, the DC-7s, and Superconnies
hadn’t. Their speculations were haphazard and intuitive, based more on their
own anecdotal evidence than on science. But the Old Guys knew that despite
the physical dangers of flying a Monomail in 1930 over rough terrain at low
altitude, something far more sinister and insidious was lurking over the horizon
for airline pilots.These airmen had never heard the phrase “jet lag” before they
began flying the new jets. But they discovered what jet lag was soon enough.

Modern pilots are only now beginning to come to terms with the physiologi-
cal stresses of a workplace the Old Guys barely glimpsed. Most pilots believe
that the lives they live,in the cockpit and in the stressful environment of airline
deregulation and corporate thimble-rigging that has trailed in its wake, are be-
ing shortened by hazards that ordinary people only dimly perceive. It is an
article of faith among pilots, particularly those who fly international routes, that
long hours of exposure to high-altitude natural radiation, combined with the
new cockpit environment that emits substantial amounts of radiation on its
own, has combined to put them at serious risk. Pilots believe that the medical
establishment simply lacks the scientific tools to define the hazards they face,
and they point out convincingly that it took years for the doctors to “prove” that
smoking was a health hazard. Pilots flying the line today, almost without excep-
tion, believe that they face health risks that medical experts either misunder-
stand or ignore.

As for the psychological hazards of working in an industry that moves at the
whim of capital-investment decisions, that shows scant regard for the personal
and professional effects these decisions have on pilots whose cockpits are at

5




Flying the Line

the critical apex of modern air transportation—perhaps that is the greatest
change of all.

The Old Guy flying the Boeing Monomail in 1930 would understand—he
lived in the same kind of world—and he hated it! He hated it so much that he
decided, collectively,with all the other Old Guys who flew similar planes under
similar circumstances, to do something about it.They formed a union called the
Air Line Pilots “Association” (being somewhat uneasy,owing to the conservative
habits of most pilots, about using the “U”word in their title). They formed ALPA
because they had to.They used it to protect themselves against exploitation by
their employers—as a kind of insurance policy for their budding profession.
Many of the Old Guys (whose names are mostly unknown to modern airline
pilots) didn’t like the idea of forming a union.They hoped that their employers
would recognize their contributions and reward them accordingly. They wanted
desperately to make their companies succeed, and they hoped against hope
that the sacrifices they made to this end (and they weren’t just financial sacri-
fices either) would win for them the kind of fair play that pilots traditionally
expect of each other. But when that fervent hope failed, the Old Guys closed
ranks, and they marched—not always in a straight line—toward a future for
themselves that would be secure and that they believed airline pilots of the
future would inherit.

If the future didn’t turn out exactly the way the Old Guys hoped, it wasn’t
because they didn’t know about financial sharks who swim in troubled eco-
nomic waters.Commercial aviation during the 1920s and early 1930s,when the
Old Guys were establishing the traditions that modern airline pilots still honor
(often without knowing it) and creating the profession of airline piloting out of
thin air and dreams, had more than its share of shifty operators who appreci-
ated only the “bottom line”The Old Guys fought them, insisting constantly that
aviation was qualitatively different from other kinds of business—that the bot-
tom line wasn’t all there was to it—that some things couldn’t be quantified
neatly on a balance sheet. The Old Guys knew all about economic chaos—
deregulation, if you will. They had grown up in a deregulated world, as barn-
stormers, jackleg charter operators, fly-by-night mail contractors. If a job ex-
isted, and it had anything to do with flying an airplane, the Old Guys had done
it. They knew about being exploited—about working long hours under danger-
ous conditions for low pay.They knew Frank Lorenzo’s predecessor—his name
was E.L.Cord.

‘When the new airlines began forming during the late 1920s and early 1930s,
the first generation of airline pilots seized the opportunity to build a “profes-
sion” for themselves. The Old Guys, through ALPA in all its multitude of activi-
ties—lobbying, politicking, and cultivating a favorable public “image” of them-
selves—had almost single-handedly created the regulated system of air trans-
portation that made the American industry the standard by which all other
commercial airline systems of the world were measured.

Modern airline pilots confront a world as difficult and dangerous as anything
the Old Guys faced at the dawn of commercial aviation.The threat comes as
much from erosion of the profession’s status as from the normal hazards of
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aviation.People who opt for a career in an airliner’s cockpit do so because they
are pilots—men and women who know how to fly an airplane. But to make a
“profession” out of the mere job of flying that airplane, these same men and
women are learning that, in aviation’s brave new world, mere technical excel-
lence is not enough.They must, willy-nilly, become experts in corporate restruc-
turing, financial analysis, mergers, acquisitions,and leveraged buyouts.

“I haven’t flown an airliner in a year;” said TWA First Officer Larry Garrett in
the late 1980s.Assigned then by the TWA Master Executive Council to track the
maneuvers of Carl Icahn, Garrett described himself as a“Committee Puke” who
would much rather have been flying.“I didn’t sign up for flight training to be a
financial analyst.If I'd wanted to do that,I would have done it.I didn’t,but here
I'am.The only way I can keep my job as a pilot is to become a financial analyst.”

The world of the modern airline pilot is in some ways a more intractable one
than the Old Guys faced, because the political climate is so much more unfavor-
able than the one they faced. Luck had a lot to do with it. The Old Guys were
fortunate that, just as they began to build ALPA,American public opinion began
to change, evolving into one friendly to organized labor. It was a time when a
popular bias against big business ran strong.The Great Depression of 1929 left
most Americans firmly convinced that corporate power was dangerous when
too concentrated and that the leavening hand of government regulation was
necessary to control it.

Modern airline pilots have inherited a world the Old Guys would hardly rec-
ognize. Instead of a pro-labor bias, the popular climate is decidedly hostile to
organized labor;instead of a bias against big business, the public seems to lavish
affection on mere wealth, no matter how sleazily acquired. Flashy real estate
moguls, Wall Street sharpies, and illegitimate manipulators of paper empires
caught the public’s fancy during the era of deregulation—not the builders of
real wealth.The country,instead of distrusting corporate power,seemed (if the
results of national elections since 1980 are an accurate guide) to worship it.

The airline pilots of the 1930s in many respects had it easier than modern
airline pilots. C. R. Smith and Eddie Rickenbacker were no less predatory than
Frank Lorenzo and Carl Icahn, but social and political circumstances restrained
their instinct for the jugular. Nothing illustrates this better than the comments
of Representative John Martin, a Colorado politician who, following passage of
the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938, weighed in with his view of government’s
role in protecting airline pilots from the vagaries of free market capitalism.

“In my opinion,”Martin said,“the piloting of these great airplanes, which hurtle
through the air at 200 miles per hour, loaded with human lives, is the most
responsible,the most skillful,and the most dangerous occupation that mankind
ever engaged in.

“Nothing in the past history of the world,” he said, “nor anything today is
equivalent to the position of a pilot at the controls of one of these gigantic
airplanes.They are the picked men of the country. It is a profession in which
many are called but few are chosen. These men ought to be as free from worry
or concern about their economic condition or future as it is bumanly or
legislatively possible to accomplish. If there is anything we can put in the
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legislation that will keep worry from the air pilots, it ought to be done” [em-
phasis added].

Could any serious politician at century’s end make this kind of statement?
Things have changed, and these changes extend far beyond the overheated
political rhetoric from the half-remembered days of 1938. Modern airline pilots
live in a different, far more dangerous world—professionally.

But perhaps there is a bright side. Billy Joel, that eminent philosopher of rock
music, has a lyric every contemporary airline pilot ought to keep securely tucked
away for reference in these tough times: “The good old days weren’t all that
good, and tomorrow’s not as bad as it seems.”

Pilots are still pilots, ALPA is still here, and most pilots still see ALPA as the
bedrock upon which their profession rests today—just as they did in 1931, the
year of ALPA’s birth. Critics scoff at the notion of unity among pilots, calling
ancient notions of a “brotherhood” of the air outdated and naive.They point to
the internal stresses that nearly fractured the profession in the 1980s as sure
harbingers of ALPA’s demise. Perhaps they should remember Mark Twain’s let-
ter of correction to a newspaper that had printed his obituary prematurely:
“Reports of my death are much exaggerated!”

Despite everything, pilots still are part of a tangible community, just as they
were in 1927, with a community mentality born of shared experiences and a
perception that the things they have in common outweigh the things that di-
vide them.

Certainly,anybody who knows the history of ALPA understands that the union
was built on broken bones.A lot of forgotten aviators paid the price required to
build the wages, working conditions, and traditions of modern airline pilots.
History is not pretty,and it is not an uninterrupted success story.ALPA’s history
is full of martyrs and lost causes. But ALPA has survived.

The Old Guys who built ALPA dealt with managers who were no more in-
clined to give anything away than are today’s. A single-minded pursuit of the
concept of unity across company lines was almost obsessive among the Old
Guys. It came naturally to them, for they shared a set of common experiences.
The Old Guys had flown the mail together,barnstormed together,gone through
flight training at Randolph or Pensacola together, or they all knew somebody
who had, and thus psychologically felt as if they had shared these rites of pas-
sage.These shared sets of common experiences gave the Old Guys a “brother
pilot” mentality that might sound corny today, but was much more than a mere
abstraction to them.The sense of kinship was tangible, meaningful,and it linked
them to each other like no other experience save war. Indeed, the shared expe-
riences of the Old Guys often did include war. More than any other factor, this
shared experience is what allowed the Old Guys to put aside their parochial
interests and act collectively They thought of themselves as a“band of brothers.”
Brother pilots. With unity across company lines, they conquered.

Ancient history? Enter any room where airline pilots gather to work or talk
today.Attend an Executive Board meeting of the many MEC chairmen of ALPA.
Then participate in an MEC meeting. Listen to the conversation, the concerns,
the jokes.Whether it’s Delta, TWA, United, US Airways, or code-sharing airlines
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like American Eagle, they're the same! Despite all the changes wracking the
profession since the Old Guys first began imagining ALPA during conspiratorial
meetings at the Troy Lane Hotel in Chicago in 1931, this one indisputable fact
remains—pilots are still pilots! Something links them together,and airline pilots
of today are still part of this ancient league, no matter which uniform cap hangs
in the cockpit.They are pilots who happen to work for different airlines.

After Continental? After the demise of Braniff, Eastern, and Pan Am? Aren’t
these old notions now outdated, an abstraction, irrelevant in the era of deregu-
lation, Frank Lorenzo, and alter-ego airlines?

Hardly! How else can the cohesion that has linked the overwhbelming major-
ity of professional airline pilots be explained? In the 1980s,through two terrible
ordeals—on Continental and Eastern—an astounding percentage of ALPA mem-
bers voluntarily paid crushing assessments to sustain. .. the brotherbood.The
fact that most ALPA pilots continued to pay their assessments to the bitter end,
and that non-ALPA groups, like the Southwest Airlines pilots’ company union,
which contributed $50,000, and the American Allied Pilots Association, which
contributed $90,000,to help support the Eastern strike of 1989, proves that the
ancient idea of a kinship of the air st7ll exists.

ALPA remains the living embodiment of that sense of kinship. Despite all the
changes afflicting the world of modern airline pilots, despite B-scales, and the
multiple tribulations of deregulation,internal disaffection,and external enemies,
most pilots still recognize ALPA for what it is—the last redoubt of the most
formidable weapon remaining to them, the capability to act together across
company lines to protect their profession in times of crisis. That weapon springs
from a fundamental sense of shared interests— “brotherhood,” if you will. The
vehicle that transports that weapon to war is ALPA.

So long as most airline pilots are willing to pay the price,ALPA will remain
viable. So long as airline pilots realize that unity across company lines is a formi-
dable weapon, and that ALPA is the only keeper of that faith, that ALPA is “us,
not “them, then ALPA will survive. So long as most professional airline pilots
continue to defiantly wear their ALPA tie tacks and lapel pins in public, ALPA
will live.
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CHAPTER 2

THE LEGACY OF FOUR GOLDEN
DECADES, 1938-1978
Flying the Line under Regulation

In 1990, as the last decade of commercial aviation’s first century began, three
professional airline pilots took stock of their careers. Each man was in his
early 50s.Their lives dramatize much of what had happened in the 1980s, the
tumultuous decade of “deregulation.”

Richard D.“Dick”Russell of Miami, Fla., who once criss-crossed Latin America
as a DC-8 captain for Braniff International, knew he would never fly the line
again.In his own mind and in his inner conception of who he was,Dick Russell
would always think of himself as an airline pilot, even though he was running a
maritime machine shop instead of commanding a flight deck.A compact man
with a muscular build and startling blue eyes, this Naval Academy graduate still
wore his Navy wings on a custom-made belt buckle. But despite his wealth of
aviation experience, he no longer flew; and he looked back on his career as a
professional airline pilot with anger. The Russell family’s finances were tight.
Sally, Dick’s wife of more than 30 years, began working outside the home after
Branift’s 1982 bankruptcy—something she never did while Dick was flying the
line.

Dick Russell blamed ALPA for this state of affairs.

Frank Robert“Bob”Harper,with his thinning hair and sober appearance, might
easily be mistaken for a lawyer or accountant. Instead, he was a Boeing 767
captain for United Airlines. After graduating from Albion College, a prestigious
private liberal arts school in Michigan, he too became a Naval aviator. Bob Harper
and his wife were living well in a fine suburban home near Seattle, which com-
manded a sweeping view of Puget Sound. Life for Bob Harper had been good,
and he was looking back on his time as an airline pilot with fondness.The few
years he had remaining before retirement were secure, and he was looking
forward to upgrading to the left seat of the Boeing 747.One day soon, he hoped
to return to flying the Pacific routes to Japan and the rest of Asia, just as he had
during his Navy tour. Under the terms of United’s most recent contract, Bob
Harper would earn more than $200,000 per year as a B-747 captain, should he
choose to give up his domestic B-767 captaincy. Katie Harper, Bob’s wife of
more than 30 years, had no need to work outside the home.

Bob Harper credits ALPA for this state of affairs.

Louis R.“Lou” Squillante, a slender and laconic man who was living in the
waterfront Maryland community of Leonardtown, spent 23 years with TWA
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before finally achieving his DC-9 captaincy in 1990.At the age of 54, this former
Navy pilot and zoology graduate of the University of Maryland faced an uncer-
tain future. TWA was teetering on the edge of bankruptcy,and 77me magazine
had listed TWA’s pension fund (along with Pan American’s) as one of the 10
most insecure in the United States. Lou Squillante and his fellow TWA pilots
were finding themselves dealing with Carl Icahn, who once joked about
“outlawyering”them,after subverting their good faith efforts to save TWA through
salary and work rules “givebacks.” Lou Squillante in 1990 feared that each pay-
check might be his last. Luckily for Lou, his wife of more than 30 years, Sarah, is
a successful businesswoman.

Lou Squillante, who was intending to retire as soon as possible, saw ALPA as
irrelevant to his professional life.

Dick Russell, Bob Harper,and Lou Squillante, all of whom were ex-Naval avia-
tors, went through flight training at Pensacola at the same time,served together
in the same Navy squadron, and subsequently went to work as airline pilots at
about the same time in the mid-1960s. By a process that lies beyond the param-
eters of rational analysis—out there somewhere in the twilight zone of existen-
tial fate, Dick Russell had the bad luck to choose a doomed airline; Lou Squillante
hired on with an airline whose prospects in 1990 were dim; and only Bob
Harper had the good fortune to pick a winner. At the time of their biring, none
of them could have foreseen the fates of their airlines.

‘Was ALPA responsible for the state of affairs in which these three professional
airline pilots found themselves in 1990?

History is made up of many discrete facts, stories, and events, each distinct,
some unique and original,others recurrent and part of a tapestryThe historians’
duty is to take this welter of historical circumstance,sort out the merely nice to
know from what really must be known,and distill those truths that persist over
time into a “usable past”This “usable past” must necessarily be selective,a care-
ful weeding of events that conveys enough of the substantive details, the flavor
of the times, and the reasons behind human actions to allow people living in
the present to understand the choices that people very much like themselves—
people like Russell, Harper,and Squillante—made in the past.In the last analysis,
those choices will be made by people who actually walk on history’s stage—
not by historians who merely chronicle their passage across it. History is not a
roadmap that governs choices—it is a catalog of possibilities—past, present,
and future.

Every work of history has its own audience. Every historian must select from
the vast web of the past those telling moments that illuminate for that audience
the present in which they live.

But which story tells it best? Is it the “success” story, like Bob Harper’s? the
cloudy story,like Lou Squillante’s? or the “tragic” story,like Dick Russell’s? Count
LeoTolstoy, the great Russian novelist who wrote War and Peace,once said that
the stories of “happy” families are all the same. By inference, the tragic stories
are the ones from which we learn. Consequently, historians have more often
relied on misfortune to provide the “shock of recognition” that carries historical
narrative toward truth.
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So we must know the story of Dick Russell, whose story will stand as the
surrogate for many thousands of stories like his.

From the cold perspective of official analysis, Dick Russell would be described
as“a highly specialized middle-aged technocrat whose skills are in oversupply.”
Until May 1982, he ranked near the top of the American economic pyramid,
easily able to afford his comfortable Miami home and 35-foot sailboat.Then, in
what seemed the flick of an eyelid, Dick Russell and 1,100 other Braniff pilots
lost their careers—Braniff went bankrupt, the first “major” airline to do so in
modern history. Dick Russell, then 46 years old, began doing odd jobs on other
people’s sailboats while worrying about the legacy of fixed expenses from his
vanished $70,000 salary.

“Tused to help friends at the yacht club for free,” Russell remembered in 1990.
“They understood when I started charging a fee to put down a teak deck or
something; and after a while, I had more business than I could handle. But it
wasn’t flying. That’s what I do, what I am, a pilot”

‘When the air transport industry peaked in 1979, a year after the first rush of
deregulation, nearly 40,000 men (and a few women) earned their livelihoods as
pilots for U. S. airlines, 2,200 for Braniff, Dick Russell’s airline. By April 1982, a
month before Braniff’s bankruptcy swelled the total, 4,525 airline pilots were
already on indefinite “furlough.”When the sharp economic recession of 1982~
83 reached bottom, the overall jobless rate for airline pilots approached 20
percent. By Department of Labor reckoning, airline pilots suffered from unem-
ployment at nearly double the national average for all workers.

Surprisingly, nobody felt much sympathy for either airline pilots in general or
for their union, ALPA. If the overall unemployment rate for ordinary workers
had been that high, Congress would have taken action and the President would
have reacted. But owing to the prevailing opinion that airline pilots were “over-
paid and underworked,” this holocaust of jobs in the nation’s airline cockpits
evoked only yawns. Indeed, many people believed that airline pilots, whose
reputation for haughtiness and self-assurance approached the legendary, were
deserving of the comeuppance that the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 had
visited upon them.

For 40 years, from the passage of the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938 to congres-
sional enactment of the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978, professional airline
pilots had lived charmed lives at the heart of an industry that was, perhaps,
America’s finest technological achievement. Airline pilots became, in their
lifestyles,income levels,and technical expertise, the subject of almost universal
admiration or envy.They were the critical few who dominated the apex of the
airline industry, and from this position, through a combination of toughness,
canniness,and hard-nosed unionism,airline pilots created for themselves, out of
nearly nothing, all the trappings of “professionalism.”

But if the truth be known, more than a little good luck also aided the pilots
who lived through the four golden decades.Historically,most airline pilots were
either unaware of this good luck or unwilling to acknowledge it.Although they
became perhaps the best examples of how skill, personal discipline,and unsen-
timental adherence to unionism can result in rich personal rewards and high
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professional status, far too many airline pilots complacently took their situation
for granted—the way things currently were, they believed, is the way things
would always be.

As the era of direct government regulation of the airline industry neared its
“sunset,” the salary and benefit packages of U.S. airline pilots were among the
highest in the world. The captain of a jumbo jet flying prime North Atlantic runs
approached $150,000 in annual earnings. Even a run-of-the-mill Boeing 727
captain flying domestic routes might take home $100,000.Airline pilots clearly
owed their privileged position to government regulation and unionization. No
purely economic justification existed for high airline pilot salaries.Airline opera-
tors have always been able to find plenty of pilots willing to work for less-than-
union rates. But so long as the Civil Aeronautics Board regulated the industry,
and friendly politicians presided over the web of labor laws that controlled the
relationship between management and workers, unionized airline pilots lived
in the best of all possible worlds.

In this environment, strikes tended (with some major exceptions) to be short,
almost symbolic.Airline managers preferred to pass high pilot salaries along to
the traveling public rather than engage in protracted fights. On those occasions
when strikes and other unpleasantries occurred during the four golden de-
cades, ALPA won far more often than it lost. Many airline pilots lapsed into
complacency,shrugging off the legacy of hard struggle that had made their lives
so enviable.

Of course,ALPA had to occasionally demonstrate its toughness and political
clout against a few hard cases (notably Southern Airways in 1960-1962);but on
the whole, labor relations between pilots and management became comfort-
able, almost ritualized, or so it seemed.

General Counsel Henry Weiss, who has fought ALPA’s legal battles since the
days of Dave Behncke, watched the slow, steady lapse into complacency of
airline pilots with alarm. ! More and more, Weiss feared, airline pilots were tak-
ing for granted the benefits of government regulation while they concentrated
on issues that were obviously important, like skyjacking and air safety, but pe-
ripheral to their basic interests as employees working within a labor union
environment.

“Quite candidly,what went on during these forty years of government regula-
tion that I personally observed,”Weiss says, “was the tendency of pilots to pour
their energy into interstitial things. Meanwhile, the character of the people the
pilots were confronting was changing, from pilot-oriented management to pro-
fessional management. These new professional managers explicitly designed
deregulation to reduce pilot wages.

By the late 1960s, most airline pilots flying the line believed they had seen the
last of predatory managers who might threaten their livelihoods.ALPA had won
repeated victories at the bargaining table and had beaten back challenges to its
status as the preeminent voice of professional airline pilots.A certain mythol-
ogy emerged, which found far too many pilots willing to believe that the tough,
disciplined Old Guys who had created ALPA during the era of wooden wings
had won all the wars and that only tranquillity stretched ahead for their legatees
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in modern jet cockpits. Far too many airline pilots contented themselves with
running businesses on the side, polishing their golf games, or simply relishing
the good life they lived.

By the beginning of the 1970s, the fateful decade of deregulation, most work-
ing airline pilots had forgotten one of the most fundamental axioms of history:
“No victory ever stays won.” When they looked at history, modern airline pilots
saw only the victories the Old Guys had won.They did not see how close some
of those calls had been—even under benign government regulation. For ex-
ample, Henry Weiss believes that the Southern Airways strike of 1960, the last
time an employer tried to destroy ALPA (until deregulation), should have pro-
vided an object lesson to airline pilots.

“I must tell you that there were times when I thought the Southern pilots
were gone,”Weiss admitted during a 1990 interview.

The kinds of pilots who involved themselves in ALPA’s active affairs generally
did not share the complacency that riddled the rank-and-file. But because these
active pilots were “political,” they necessarily had to keep a low profile or lose
their ability to represent ALPA.When airline deregulation first began to make
headway in Congress, most ordinary airline pilots paid little attention. ALPA’s
leaders opposed it, as did most of the major airlines for which they worked.
ALPA’s presidents and national officers, who have always tended to be more
politically aware than the rank-and-file, saw clearly that deregulation posed dan-
gers for their union. But by the early 1970s, the typical airline pilot, like military
officers who extol free enterprise while living in a cocoon of government ben-
efits, had become a reflexive political conservative who seemed oblivious to
the benefits derived from unionization and government regulation. Consequently,
ALPA’s officers took considerable flack from rank-and-file pilots for opposing
“free enterprise.”

“I often marveled at the utter ignorance of my colleagues,” says Bill Himmel-
reich, a retired Northwest Airlines captain. “Sometimes I had to sit there and
listen to a kid copilot making sixty grand a year say,"'What good is ALPA? We’re
professionals! Why do we need a labor union?’The little jerk actually thought he
was worth his salary. He wasn’t! What he was really worth was what Frank
Lorenzo would pay him on New York Air, about $16 an hour. All the rest was
gravy, courtesy of our union.”

Perhaps if aitline pilots had bothered to read Milton Friedman’s Free to Choose,
it would have tempered their enthusiasm for deregulation. Friedman, the Nobel
laureate from the University of Chicago who was the leader of the “Chicago
School” of conservative, free market economists,exercised enormous influence
over Republican policy-makers during the Nixon and Ford Administrations. In
Free to Choose, Friedman chose as bis prime example of the evils of govern-
ment regulation, the bigh salaries paid to airline pilots! Friedman argued that
curbing airline pilot salaries would lead to better service and lower fares. By the
mid-1970s,with full backing from the Ford Administration, legislation that would
end federal economic regulation of the airlines emerged.

Jimmy Carter, perhaps the most conservative Democrat to occupy the White
House in the 20th century, adopted Gerald Ford’s airline deregulation policies
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as his own. Surprisingly, liberals like Edward M. Kennedy, whose Senate Judi-
ciary Committee was instrumental in the process, joined forces with conserva-
tive, free-marketeers to make airline deregulation a reality by 1978.

Although impossible to prove, it seems likely that pro-labor liberals were suf-
ficiently put off by airline labor’s “gold plated” image to allow the deregulation
experiment to begin with them. After all, when one thinks about unions and
airline pilots during that era, the legacy of Charley Ruby pops readily to mind.
On more than one occasion during the 1960s, Charley Ruby made his distaste
for associating with other labor unions clear,and he all but boycotted the AFL-
CIO. Ruby’s attitudes would leave a lot of wreckage, in a purely ideological
sense, for J.J.O’Donnell to repair when he became ALPA’s president in 1970.But
we must remember that Charley Ruby was merely reflecting the dominant
attitudes of rank-and-file ALPA members, and also that many ALPA members
were cordial supporters of politicians who were overtly hostile to other labor
unions. Gordon J. Humphrey of New Hampshire was not only one of the most
conservative, antilabor members of the U.S. Senate, he was also a former airline
pilot.

By the early 1980s, as deregulation began to hit home, the absurdity of a
group of trade unionists mouthing the platitudes of free market ideology was
obvious.What was not so apparent to an airline pilot living in a snug Republican
suburb during the 1970s,was painfully clear by the early 1980s. But in fairness
to ALPA’s leadership during the 1970s, we must remember that they did not
pull their punches in denouncing airline deregulation. The problem was that
the rank-and-file ALPA member simply wasn’t listening. J.J. O’Donnell never
ceased evangelizing against deregulation, despite considerable flack from his
rank-andfile.

“We are a trade labor movement,” O’Donnell constantly warned skeptical
pilots during the 1970s.“When we forget that, we start getting dumped on.”

Later, O’Donnell reminisced: “I was just stunned at the way some of our guys
never wanted to use the word ‘union. Here’s a guy drawing down a hundred
grand a year—he’s all for ‘free enterprise’ We had to keep pounding it in:“We
are workers, we are union!” They don’t know that their salaries are the result of
our unionism. We put it out in writing, but it almost appeared that our guys
couldn’t read!”

Until tragedy hits home, few individuals are ever willing to believe it can
happen to them. Pilots going into combat must believe that the SAM launched
skyward has somebody else’s name on it. The “Titanic syndrome” affects every-
body—not just airline pilots. “Hey, my end of the boat’s not in the water! It’s
those guys at the other end who have a problem!”

This attitude sorely tested one primary article of faith in the professional
airline pilots’ creed—the notion of unity across company lines. The storied “broth-
erhood” of the air, which had been a fixture of the pilot’s mentality since the
1920s,began to erode in the late 1950s with the passing of the pioneer airmen
who founded ALPA.As elite technocrats, airline pilots during the late 1960s felt
less kinship with these notions.Then in the late 1970s and early 1980s, as the
twin blows of deregulation and economic recession slammed into the profes-
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sion, the ancient notion of aerial brotherhood faced its most serious challenge.
The crisis at Braniff brought it about.

Among the Braniff pilots,as among no other group, the ideal of a community
of interests among professional airline pilots would face its moment of truth.
Their colleagues at Eastern Airlines would test their adherence to this ancient
precept by plunging them into stark conflict. The specific cause was Eastern’s
purchase of Braniff’s Latin American routes.

“If our Latin American Division was such a loser;’asks Len Morgan, the retired
Braniff captain whose considerable writing talents earned him a regular col-
umn in Flying magazine, “why were Eastern and Pan American falling all over
themselves to grab it?”

For Dick Russell and his fellow Latin American Division pilots at Braniff, the
primary question was why didn’t ALPA do something to save their jobs!

‘When Braniff, lurching ever more desperately into debt, sold off its South
American routes to Eastern shortly before bankruptcy, the faltering airline’s
pilots, counting on ALPA help, assumed that the provisions of ALPA’s merger
mechanism, or some other aspect of ALPA policy, would provide them a safe
haven.When Braniff actually declared bankruptcy in May 1982, the South Ameri-
can routes were sold to Eastern. Bilateral agreements required Eastern to serve
the former Braniff route structure in South America. Eastern hired nearly 1,000
former Braniff personnel—but no pilots.

Didn’t some ALPA policy, perhaps on“fragmentation,’or their contract’s“scope”
clause,or simple necessity (not to mention decency) dictate that Eastern should
take at least a token number of pilots with the airplanes? After all, weren’t they
“brother pilots?” Didn’t their Eastern brothers owe them something?

Naturally Eastern’s management opposed the expense of indoctrinating new
pilots into their corporate culture, and the Braniff pilots didn’t expect much
help from that direction. But when Eastern’s pilots turned their backs and sus-
tained their management’s position by failing to offer any jobs to Branift’s pilots,
their anger and sense of betrayal knew no bounds.Wasn’t J.J. O’Donnell, ALPA’s
president, an Eastern pilot, they raged? Didn’t this mean an ALPA- Eastern con-
spiracy existed, that ALPA was favoring another pilot group at their expense?
This was all ALPA’s fault, they stormed. Otherwise, why didn’t J.J. O’Donnell do
something?

Former ALPA president J. J. O’'Donnell, fit and tanned from his retirement-
developed passion for tennis, scowled when asked this question during a 1990
interview.

“Braniff got sold down the river by the Eastern MEC, not by ALPA, and cer-
tainly not by the Eastern pilots,” O’Donnell says hotly.“In all fairness, it was really
only a portion of the MEC, about four guys who dominated the other twenty-
four and took them right off the cliff. God knows I tried to get Eastern to take
some Braniff pilots,even if it was only a token number, but they wouldn’t budge.
They didn’t want me down there. My relationship with Augie Gorse [Eastern’s
MEC chairman] was so bad I had to send Jack Bavis [ALPA’s executive adminis-
trator] down to protect ALPA’s policies. He couldn’t get in the meeting! Some
solid citizens were on that MEC, and I asked them, ‘How could you let that
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happen? If ALPA’s merger policy is ignored by one airline, what’s to prevent
every other airline from ignoring it also?’”

Although rank-and-file Braniff pilots might have been unaware of the strained
relations between O’Donnell and his former mates on Eastern, Braniff’'s MEC
understood the problem.Throughout the 1970s,some of O’'Donnell’s most vo-
ciferous critics within ALPA had been his own former colleagues on Eastern.
When Hank Duffy defeated O’Donnell in 1982, the Eastern councils would
provide an important part of Duffy’s winning margin. O’Donnell maintains that
Braniff’s MEC understood that his personal intervention with the Eastern MEC
would have been counterproductive,and he speaks favorably of Branift’s pilot
leaders, particularly Joe Baranowski, Howard Cole, and Mike Ferraro.

“The Braniff MEC was a good one; they depended upon us for leadership;
they wanted our assistance,” O’Donnell said in his 1990 interview.“We had two
lawyers down there in Miami working with the Braniff and Eastern MECs. But
the opportunities for promotion washed out the Eastern pilots’loyalty to ALPA.
There’s no question that their behavior was a mistake”

Hank Dufty, who would not come to ALPA’s presidency until after the Braniff
tragedy played out, remembers O’Donnell’s trials sympathetically.

“O’Donnell had two problems at that time,” Duffy remembers. “First, some
companies don’t want to take on any of the cultural problems that come with
another company’s pilot group, particularly if they’re grouped together. Then
you have the pilot problem. I think the pilot problem really depends on if the
airline’s doing well or not.”

If Duffy’s analysis is correct, the first problem was that Eastern’s management
did not want the Braniff pilots as a cobesive group and coerced its pilots into
supporting this policy. Good evidence exists that Frank Borman, Eastern’s CEO,
told MEC Chairman Augie Gorse that he would not proceed with the Latin
American acquisition if the Eastern MEC did not agree to exclude the Braniff
pilots. Given the sad fate of Eastern today; it is easy to see that the second of
Dufty’s conditions applied as well—the Eastern pilots had not done well re-
cently, lagging behind their contemporaries on other airlines in almost every
category.

While these factors do not excuse the behavior of Eastern’s MEC, they do
make it understandable. Eastern’s purchase of Braniff’s Latin American routes
was, arguably, outside the technical scope of ALPA merger policy, but the issue
clearly had a moral dimension.].J.O’Donnell argued vehemently with the lead-
ers of Eastern’s MEC that ALPA merger policy applied to their airline’s acquisi-
tion of Braniff’s routes in Latin America.The Eastern MEC'’s reading of the policy,
obviously affected by naked self-interest, differed.

“We didn’t even know the meetings were going on between Frank Borman
and Augie Gorse,” O’Donnell declared in his 1990 interview.“When it became
known that Eastern was purchasing Braniff’s South American routes, Eastern
and Braniff were put on notice that we were implementing the merger policy.”

So, further complicating O’Donnell’s problem, at a time when he mzight have
been able to influence the “solid citizens” on the Eastern MEC, the MEC leader-
ship kept him completely out of the loop. Because the MEC leadership and
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Eastern’s management colluded to keep him uninformed, O’Donnell insists that
he was almost helpless to affect events. By the time O’Donnell became aware of
just how far off the ALPA reservation Eastern’s MEC had roamed, his only alter-
native would have been to refuse to sign the necessary contract amendments
that the new Eastern routes would require. If he had done so,at a time when so
many pilots were out of work, the Eastern pilots would probably have bolted
ALPA, just like the American pilots had done in 1963. O’Donnell could have
asserted the raw power of his office to remove Eastern’s MEC or to implement
a trusteeship, something that no ALPA president had ever dared to do before to
a major carrier. He had placed the Frontier MEC in trusteeship over the crew
complement issue in the 1970s, but it was a small pilot group.® Hank Duffy
would impose trusteeship on a small-airline pilot group, the one at Air Wiscon-
sin, after the airline merged with Mississippi Valley in 1985.But to impose trust-
eeship on one of ALPA’s “elephants,” O’Donnell believes, would have been cata-
strophic.

“I was on the Eastern MEC for six years and on the Negotiating Committee
for fourteen years, and I know they would have said,‘Screw you! Don’t tell us
how to run our business,” O’Donnell said flatly in his 1990 interview.

Which was cold comfort to Braniff’s pilots. Like hundreds of other Braniff
pilots who came back to fly the line until “Bankruptcy II,” Dick Russell balked at
paying the Eastern strike assessment during their hour of need and resigned
from ALPA with an angry letter to Hank Duffy. Given the circumstances of his
professional life since “Bankruptcy I,”few could have blamed him.

During the interval between the two Braniff bankruptcies, Russell dusted off
his Naval Academy degree and sought work as a mechanical engineer. After a
year of unsuccessful job hunting, he discovered two sad truths—his piloting
skills were largely untransferable, and no other job he could get would pay him
nearly as well as flying. Some aviation jobs he was not sure he wanted. Russell
was not anxious to live out of a suitcase while chasing the dregs of aviation
employment in undesirable and often dangerous parts of the world. Some new
airlines like Air Florida shunned Russell because of the fear that he would leave
them the minute Braniff resumed operations.That Air Florida could have used
Russell seems obvious.The passengers aboard the Air Florida Boeing 737 that
crashed into the 14th Street Bridge in Washington, D. C., might be alive today
had their captain been Dick Russell, with his vast flying experience,instead of a
34-year-old captain who had never flown in winter conditions before.

But the truth is that the new post-deregulation airlines were not eager to hire
pilots accustomed to ALPA pay scales and working conditions.The industry’s
traditional age discrimination also worked against Russell.Although recent court
decisions have changed this state of affairs, at the time Dick Russell most needed
a job, age discrimination was a fact of life. In 1983, Aviation Week & Space
Technology reported that the major airlines had hired only one pilot over the
age of 38 since 1976!

For a while, many former Braniff pilots looked with hope toward the labor
protective provisions (LPPs) of the Airline Deregulation Act. Democratic politi-
cians with their traditional pro-labor bias had supported deregulation only on
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condition that workers of any airline bankrupted by it would have first call on
available job openings on surviving carriers. Dick Russell and his fellow Braniff
pilots needed the LPPs desperately, and therein lies a supreme irony.

In one of his first actions as U. S. President, Ronald Reagan fulfilled his cam-
paign promise to “get the government off the backs of the American people” by
canceling the LPPs that the outgoing Carter Administration had implemented.
Although Congress had written in the LPPs for a situation exactly like Branift’s,
and President Carter had signed the LPP regulations, Reagan used the adminis-
trative power of his office to rescind them. Calling the LPPs “unnecessary” and
an “unwarranted government interference” in private industry, Reagan left
Braniff’s pilots naked just when they needed one final dash of government
regulation most.

“We had an immediate need for first-right-of-hire in 1983 when I became
ALPA’s president,” Hank Duffy recalls.“We needed a Department of Transporta-
tion [DOT] determination that deregulation was the cause of Braniff’s bank-
ruptcy.We weren'’t able to move that on the DOT side. So we got Ray Donovan
[Secretary of Labor] to publish the regulations;and as soon as he did, the com-
panies challenged it in court. We eventually took it to the Supreme Court and
won on a 9-0 decision in a Reagan Court, which was amazing,and got first-right-
of-hire put in. But they fought the damn thing until 1988, and it was just a
frustration that we couldn’t get it out when we needed it in 1983 through 1985,
when we had a big surplus of pilots”

“I voted for Reagan,” Dick Russell admits. “I'm a political conservative, I be-
lieve in free enterprise. I'm just like most airline pilots. But unemployment sure
does change your perspective.”

Working for something called Carnival Airlines after “Bankruptcy II” also
changed Russell’s perspective on ALPA.The gambling junkets Russell flew on
Boeing 727s out of Ft. Lauderdale to the Caribbean were poorly paid and had no
benefits, just flat hourly pay—block to block. Russell confesses that he and his
fellow Carnival pilots needed an ALPA contract badly.Working conditions were
so bad on Carnival that Russell eventually quit in 1990.

Deregulation of the airline industry, while it lies at the vital center of every
airline pilots’ career concerns, is by no means the only problem complicating
the lives of the people who fly the line professionally. The traditional prob-
lems—pay, working conditions, safety—haven’t gone away.ALPA still must deal
with these meat-and-potatoes issues. But deregulation made the job that much
harder,and J.J. O’Donnell would find his leadership tested repeatedly by events
that his predecessors never experienced.

The O’Donnell years would see no shortage of tribulation and trial. [___]

NOTES

!See “Pilots, Republicans, and Labor,” Chapter 12.
“For a full account, see Flying the Line, Ch.18.
3See “Dodging Bullets,” Ch. 4.
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CHAPTER 3

THETRIALS OF J.J. O’'DONNELL
SOS Theory and Practice

fairline pilots as a professional group were doing well during the four golden

decades of government regulation, the same cannot be said of ALPA as an
organization.While ALPA has always been a“clean”union, free of the antidemo-
cratic corruption and financial malfeasance one associates with the Teamsters,
it was nevertheless quite troubled internally throughout much of the period.
Some careful observers of ALPA’s history believe that an excess of democracy Gif
such a thing is possible) lies at the root of the problem. Stewart W. Hopkins, the
Delta pilot who played a prominent role in ALPA’s national politics as first vice-
president during the 1960s, once summed the situation up nicely:“In ALPA, the
only thing that cuts off debate is exhaustion.”

For most of the four golden decades,ALPA’s history at the national level bore
witness to a steady subset of disputes among its leaders. Airline pilots have
tended toward gentlemanly, almost polite confrontations; but these repetitive
quarrels wracked ALPA’s administrative functions and detracted from its effec-
tiveness as a labor union. Some quarrels originated in policy differences, but a
great many were purely personal, the product of individual quirks and dislikes,
idiosyncratic feuds, and all too often, naked ambition.

Intramural skirmishing has always plagued ALPA’s presidents. Dave Behncke,
ALPA’s founder, although an erratic administrator who was quite capable of
petty vengefulness against those he regarded as “bad eggs,” nevertheless suf-
fered from these attacks.Although his ouster in 1951 was necessary, who is to
say that Behncke’s struggle to hold onto power against his internal rivals did
not contribute to his deterioration as a leader?

Clarence N.“Clancy” Sayen, Behncke’s successor, sick of the constant sniping
at his leadership, resigned under pressure in 1962, midway through his term.
Charles H.“Charley” Ruby, Sayen’s successor, had a terrible time in office, once
surviving a 1968 recall effort by dint of a tie vote, which be bimself cast in the
Executive Committee! So, these internal quarrels clearly meet two of the tests
of historical significance—they persisted over time and they led to major changes.

Throughout the four decades of regulation,ALPA’s leaders were aware of this
problem and wrestled with it intermittently. Perhaps the best example of this
internal effort to rationalize ALPA’s administration and immunize it from “poli-
tics” (a term that has a peculiar resonance in ALPA’s history) is the collective
history of the various Organizational Structure Study Committees (OSSCs).The
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first OSSC, founded in 1951 during the Behncke ouster, has had several incarna-
tions over the years and has employed many celebrated outside consultants
(probably the most famous being George P.Schultz, then dean of the University
of Chicago School of Business and later Ronald Reagan’s Secretary of State).
That ALPA heavyweights frequently served on the various OSSCs proves the
Committee’s importance and the gravity of the problem.

Put simply, that problem was “internal politics” and the effect politics had on
ALPA’s administrative functions and other routine services. The culminating
crisis of ALPA’s administrative chaos followed the defection of the American
Airlines pilots from ALPA in 1963.Then, a bitter power struggle between Presi-
dent Ruby and his opponents on the Executive Committee, notably the regional
vice-presidents (which we will discuss later), all but deadlocked ALPA.

While the word “politics” generally elicits a negative response,and“politician”
is often a term of contempt, ALPA’s presidency is essentially a “political” job.
Nobody can lead ALPA without being a“politician.”The person who lacks politi-
cal skills, who has no knack for influencing others to adopt policy in their
mutual interest, who cannot master the essential art of representing the opin-
ions and sympathies of those who entrust decision-making for them, cannot
long survive at the top of ALPA.

John Joseph O’Donnell survived for 12 years at ALPA’s top.As a practitioner of
the political arts, he was no slouch.The mere fact of his emergence from the
relative obscurity of local executive council chairman to ALPA’s presidency is
sufficient proof of his political gifts. In fact, O’Donnell’s internal opponents
would often use his skill at politics against him,arguing that possession of these
skills was sufficient proof that he was unsuited to hold ALPA’s presidency!

“I see history repeating itself; former ALPA president O’Donnell said darkly in
a 1990 interview.“There was this constant politics between one airline and the
other, Delta off on its own, United out in left field, Eastern in some other part of
the ball park, nobody really working together, efforts to cut Hank Dufty’s throat.
The same thing happened to me”

John J.O’Donnell (usually referred to as“].J.” by his contemporaries, but known
as “John” to his intimates) has seen more ALPA history from the top than any-
body except Dave Behncke.From his election in 1970 to his narrow and bitter
defeat at the hands of Hank Duffy in 1982, O’Donnell survived at the top of
ALPA’s political world. Politics, by one ancient definition, is how people in any
society decide “who gets what” By almost any definition, ALPA’s particular brand
of politics could be as treacherous as a Byzantine court’s. As we shall see, this
tendency toward intramural skirmishing permeated ALPA politics down to the
local level.!

Benjamin Disraeli, the 19th century British prime minister, once described
politics as the art of “climbing the greasy pole.”].J. O’'Donnell would have under-
stood Disraeli’s point, for he had to struggle mightily to remain atop ALPA’s
“greasy pole.” He faced bitter opposition and serious efforts to recall him from
office, all of which left wounds that still cause pain.

“A bitterness still lingers,” O’Donnell admitted. While living in Florida retire-
ment, O’Donnell sat for a long interview in January 1991—after Hank Duffy’s
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term ended. In the interest of fairness, he had refused to go “on the record” with
his recollections until Duffy,the man who wrested ALPA from him in 1982, also
retired.As we shall see, relations between Duffy and O’Donnell, influenced not
only by the 1982 presidential election, but also by the difficult transition of
power which followed it, were never close.That is not to say that O’Donnell
failed to express sympathy for Dufty. Like former U.S. presidents, ex-presidents
of ALPA belong to an exclusive club and, hence, pay each other a certain re-
spect—regardless of their past differences.

“I wasn’t really welcome at ALPA functions during Hank’s presidency,’
O’Donnell said.“I invited Charley Ruby to every convention we had. Dufty didn’t
do that with me [something Duffy disputes and which probably requires a
semantic interpretation of the term“invitation”],but I respected his right to run
ALPA’s politics the way he wanted to. He was the president”

With ALPA’s internal and external wars behind him, O’Donnell became pas-
sionate about tennis and physical fitness, pursuing them with the same inten-
sity that characterized his presidency. But time and retirement had mellowed
him only slightly.

“It’s a terrible thing to say,the analogy I'm going to use,’said O’Donnell of one
old adversary;‘but he was like Saddam Hussein,absolutely ruthless. Every airline’s
MEC has got about a third who are wild radicals. Another third are dedicated,
intelligent guys, but not forceful. The final third wouldn’t open their mouths if
their lives depended on it”

The bitterness that O’Donnell still harbored in 1991 from the myriad battles
of his presidency emerged clearly in his rapid-fire Boston syntax. His conversa-
tion overflowed with tales of the intricate deals, misunderstandings, plots and
counterplots that were the political reality of his 12 years as ALPA’s president.
O’Donnell’s capacity to shrewdly sum up both friend and foe was evident in
the series of finely drawn portraits (sometimes in acid) he sketched.The defeat
that Hank Dufty inflicted in 1982 still rankled, although O’Donnell tried to pass
it off with a show of philosophical detachment. Boston Irish are not known for
accepting political defeat with equanimity.

“I was the big winner by losing,” O’Donnell declared in 1991.

From O’Donnell’s perspective, most of his troubles as ALPA’s president came
about because the “radical third” made life miserable for him. His recollections
ring with denunciations of men who are, for the most part,now retired or dead.
O’Donnell’s list of “incompetent destructionists” is a long one: Rich Flournoy,
the TWA captain who nearly succeeded in recalling Charley Ruby and subse-
quently became a thorn in O’Donnell’s side; Robert G.“Bob” Rubens, the North
Central (later Republic) captain who as a regional vice-president harassed
O’Donnell mercilessly, until the 1974 BOD abolished that office;Augie Gorse,
the Eastern MEC chairman who bitterly criticized O’Donnell during his presi-
dency; Nick Gentile and Bill Brown, the Delta leaders who were the gray emi-
nencies behind Hank Duffy’s upset victory over O’Donnell in 1982.

But at the top of O’'Donnell’s“enemies list” was Bill Arsenault, the stolid United
MEC chairman whom he defeated for ALPA’s presidency in 1974. Arsenault
plagued O’Donnell until February 1975, when the United MEC (for internal
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reasons having nothing to do with national politics), recalled Arsenault as MEC
chairman. Gerry Pryde replaced Arsenault as United MEC Chairman and devel-
oped a close political alliance with O’Donnell. Arsenault never returned to power
on United after 1975, but the difficulties he caused O’Donnell during his first
five years in office made a lasting impression. O’Donnell visibly stiffened, the
ghosts of dozens of old, mean-spirited political battles instantly materializing,
when Bill Arsenault’s name was mentioned in 1991.

Arsenault came to United in the 1961 merger with Capital Airlines.” Despite
the minority position of the old Capital pilots once they became part of United,
Arsenault rapidly became a factor in ALPA politics at the MEC level. He chal-
lenged and ultimately displaced from leadership positions the old United elite,
men like Chuck Woods and Bill Davis. Until Arsenault undid himself with the
United rank-and-file over contract negotiations in the mid 1970s,he was a fierce
O’Donnell critic and a potent adversary.

O’Donnell explains Arsenault’s rise at United as being the result of apathy,
and his view finds some support in the observations of Charles J.“Chuck”Pierce,
who after a long career of service on United’s MEC, would become ALPA secre-
tary during Dufty’s first term.

“The rise to power of the Capital pilots within the United MEC after the
merger was a very touchy subject until the late 1960s,” Pierce says.“Even into
the 1970s, a certain amount of resentment was directed at Bill Arsenault, be-
cause the ex-Capital pilots wielded power disproportionate to their size.They
would work for and support one another in voting situations.”

Gerry Pryde, who replaced Arsenault as United MEC chairman in February
1975, discounts the “ex-Capital” factor as an issue in the internal politics that led
to Arsenault’s recall.

“I'm quite sure that resentments directed at the ex-Capital pilots played some
part in the recall of John Ferg [whom we will meet later] as MEC chairman
during the late 1960s,” Pryde observes. “But by 1975, when Bill Arsenault got
recalled, all of us—the old Capital pilots and the old United group—were mi-
norities. New hires who had no recollection of the merger swamped us.”

Arsenault looked, talked, and acted like an old-fashioned labor boss, catering
not at all to the sleek, sophisticated image most airline pilots preferred.If there
is truth in the old notions that politics makes strange bedfellows, that opposites
attract and equals repel,then perhaps that explains whyArsenault and O’Donnell
were instantly at loggerheads—they were very much alike! But don’t try to tell
J.J.O’Donnell that!

“He threatened to physically beat me up at least a dozen times,” O’Donnell
declared in 1991. He insisted that the only civilized conversations he ever had
with Arsenault were in social situations with ladies present. “When we were
with our wives, Bill was always very nice, out of character. The next morning,
he’s pushing me to the edge again.Arsenault always stood behind me,I could
always feel him there, and he was big, husky, like a guy in an old 1930s labor
movie”

Politically, O’'Donnell sounds and acts like a guy out of 1950s labor movie.
Street-smart, tough, quick-witted as Rod Steiger in On the Waterfront,O’Donnell
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built his ALPA career on the bones of political opponents who took him lightly,
or who thought his grammatical lapses indicated a lack of native shrewdness.To
assess O’Donnell during his 12-year stewardship of ALPA, a review of a few
critical episodes is necessary.

O’Donnell had won the ALPA presidency in 1970, after a successful but rela-
tively unremarkable 20-year career at Eastern.Although he had served on the
Eastern pilots’ Negotiating Committee for 14 years, O’Donnell was best known
as a Charley Ruby loyalist who had displayed a high degree of doggedness in
carrying out tasks assigned to him. O’Donnell had won a reputation as an ex-
pert in retirement and insurance (R&D) matters, and his willingness to help
other ALPA groups restructure their R&I programs made him well-known to
the pilots who specialized in this arcane area. But O’Donnell’s was certainly no
“household”name to pilots flying the line.His reputation was nothing like aW.T.
“Slim” Babbitt’s or a Jerry Wood’s, even among his fellow Eastern pilots.

“He was just a ‘boom, out of nowhere,” recalls former ALPA President J.
Randolph “Randy” Babbitt, from his perspective as having been a junior second
officer in 1970.“We heard of this R&I guy who seemed to be doing a good job
and that everybody liked up in Boston, a small domicile that always had people
active in ALPA work.”

Eastern’s Boston base, from which O’Donnell emerged, had provided more
than its share of “inside players”who distinguished themselves behind the scenes
in the “nuts and bolts” committees. Pilots like Vic Tully and Roy Anderson, both
from the relatively small Boston base, fell into this category. Over the years, a
characteristic of ALPA’s history was that small domiciles,where everybody knew
everybody else, tended to elect and re-elect the same pilots to local office until
their faces became quite familiar within ALPA’s inner circle. In a larger pilot
base, relations between individual pilots were more impersonal,largely because
of the constant coming and going. O’Donnell benefited from the “focused mi-
nority”aspect of his small pilot base in Boston and from the fact that his willing-
ness to take on extra tasks had distinguished him as a “bear for work”

“I was on the BOD when Charley Ruby got elected in 1962, and I was vio-
lently opposed to him,” O’Donnell recalled in 1991.“But once he was elected, I
did my best to make him look like a hero.I had my problems with Charley, but
I tried to be constructive. His enemies, including some guys on my own airline,
held that against me; but I figure when you elect a guy president, you ought to
get behind him. A lot of people spent all their energy attacking Charley and
never gave him a chance to do the job as president”

As we have seen, the internal politics at ALPA’s top have always been complex,
riven by arcane rivalries that often had more to do with personal differences than
policy matters.This personal factor was no less true of O’Donnell than it was of
Clancy Sayen or Charley Ruby during their presidencies,but in O’Donnell’s case,
critical policy issues had a large bearing on the political equation.

One prederegulation issue, skyjacking, deserves special attention, because it
led to the 1972 Suspension of Service (SOS), an episode that almost made
O’Donnell a one-term president. It also tells us something about him as a politi-
cal leader and about ALPA as an organization.

24




The Trials of J.J. O’'Donnell

Skyjacking was perhaps the most dangerous and prolonged crisis of the
O’Donnell era.To deal with it, ALPA necessarily had to step on some powerful
toes in government and management, thus permanently affecting both internal
and external relationships. O’Donnell’s presidency began with the skyjacking
crisis already full-blown. It was, second only to deregulation, the most immedi-
ate and personal crisis to confront professional airline pilots since the 1930s.?
In terms of their personal safety, the physical threat of bodily harm, skyjacking
menaced every pilot everywhere, a hazard unrivaled in modern times.

Broadly speaking, skyjacking could be subdivided into several categories based
on the purpose of the skyjacker. Some skyjackers were simply deranged indi-
viduals whose motives were obscure. Others were common criminals.The ex-
tortionist using the name “D.B. Cooper;” who parachuted from the rear ramp of
a skyjacked Northwest B-727 on Nov. 24, 1971, after collecting a large cash
ransom, was one of several such felons.Many U.S. skyjackers sought transporta-
tion to destinations denied to them for various reasons, usually political; indi-
viduals seeking to get to (or leave) Cuba after Fidel Castro seized power in 1959
made up the bulk of this category. But by far the most troublesome skyjackers
were political terrorists, who most often sprang from the snake’s nest of trouble
that is the modern Middle East.

Terrorism is the last gasp of a political movement that has exhausted all other
means of effectiveness. This act of desperation has political roots, hence the
solution, in a long-term strategic sense, can only be political. But in the short
term, skyjacking, whatever category of causation it falls into, can have tactical
solutions.

Almost from the beginning of O’Donnell’s tenure as ALPA’s president, the
skyjacking issue and the search for a tactical solution to it dominated his atten-
tion.Any number of the people O’Donnell brought into ALPA work, men who
would later be regarded as his protégés (like Tom Ashwood of TWA), owed their
rise to the skyjacking problem and ALPA’s search for a solution to it.

Technical solutions, however imperfect, eventually would be found for the
problem. The details of the kind of airport security familiar to passengers all
over the world today owe much to the technical contributions of ALPA and
International Federation of Air Line Pilots Associations committees and the hun-
dreds of individual pilots from many nations who worked so hard on them.But
the fundamental problem in advancing a solution to the skyjacking problem lay
in the realm of politics.]J.J. O’'Donnell’s whole presidency was, to some extent,
colored by his response to skyjacking and the extraordinarily direct method
many pilots favored to dramatize the seriousness of the skyjacking problem—
the Suspension of Service, or SOS, concept.

A series of skyjacking incidents, several of them desperate and dramatic,forced
O’Donnell’s hand. Aware that something as radical as grounding an airliner to
make a political point would be controversial with airline pilots, O’Donnell
prepared for it in unusual ways. One innovative step, which Charles Dent (United)
suggested to O’Donnell, was a celebrated B-747 ride ALPA sponsored for nearly
300 United Nations personnel on Nov.6, 1971.

The short flight from New York to Montreal in the rented Pan Am B-747
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(piloted by Stan Doepke of Pan Am) had as its purpose to intensively lobby
influential politicians from all over the world to passALPA’s“T-Plus”antiskyjacking
program. Put simply, T-Plus was a comprehensive set of laws, penalties, and pro-
cedures for dealing with skyjacking. Among those being lobbied was future U.S.
President George Bush, then U.S. ambassador to the U.N. Placing these world
political leaders in a controlled and dramatic situation where they could hear
the stories of more than 30 crewmembers who had been skyjacked (including
pilots from recently defected American Airlines—with full approval of their
ALPA-clone, the Allied Pilots Association)—won unanimous support among rank-
andfile pilots.

Everybody who participated in the U.N. flight thought it went well. The ros-
ter of ALPA topsiders and MEC heavyweights aboard (including O’Donnell’s
nemesis Bill Arsenault of United) was impressive. Tom Ashwood of TWA, who
would later come within an eyelash of unseating Hank Duffy from ALPA’s presi-
dency in 1986,acted as master of ceremonies.Ashwood functioned at top form,
his cultivated British accent wowing the assembled politicos.

Former Executive Vice-President Merle C.“Skip” Eglet of Northwest, although
no fan of Ashwood’s politically, remembers that he made a marvelous first im-
pression: “Ashwood used the Queen’s English extremely well”

All the international politicians who accepted ALPA’s hospitality on the
Montreal excursion went home vowing immediate action by their countries.
And nothing happened! Despite rave reviews in the press, heavy television
news coverage, and all the back-slapping support, nothing happened! Terror-
ism slackened not at all, and skyjackings continued.The international commu-
nity, for all the oral assurances that their U.N. representatives gave during the
joyride to Montreal (complete with lavish meals at ALPA’s expense), resisted a
coordinated attack on skyjacking.

Even such traditional agencies as the International Civil Aviation Organiza-
tion JCAO), headquartered in Montreal, offered no help in quelling the skyjack-
ing problem.ICAO, founded in 1944 in a far-sighted attempt to give structure to
what was obviously going to be a major post-World War II expansion of interna-
tional aviation, would repeatedly fail to take effective action against skyjacking.
Because ICAO required a two/thirds majority to pass rules, African and Arab
nations were able to block the anti-skyjacking efforts of the international com-
munity. Despite massive lobbying efforts by IFALPA, with ALPA members spear-
heading the campaign,African and Arab nations generally continued to see sky-
jackers as “freedom fighters,” rather than as criminals.

‘While not as hamstrung as the ICAO, international political leaders were also
divided and hesitant about how to handle skyjacking.ALPA,IFALPA,and profes-
sional airmen everywhere (including the Soviet Union and the Eastern Bloc
countries), were united and determined to do something about it. Even the
Israeli version of ALPA joined with IFALPA delegates to protest the skyjacking
by their own government of an Arab airliner suspected of carrying guerrilla
leaders. Israeli ALPA leader Y. Sheked flew to Washington, D.C., to support
O’Donnell’s denunciation of Israel—a courageous act. So pilots everywhere
were determined to take action jointly to end skyjacking once and for all.
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But what should the pilots do? How could they get the serious attention of
political leaders? J.J.O’Donnell, who was by nature a cautious and conservative
man, listened with increasing alarm as rank-and-ile airline pilots demanded
drastic action. One idea, emanating from the European pilot groups in IFALPA,
began to pick up momentum in the U.S. pilot community in the early 1970s.The
idea that gained increasing support was for a symbolic temporary shutdown of
all airline service for a short period.

Because the suspension of service, or SOS, tactic bore some resemblance to a
traditional strike, it had obvious and immediate legal problems.American labor
law,and particularly the Railway LaborAct of 1926 (including the “Pilots’ Amend-
ment” of 1936),* was designed precisely to prevent such “wildcat” actions as an
SOS. Hence, any resort to the SOS tactic would need a careful and innovative
legal approach, one that could be fully substantiated in both constitutional and
statute law.

ALPA General Counsel Henry Weiss would eventually craft a defensible con-
stitutional rationale for an SOS in 1981. By refusing to fly during a 24-hour
shutdown (which was not a strike against their employers),aitline pilots would,
in effect, be petitioning Congress (and other governments around the world),
for relief from skyjacking. The legal validity of this argument, which Henry Weiss
devised almost entirely, would later be recognized by the Supreme Court when
it upheld flag burning as “symbolic speech” and hence constitutionally pro-
tected.

But all that was in the future. In 1972 Weiss faced an immediate problem of
justifying the skyjacking SOS in statute law. From his great breadth of experi-
ence in labor law,Weiss adapted the closest parallel cases he could find to serve
ALPA’s purpose.

“I remembered that in the 1950s the Longshoremen’s Union refused to load
ships with grain for Russia,”"Weiss says.“They did so on the proposition that they
were protesting 7ot against their employers, but against government policy.
That case eventuated in a Supreme Court decision that upheld the action.That
gave legal foundation to the ill-arranged skyjacking SOS. I say ill-arranged be-
cause ALPA’s officers simply had not prepared the membership for the SOS”

Regardless of its legal validity, the SOS idea spooked average line pilots, not
only because it could get them fired,but because it ran counter to every tenet of
their personal code.Airline pilots are not people who defy authority.Their whole
ethos revolves around the concept of order, duty, and steadiness of purpose,all
carried out within the framework of legitimate authority.To ask people bred in
this environment to act like aerial “hippie protesters”was dangerous.Why then,
did the SOS concept develop such momentum?

J.J.O’Donnell in 1991 thought he knew.

“You go to a meeting of the largest council in ALPA, which is United Council
12 in Chicago with twelve-hundred members [during the early 1970s],and you
had thirty people there,” O’Donnell said hotly.“Twenty-seven of them are likely
to be militants who want to carry sidearms in the cockpit!”

So O’Donnell concluded that the SOS concept, which he maintained was a
bad idea,growing like the proverbial “Topsy; resulted from the apathy of ALPA’s
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general membership and the activism of a militant few. Since the subsequent
history of the SOS movement supports O’Donnell’s thesis, why did he agree to
it? Barely three weeks after the expensive, ALPA-sponsored “Montreal Joyride,”
the U.N.failed to take action on even the most elemental of the “T-Plus” propos-
als, one that would boycott nations giving asylum to skyjackers.The outrage of
the international pilot community was such that the “crazies” won support for
an SOS action, according to O’Donnell’s view. But regardless of his personal
misgivings, O’Donnell would have to lead the charge for a world-wide shut-
down, a “Global Suspension of Service.” On June 6, 1972, a special emergency
meeting of the Executive Board approved the SOS, setting a date of June 19 for
the action if the U.N. had not responded by then. IFALPA approved a coordi-
nated SOS action on June 8, 1972, two days after ALPA’s decision.

“The stupid idiots called for a shutdown, policy as set by the BOD called for a
shutdown, I didn’t call for a shutdown!” O’Donnell insisted in 1991.“Goddam it,
they shouldn’t pass hairy-chested resolutions they don’t intend to implement,
because if the BOD passes it, I'm going to try my darndest to implement it.”

O’Donnell was still learning his job in 1972, and no doubt uncertain of him-
self owing to the closeness of his victory in 1970.But it is still an indictment of
his leadership at the time,that he would permit an SOS movement to get out of
hand, if indeed he thought it wouldn’t work.

“I seriously believed that I could have shut it down...” O’Donnell said in the
1991 interview, his voice trailing off as he recalled the disaster that nearly made
him a one-term president.“Certainly we had legitimate grievances, but....”

If in fact O’Donnell did oppose the SOS privately; his public activities gave no
hint of it. Perhaps his reminiscences are more strongly molded by hindsight
than remembrance, for as we shall see, the animosities that the failed 1972 SOS
generated would haunt him for years. Certainly there is not the slightest hint of
reluctance in O’Donnell’s public posture of support for the SOS at the time of
the crisis,and many contemporaries do not remember events the way he does.

John Gratz of TWA, many times an MEC chairman (and recalled from office by
his fellow TWA pilots almost as often), found himself in the thick of the 1972
SOS controversy almost by accident.

“I'was elected MEC chairman onApril 7,1972,and it was one of the proudest
moments of my life,” Gratz recalls.“I come from a union family. I remember my
father once going to jail briefly over a strike, so I was confident that an SOS was
the right thing to do. When I came to Washington, it was my first Executive
Board meeting. My airline had been hit pretty hard by skyjacking, but I didn’t
know anybody at the meeting so I tried to keep my mouth shut.Well O’Donnell
made his spiel, and he said we needed an SOS resolution that the president
would call with the concurrence of the Board if, in his opinion, it was war-
ranted. Everybody kind of slumped down in their chairs. O’Donnell said,'Maybe
you didn’t hear me too well, and he went through the whole thing again. Well,
I rose to the bait and moved that we shut the world down. Everybody cheered,
they moved to recess, and they whisked me away and told me to put it in
writing, but I had a whole bunch of people helping me”

To John Gratz and many of his contemporaries at the meeting that authorized
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the SOS, O’Donnell seemed four-square in favor of it. But regardless of any mis-
givings he might have privately harbored, we must remember that for purely
tactical reasons O’Donnell would have to put up a brave front to give the SOS
credibility.

During a nationwide live telecast of “Face the Nation” on the eve of the SOS,
O’Donnell did just that. He appeared committed, militant, and willing to defy a
court injunction, which the Air Transport Association (ATA), representing 18
airlines, had obtained on June 17, 1972, which seemed, on first reading, to bar
ALPA from the action.

“I don’t know anything about the courts,” O’'Donnell said in response to a
question.“I'm not a lawyer. All I know is there’s no way I'm going to order my
people to go to work tomorrow.The airlines are going to be shut down.

O’Donnell appeared at the time to be willing to defy the courts and risk
going to jail. His remarks induced a near state of panic in Bruce Simon, Henry
Weiss’s law partner, who was monitoring the telecast in the studio. Simon, as-
suming that the telecast was being taped and could be altered, told O’Donnell
they had to get the broadcast stopped or changed. But it was a live program.

“Bruce was standing right behind the camera,” O’Donnell recalls.“About 22
minutes past the hour,I get this question,and I say,"We’re not going to work, and
Bruce stands up and says,‘Oh my God!””

Simon,aware of the grave consequences of announcing in advance that he
would defy a court injunction, hustled O’Donnell out the studio’s back door
immediately after the telecast and into hiding.

“I said,"What the hell’s the matter with you,” O’Donnell remembered later.
“He says, T've got to get you out of here before the sheriff throws handcuffs on
you.We did not go back to the ALPA office. It was the most emotional experi-
ence I've bad in my life.1 didn’t make the policy, but that’s what the members
wanted, that’s what the BOD said, and I didn’t have the luxury of choosing
which policies to implement.”

John Gratz, the author of the SOS resolution, also went into hiding: “When
O’Donnell disappeared, on the advice of friends I did, too. We went out to a
motel,and we were all making jokes about the movie The Godjfatbher.We ‘hit the
mattresses.”

Although Gratz laughs about the episode now, in 1972 the possibility of go-
ing to jail was not funny. Nor was the subsequent SOS fiasco an occasion for
humor.The outcome of the 1972 SOS was at best disappointing, despite some
isolated successes. Eastern, which had lost one of its own (First Officer Chuck
Hartley,after whom Eastern would name its Miami training center) to a skyjacker’s
bullet, shut down completely. Likewise the pilots of Northeast Airlines (who
would later merge with Delta), managed a good shutdown. But faced with court
injunctions against the SOS, other ALPA groups complied only spottily. United’s
Bill Davis, who was an ALPA national officer, walked off a loaded B-747 just
before pushback, and a few other brave individuals did likewise.

Eastern’s pilots came away from the 1972 SOS affair aggrieved at the lack of
support from other ALPA pilot groups,resolved to vent their anger and frustra-
tion somewhere, somebhow in the future—a dangerous matter for ALPA’s inter-
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nal unity. But the Eastern pilots were operating without the threat of punish-
ment, for Frank Borman, Eastern’s CEO, had approved their participation in the
SOS and was willing to see his airline shut down. Other pilot groups faced a far
different situation.

“I went in to see the president of TWA and said, " We’re having this SOS, I'm
sure you've heard about it,so we’ll be shutting you down Sunday at midnight,”
John Gratz remembers matter-of-factly. “He started hollering and calling me a
mad dog union fool. I told him there was no way to stop it, but my guys were
getting scared and trying to wiggle out,and my MEC was raising hell. So I learned
that when you say you can lick anybody in the house, you damn well better be
able to do it! It was bloody awful”

With TWA wavering in its support for the SOS, other pilot groups looking for
leadership also began weakening. The MEC chairmen of Braniff, Northwest, Pan
American,Seaboard World,and Western Air Lines all called Gratz, informing him
that if the TWA pilots, who were identified in the public mind most heavily with
the action because of Gratz’s authorship of the SOS resolution, did not honor
the SOS, neither would they. Gratz, with his own MEC crumbling, tried to tough
it out.He bluffed and cajoled, bullied and begged his MEC,appearing outwardly
confident of success. It was all to no avail. Gratz’s gamble fell apart during a
disastrous telephone conference call among his 18 MEC members just preced-
ing the SOS.

“I told them they were cowardly, yellow-bellied whiners. I said, Man your
battle stations, and slammed the phone receiver down,” Gratz recalls. “Pretty
soon the phone rings,and it’s my best buddy,and he says, John,nobody hung up
when you hung up.They ain’t gonna do it.”

Not only did Gratz’s MEC pull out of the SOS, they recalled him as MEC chair-
man—and not for the last time! With the collapse of TWA, the other airlines
looking to it for leadership also folded.

JJ.O’Donnell was not a slow learner. By the time the aborted 1981 SOS, titled
“Operation USA” (the acronym standing for “Unity for Safe Air Travel), rolled
around, he was older, wiser, and much cagier. In one sense, O’Donnell would
handle Operation USA brilliantly, like a concert violinist handles a Stradivarius.
He never intended that Operation USA should ever actually take place. Having
learned his lesson about the dangers of the SOS concept in 1972, O’'Donnell
would use Operation USA as a Machiavellian ploy to extort concessions from
the new Reagan Administration.The only problem with O’Donnell’s brilliantly
conceived strategy and performance during the 1981 SOS was that its political
effect inside ALPA was not what he expected.

Operation USA was thus a simultaneous exercise in external and internal
politics.” O’Donnell frankly admitted in 1991 that Operation USA was a “grab
bag” approach to settling issues that had arisen as the result of deregulation,
plus some other long-standing grievances ALPA had with the way the FAA en-
forced certain rules.

Thus, Operation USA was a purely tactical ploy on which O’'Donnell spent
money lavishly. He hired consultants, expanded communications within ALPA,
and generally succeeded in getting everyone “in the loop”by holding“pep rally”
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type meetings at various crew bases around the country.All this was necessary
to convince the incoming Reagan administration that ALPA was serious, that the
nation’s airlines really were going to shut down. O’Donnell’s problem was that
to convince the Reagan people of ALPA’s seriousness, he first had to convince
rank-and-file ALPA members.That required subterfuge, and it would lead to po-
litical problems.

“We got the nation’s attention in 1972, that we had worldwide concerns
about skyjacking,” O’Donnell says.“But with the 1981 SOS, let’s be honest, it was
about self-interest. We were trying to solve a lot of different problems.We spent
millions of dollars whipping up the troops, getting them emotionally ready to
walk out of their airplanes.”

In O’Donnell’s judgment, which he based not only on the failed 1972 SOS,
but also on the recent history of ALPA’s strikes, if he had unleashed Operation
USA it would have been, in his words “an absolute catastrophe.” So, O’Donnell’s
game plan was to call off Operation USA when he thought he had extracted the
maximum he could from it. He had no idea it would generate so much political
heat inside ALPA.

In November 1980, shortly after the election of Ronald Reagan, the BOD
once again authorized the Executive Board to call an SOS if the incoming Re-
publican administration did not respond to ALPA’s concerns.

The timing was deliberate. O’Donnell, who had contacts with high-ranking
members of Reagan’s campaign staff, knew that his best chance of influencing
new Secretary of Transportation Drew Lewis was during the first weeks of his
term in office.

Despite repeated campaigning against the Carter administration’s policies as
they affected aviation,ALPA had been unable to secure any relief. The object of
this pressure on the Carter administration (as it would later be on the Reagan
administration) was to secure a Presidential Emergency Board (PEB) to adjudi-
cate the most divisive of the several issues—crew complement.

Even a highly publicized day-long picketing of the White House in October
1980, just before the election (when it was most damaging to the Democrats),
had not secured the PEB. But O’Donnell was almost certain (to the extent that
any deal involving “politics” can be) that the incoming Republicans would ac-
commodate ALPA.

“Because I was an Irish Catholic from Boston,” O’'Donnell says, “everybody
thought I was a Democrat. I have a lot of liberal views, but I was a registered
Republican for many years. I was a strong supporter of Ronald Reagan, and I
think 75 percent of airline pilots were, too.I thought it was in ALPA’s best inter-
ests not to endorse him, but I had good ‘ins’ with the Reagan people, particu-
larly the White House staff, on both a working and a social basis.”

During the campaign, O’Donnell worked quietly for Reagan, one of the few
labor union presidents to do so.The Reagan people were glad to have O’Donnell’s
support.The quid pro quo for this work, O’'Donnell was given to understand,
would be speedy action on ALPA’s request for a PEB to decide, once and for all,
the crew complement issue. So O’Donnell knew,long before the BOD meeting
in November 1980 that he would 7ot have to implement an SOS. O’Donnell
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had cleverly insured ALPA against the “catastrophe” he was sure an SOS would
cause.

On Feb. 11, 1980, ALPA’s Executive Board canceled the SOS at O’Donnell’s
urging. Two weeks later, living up to the bargain his subordinates had made
with O’Donnell, Ronald Reagan announced the appointment of a PEB.

When the PEB met in early May 1981,ALPA got its day in court. But put simply,
it was a foregone conclusion that the PEB that Reagan appointed would hand
ALPA its head on a platter. Aside from window dressing, that’s exactly what
happened, with consequences for O’Donnell’s political standing within ALPA
that were to prove quite damaging. On every substantive issue, particularly the
third-crewman concept,the PEB ruled against ALPA’s position.The only positive
aspect of the Reagan Board was that it finally ended the long internal wrangle
over crew complement. Henceforward, the third crew member, with whatever
safety edge that extra set of eyes provided, would fade away as technology
improved productivity in the cockpit. The long battle was lost, but at least it
would no longer trouble ALPA internally.

For JJ. O’'Donnell, political problems, compounded by the devastating im-
pact of airline deregulation, were multiplying. O’'Donnell could point to the
“window dressing” successes of Operation USA:a voice in aircraft certification,
new channels of communication with the FAA, the quashing of that agency’s
attempt to use the cockpit voice recorder (CVR) as an enforcement tool, a
function for which it had never been intended. But as the presidential election
year of 1982 dawned, these benefits seemed trivial, and disaffection with
O’Donnell spread. Part of this disaffection was simply that he had been in office
long enough for a backlog of separate grievances to build up against him.The
Northwest pilots, for example, felt that O’Donnell had not been sufficiently
supportive of their 105-day strike in 1978, although when pressed for details,
they generally admit that most of their complaints were more psychological
than material.

Gerry Pryde of United puts it another way:“I was a close student of that strike,
and what went wrong there had everything to do with the pilots of Northwest
and little to do with J.J. O’'Donnell. Kay MacMurray [the federal mediator as-
signed to the Northwest strike and, incidentally, former United pilot who had
quit flying to become Sayen’s executive administrator during the mid-1950s]
confirmed my judgment”

Thus grievances emanating from separate airlines, and for varied reasons,
nagged at O’Donnell. Many ALPA members traced their discontent to his han-
dling of the SOS—some pilots disliked O’Donnell because they opposed the
SOS concept,others denounced him for not carrying it through to completion.

The SOS idea has had a troubling history.Three times,in 1972,1981,and as we
shall see, during the Eastern strike of 1989, the SOS concept fractured ALPA’s
internal unity.While preparation for the aborted 1981 SOS, Operation USA, was
much better than for the skyjacking SOS of 1972, rank-and-file ALPA members
(had O’Donnell permitted it to go forward) probably would not have adhered
to it any better. When Eastern’s pilots, desperately at war with Frank Lorenzo
during the 1989 strike, appealed to Hank Duffy for a nationwide SOS, he would
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make the same judgment as O’Donnell—that the basic SOS concept was un-
workable.

In a sense,the SOS is ALPA’s nuclear weapon. Before any ALPA president dares
launch it, he must be certain that the issue necessitating its use is of such para-
mount importance that the vast majority of airline pilots on every airline will
unhesitatingly risk not only the loss of their careers, but also jail! Given the
unfriendly structure of the federal court system since 1980,American labor law
has been transformed.An SOS (even a local one) would almost certainly bring
an injunctive crackdown.A nationwide SOS would almost certainly entail prison
time for ALPA’s leaders. The antilabor proclivities of judges whom Ronald Reagan
and George Bush appointed, and who by 1991 constituted over 80 percent of
the federal bench, would almost certainly land ALPA leaders down to the local
level in jail.

The abortive 1981 SOS would have serious political consequences for
O’Donnell. His opponents believed he was vulnerable because of it, and they
were determined that the 1982 BOD meeting would not see a repeat of the
1978 meeting. In 1978, O’Donnell’s opponents failed to unite on a candidate,
and he won a surprisingly easy reelection. Only Bob Shipner, one of the chroni-
cally disaffected Eastern pilots, challenged O’Donnell. Shipner had no following
outside his own airline and negotiated a withdrawal (in return for a chance to
address the delegates) on the eve of balloting in 1978.

O’Donnell by 1991 still fumed at the Shipner episode of 1978,because Shipner,
in return for being allowed access to the rostrum before withdrawing from the
race (which was, technically, a violation of the rules), agreed to say nothing
derogatory about O’Donnell. Angelo “Angie” Marcione of TWA, chairman of the
Nominating Committee, at first refused Shipner’s request as improper. But
O’Donnell encouraged Marcione, who was a strong supporter,to bend the rules
in the interest of saving money and time.

“Running a Board of Directors meeting was expensive as hell,” O’Donnell
recalled. “I didn’t want to appear anxious to have Shipner withdraw. But he
starts this terrible cutting up of me, about no leadership.Then he withdrew. My
friends were just totally bulgy-eyed.There was no applause for him—total si-
lence. Shipner only had a few crazies.I had 95 percent of the votes”

Many ALPA insiders had expected the 1978 election to be a repeat of the
extremely close 1974 election, which O’Donnell, still smarting from the failed
1972 SOS crisis,had won by an eyelash. Skip Eglet of Northwest,a close student
of ALPA’s political dynamics who has held a variety of important ALPA offices,
including executive vice-president, cites O’Donnell’s skillful pre-BOD maneu-
vers in explaining this lack of opposition in 1978.

“There’s a certain anomaly in the 1978 election,because nobody was terribly
pleased with O’Donnell,” Eglet says.“In 1978 we had a 105-day strike on North-
west, and [ was disappointed in the support we got from O’Donnell. So I made
a pilgrimage to Seattle to visit Gerry Pryde of United to try to convince him to
run against O’Donnell”

Pryde, the former United MEC chairman who had replaced Bill Arsenault
after his recall, was an authentic “mover and shaker”in ALPA politics. If anybody
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had the clout, in terms of respect and name recognition, to unseat O’Donnell in
1978, it would have been Pryde. But Pryde’s candidacy had a problem.

“I felt O’Donnell had done a good job,’ Pryde says frankly.“I had worked with
him very closely as MEC chairman, and I thought that while he started out
making a lot of mistakes, he grew into the job and became a well-respected
leader within labor. He didn’t make the same mistakes twice.”

So Gerry Pryde would not challenge O’Donnell. He told Eglet and others
who were urging him to run for ALPA’s presidency that he was unwilling to live
in Washington, D.C., which was, in effect true, but still something of a subter-
fuge. Imagine the anti-O’Donnell faction’s embarrassment when they discov-
ered, barely a month later, that Pryde had, in effect, joined O’'Donnell’s slate and
was running, unopposed, for first vice-president.

“I don’t know whether a deal was previously made or if O’Donnell found out
that people were out actively recruiting people to run against him and decided
to head them off” Eglet muses. “I picked the right guy [the widely respected
Pryde],I just didn’t offer him the right job.”

Pryde denies that he was in any way consciously a part of an O’Donnell slate
in 1978.But in effect he was.The true mark of a clever and effective politician is
when he rules through others, with his unseen hand motivating others to take
actions without their being aware of it. By every standard of measurement
available, O’Donnell fit that definition.

For J.J. O’Donnell, the 1978 BOD meeting was the high-water mark of his
political control of ALPA. But the tumultuous events of the post-1978 period
would offer the anti-O’Donnell forces new opportunities. Next time, they vowed,
it would be a different story. They would be organized and ready in 198p. ]

NOTES

ISee “Blue Skies and MEC Wars,” Ch. 15.

“For a full account of the Capital-United merger and the stresses it generated internally among the
combined pilot group, see “Jets and Thin Ice” Flying the Line, Ch. 23.

*For a full account, see “Skyjacking,” Flying the Line, Ch. 24.

iSee George E.Hopkins, The Airline Pilots:A Study in Elite Unionization (Boston: Harvard University
Press, 1971), pp. 178-182, for a full discussion.

>For further details, see Flying the Line, Ch. 25.
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CHAPTER 4

DODGING BULLETS
Crew Complement, Politics, and
the Wien Strike

harles J.“Chuck” Huttinger nursed a long-standing political grudge against

JJ. O’Donnell. Slightly built with a pronounced limp (from a backyard fall
that ended his aviation career), Huttinger had flown for a variety of small carri-
ers during his 26 years as an airline pilot. He finally ended up as a BAC-111
captain with TACA, the Central American airline based in El Salvador. In 1967,
Huttinger successfully organized his fellow pilots for ALPA, overcoming the fierce
opposition of TACA’'s management, which had a well-deserved reputation for
parsimony. In 1971, Huttinger became something of a legend when he master-
minded the “kidnapping” of several TACA airplanes until his pilots got an indus-
try-standard contract!

“When they can’t find their airplanes, they’ve pretty much goft to talk to you,”
Huttinger says wryly.

Huttinger’s success as TACA’s organizer and long-time MEC chairman made
him a natural leader of the “Group V” airlines. Historically, pilots from small
airlines have made few ripples in ALPA’s political pond. Huttinger, well aware
that he stood no chance of challenging J.J. O’'Donnell for the presidency of ALPA
himself, was dedicated to finding a candidate who could.

From Huttinger’s vantage point as an MEC chairman of one of ALPA’s smallest
pilot groups, he was ideally situated to act as a political catalyst. Had he been a
pilot from one of the large airlines (the so-called “elephants”), Huttinger’s mo-
tives might have been suspect. But as a leader of the “ants” (the Group V air-
lines), Huttinger (who was based in New Orleans) bore no taint of personal
ambition. In ALPA politics, pilots from small airlines have historically had to
content themselves with fringe roles—the exception to this rule being genial
Jack Magee of Ozark, who served as ALPA’s treasurer for what seemed forever,
from 1975 to 1991, beating back every attempt by pilots of larger airlines to
unseat him during that 16-year period.

In 1974, the BOD changed the vice-presidencies from “regional” to the new
“executive”status.In a technical sense, the new executive vice-presidency (EVP)
was designed to accomplish two things:first,the BOD wanted to curb the power
of the regional vice-presidents (RVPs);and second, the BOD wanted to guaran-
tee that pilots like Chuck Huttinger, who flew for small airlines, would have
more voice in national affairs. The tendency toward tribalism,which character-
ized the voting behavior of airline pilots, gravely hampered the pilots of small
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airlines seeking election to a major ALPA office. Many of these pilots were men
of exceptional ability whose voice in ALPA’s national affairs was needed.

But primarily, the BOD adopted the 1974 changes to put an end to the inde-
pendent power bases some RVPs had built. From their regional bases, these
RVPs often challenged the purely administrative prerogatives of BOD-elected
national officers.

Before 1974, the RVPs won office independently of the BOD, and many of
them viewed their mandate to advise and monitor the president as a power
derived directly from the membership of their region and thus theoretically co-
equal (collectively) to the president’s. Operating from this perspective, several
RVPs (notably Rich Flournoy of TWA during the Ruby era and Bob Rubens of
North Central—later of Northwest via its merger with Republic) exercised more
power and influence than some BOD-elected officers.

Before 1974, the popular vote of all pilots living within a designated region
directly elected each RVP. RVPs “campaigned” primarily by direct mail to the
membership, which often meant that money, rather than merit, dictated victory.
This system also meant that the individual with a flair for “dramatic rhetoric” (or
demagoguery) had an unfair advantage over more-responsible candidates.After
1974, the BOD elected the new EVPs, and hence they were technically a sub-
committee of the BOD.This was a far more rational (if somewhat less “demo-
cratic”) system, and it eliminated much confusion about the vice-presidency’s
mandate, role, and function.

The new office of EVP effectively laid to rest another troubling aspect of the
old system. Before 1974, the“ants”seldom had a representative on ALPA’s Execu-
tive Committee. Although the MEC chairmen of the “ants” attended Executive
Board meetings every six months, many thoughtful observers believed that their
exclusion from the Executive Committee, which met at least every three months
(and usually more often) was potentially dangerous.

Henceforth under the new EVP system, all ALPA’s airlines would be subdi-
vided into five groups,and each group would be represented on the Executive
Committee. Ideally, each group should also have been roughly co-equal in total
voting strength, but that presupposed an aviation industry stability, which de-
regulation would destroy. Initially, the “elephants” segmented in the top groups
would far outweigh the “ants” (like Chuck Huttinger’s TACA) in total voting
strength. But the latter at least had hope that someday the elephants and the
ants would find some balance in ALPA’s politics.

Owing to the discrepancy in pay scales and consequent disparity in the amount
of money the elephants contributed to ALPA’s treasury in dues, however, the idea
of real equality between large and small pilot groups was hopelessly visionary.
The elephants paid money in; the ants took it out. So when crucial matters arose,
ALPA’s presidents necessarily paid heed to the elephants and ignored the ants,
formal structures like the Executive Committee notwithstanding.'

“I'was frankly against the EVP concept,’says RobertA.Holden of Eastern, who
was elected Group I EVP at the 1974 BOD, a time when Eastern and United
were paired elephants.“I didn’t see the necessity for it.J.J. wanted it for political
reasons.I went along with it because I liked the guy. He was a little too political
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for me, always responding to the power groups with the most votes. But that
was his job”

Indeed, O’'Donnell’s mastery of ALPA’s politics through 1978 owed much to
his skill at counting votes. What this meant, in practice, was that O’Donnell
always kept the elephants happy.Then, if he could, he would tend to the needs
of the ants.

Or at least that’s the way Chuck Huttinger saw it.

“John never listened to anybody but the big MEC chairmen,” Huttinger says.
“If you were from a small airline and you voted against him, you didn’t get any
money for your projects.That’s the way he kept us in his pocket politically”

John Erikson of Delta (by way of merger with Western), who served until
January 1985 as Hank Dufty’s first executive administrator, echoes Huttinger’s
complaint.

“O’Donnell quite explicitly used money in a very political way; Erickson says.
“The MECs of the big airlines, like United, could spend money like drunken
sailors, and O’Donnell would accept it. But those of us on small airlines were
very dependent upon money from ALPA national to run our operation, and
O’Donnell used this leverage ruthlessly. It backfired on him at the 1982 BOD,
when he warned us that if we voted for Duffy,he would cut us off if he won.We
went for Duffy anyway”

In early 1982, Huttinger wrote to a select group of ALPA activists he knew
were hostile to O’Donnell, suggesting that they begin coordinating their strat-
egy for the 1982 BOD meeting. He reminded them of their failure to come up
with a suitable challenger to O’Donnell in 1978 and suggested that they meet
for discussions in New Orleans to begin advance planning. Huttinger included
in his anti-O’Donnell circular a lengthy bill of indictment, detailing what he saw
as failures of the O’Donnell years. Huttinger delved deeply into the past, dredg-
ing up the failed 1972 skyjacking SOS (“one of the most embarrassing disasters
in ALPA history”) and ranged forward into recent events. He described
O’Donnell’s handling of the 1980 BOD meeting in Los Angeles (at which the
United pilots under MEC Chairman John Ferg had walked out, threatening to
secede from ALPA in protest over the crew complement issue),as “chaotic and
disgraceful”> Huttinger described the O’Donnell years in language that was far
from temperate, repeated charges of doubtful substance,and detailed the abor-
tive move to recall O’Donnell in 1981.> Huttinger finished by accusing O’Donnell
of violating the most sacred of ALPA’s covenants.

“Over the past twelve years,” Huttinger wrote, “the most basic concept of
ALPA—strength through unity—has been ignored.”

Strong words from an“ant.”But they served the purposes of some “elephants”
who wanted very much to get rid of O’Donnell.

Huttinger’s New Orleans meeting drew a gallery of ALPA political activists.
Skip Eglet of Northwest, who had unsuccessfully tried to recruit Gerry Pryde of
United to run against O’Donnell in 1978, although invited, did not attend. But
Hank Duffy, the MEC chairman of Delta was there, quietly observing. So was
Nick Gentile, the former Delta MEC chairman whom many people regarded as
the driving force behind Duffy’s recently announced presidential candidacy.
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“We called ourselves the dragon slayers,” Huttinger laughs.“Nobody could be-
lieve that with my little 35 votes I could get all those guys to come down to New
Orleans, John Gratz of TWA, Tom Beedem of Northwest,Augie Gorse of Eastern,
Hank.I chaired the meeting because it came down on my nickel, I paid for the
rooms. My pitch was that in 1974 at Kansas City we had 65 percent of the vote
against J.J.and we lost. I said we're going to do it again if we’re not careful.”

Huttinger came away from the New Orleans meeting discouraged. He had
hoped that they would unite behind a presidential candidate, but neither Hank
Duffy nor John Gratz, the two announced candidates, would defer to the other.
Although various ideas and strategies for cooperation at the BOD meeting sur-
faced, the only concrete development was that Tom Beedem agreed to forego
his presidential ambitions in the interest of narrowing the field. Beedem, the
widely respected MEC chairman of Northwest, thus secured the support of the
New Orleans group for his candidacy for first vice-president (which he would
lose, coincidentally, to Tom Ashwood of TWA). Huttinger won no promises from
anybody else beyond an agreement that they would sponsor debates for all
announced presidential candidates.

“It was a basis, we all talked,” Huttinger says.“But I could not put the rest of it
together. My guesstimate was that we could not defeat J.J

“Huttinger was just a front,”said O’Donnell later. He had found out about the
meeting in New Orleans after it was held.The cast of characters, many of whom
were previous candidates like John Gratz of TWA, caused him little worry.

“I liked John Gratz, but he would screw up a one-car funeral,” O’Donnell
laughed in 1991.“He looked,acted, and talked like a gorilla; but he was a decent
guy. He didn’t want people to know it,and he was offended if you found out”

JJ.O’Donnell’s political enemies were gathering for the kill in 1982, but they
were by no means assured of toppling him. Since the last BOD meeting in 1980,
things had gotten very dicey for O’Donnell politically. The aborted 1981 SOS
over crew complement, the PATCO strike, the onslaught of deregulation, the
terrible economic downturn in late 1981, Braniff’s bankruptcy,and widespread
pilot furloughs all combined to erode O’Donnell’s political base. But he was a
resilient and resourceful practitioner of the political arts, and he had turned
defeat into victory before. His handling of the divisive crew complement issue,
which had a long and troubled history, provides an object lesson in the perils of
taking J.J. O’'Donnell lightly.

The crew complement issue, in its first incarnation, dealt with the nature of
the third crewmember’s qualifications and who should do the job—a pilot or a
mechanic.? This battle roiled ALPA’s waters for years, finally culminating in a
victory that was almost as bad as defeat. It led to terrible difficulties with the
rest of organized labor and exacerbated the preexisting cancer that would later
take the American Airlines pilot group out of ALPA in 1963.

In the mid-1950s,ALPA came within an eyelash of getting expelled from the
American Federation of Labor (AFL), over the qualifications aspect of the first
crew complement dispute.A motion by the International Brotherhood of Team-
sters (this was before they were kicked out of the AFL-CIO for corruption),
calling for ALPA’s expulsion for “raiding” the jobs of fellow workers, reached the
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floor for action during the 1955 convention.The Teamsters acted on behalf of
the professional nonpilot flight engineers represented by the Flight Engineers
International Association (FEIA).

“Matters looked very bad in terms of probable expulsion, or at least suspen-
sion, of ALPA;” recalled ALPA General Counsel Henry Weiss during a 1990 inter-
view.“We were called upon to make a formal floor response the next day. Clancy
Sayen and the entire Executive Committee were there, and we caucused by
walking around the streets of New York City at midnight.They decided to show
their scorn for the whole thing by not responding.Iwas very much opposed to
that, but I didn’t have very much luck persuading them until I got hold of Dave
Cole, who was a man of great stature in the AFL who also had great standing
with the pilots. I called him in the middle of the night, and Dave said, Tll be
there in the morning.”

Cole, the arbitrator who had formed warm relationships with many pilots
dating back to the Behncke era, arrived in New York and went to work on
ALPA’s behalf. By dint of his influence with the AFL, Cole got the Teamsters’
expulsion resolution shunted off to a committee, where the resolution could be
studied to death.

“We were given to understand that the committee would take no action,”
Weiss recalls of ALPA’s persistent troubles.“Our relationship with the AFL was
not an active one for many years.Then, with the incumbency of J.J. O’Donnell, it
took a more viable tone, as he actively participated in AFL-CIO affairs.].J.had an
instinctive sense of the meaning of trade unions, and he was quite concerned
that ALPA not fall into more trouble over Article Twenty.”

Article XX of the ALPA Constitution and By-Laws, as revised through several
BOD meetings, was the intractable burr under the saddle of the crew comple-
ment issue. Once ALPA had won the war with the FEIA over the qualifications
of the third crewmember, the issue of whether a cockpit should have a third
crewmember still remained.

Article XX explicitly mandated the three-pilot cockpit for certain categories
of large aircraft.This policy dated from the days when the Douglas DC-6 origi-
nally emerged from the factory as a two-pilot aircraft.

ALPA won the first round of this struggle in the 1950s because it had allies.
Lockheed, maker of the famed “Constellations,” favored the three-crewmember
configuration because its aircraft could not be flown without a third
crewmember. The “Connie” had an elaborate flight engineer’s panel, and the
crewmember who sat there had real duties. If Douglas was allowed to take
advantage of improved technology and build a two-pilot aircraft (such as the
DC-6) equal to the Constellation in capacity, it would obtain a decisive competi-
tive advantage in the marketplace. So Lockheed, for purely economic reasons,
sided with ALPA.This aspect of the dispute eerily foreshadowed the B-737/DC-
9 crew complement problem in the 1970s.

The government, for reasons specific to the piston era,had mandated a three-
pilot crew in “overwater” operations and when the gross weight of an aircraft
exceeded 80,000 pounds. Largely owing to ALPA’s political connections and
skill at equating the three-pilot crew with safety, the government would con-
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tinue this policy into the turbojet era. So the government also wound up as an
ally of Article XX policy during the first round, and ALPA won jobs for a whole
generation of pilots in the 1960s because of it.

The three-crewmember era lasted until the emergence of the first significant
jet airliners designed for two pilots, the B-737 and the DC9, both of which
exceeded the old 80,000-pound gross takeoff weight limit. By then, the govern-
ment had dropped the requirement for a third crewmember at that weight
anyway, adding a curious twist to the weight-limit/third-crewmember history.
The first DC9, the “dash 10” model, was deliberately kept under the 80,000
pound limit specifically to avoid exceeding the limit.A contemporary Douglas
Company newsletter, designed to circulate only among employees, listed the
“ramp weight” of the aircraft at 78,500 pounds. By the time Delta received its
first production model DC-9-10, however, the “ramp weight” had soared well
over 80,000 pounds.The truth of Douglas’s motivation will probably never be
known for sure, but the initial design weight of the prototype DC-9-10 appears
to have been a sham designed to circumvent both government and ALPA policy.
In any case, all this deception, if that’s what it was, proved unnecessary,because
the government discarded the 80,000-pound policy shortly before the proto-
type DC9 received certification. Thus the modern crew complement problem
began with a confusing struggle over the DC-9,sharpened into a bitter squabble
over the B-737,and left ALPA with serious internal divisions. By the time it was
over,ALPA would have no allies in either government or industry.

The first DC9, the “Dash 10” series, entered service with Delta in February
1965.Because the DC-9 was a turbojet, it fell under ALPA’s three-pilot policy,and
its crewing would set the precedent for the next generation of similar aircraft.
Braniff had already ordered a comparable aircraft, the BAC 1-11, and would
begin operating it in April 1965, shortly after Delta’s DC9-10 went on the line.
American Airlines, whose pilots had recently left ALPA, had also ordered the
BAC 1-11. Whether ALPA made any sub rosa attempt to coordinate its crew
complement bargaining with the newly formed Allied Pilots Association, the
ALPA clone, is unclear. In any case, the breakup was so rancorous that even if
coordination had been attempted, it probably would have failed. So the initial
contract to fly the DC-9-10 was a pivotal event.

In 1964, after Delta had already ordered the DC9-10, the Delta MEC appointed
a special committee to evaluate the aircraft, with special emphasis on its crewing,
and sent it to the West Coast.This committee, composed of Roy Ferguson, Joe
Meek, and Bud Watson (who would later die in a DC-8 crash in New Orleans),
enjoyed great respect among the Delta pilots.Whatever they decided on crew
complement for the DC-9 would have enormous implications for ALPA’s crew
complement policy.Should they find in favor of a two-pilot operation, the camel
would have its nose under the tent.

We must remember that this pivotal event occurred at a time of enormous
stress for ALPA, barely a year after the American pilots’ defection and while
Charley Ruby, who never wanted the job, was still feeling his way as ALPA’s
president. One would think that somebody at ALPA national would have lob-
bied the Delta Evaluation Committee in favor of the three-pilot cockpit—#no-
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body did! Nor is there evidence that Charley Ruby contacted Delta’s MEC chair-
man at the time, Curtis L. Kennedy,and the question is unanswerable now, since
both men are dead.

“Charley Ruby exerted no pressure on us at all on the DC9-10,” says C.A.
“Snake” Smith, who served on the Delta pilots’ Negotiating Committee at the
time and would later become MEC chairman.

The Delta pilots’ Evaluation Committee, which had a heavy background in
aviation safety matters, recommended the two-pilot cockpit for the DC9-10,
and the MEC went along.They signed a basic agreement (not a “side letter;” so
no one can accuse the Delta pilots of not being “up front” on this issue),with the
company on April 16,1964.The language was specific:“It is hereby agreed that
the pilots of Delta...will fly the DC-9 with a two-man crew”

Charley Ruby approved Delta’s two-pilot operation without argument. Per-
haps he was repaying a political debt to the Delta pilots, whose support had
been crucial in getting him elected in 1962. Chuck Woods, the United MEC
chairman, was furious at Ruby for signing the Delta two-pilot agreement.

“We later had a knock-down, drag-out fight with Woods over the issue,” Smith
remembers. “But we thought we were fat as far as ALPA policy went, and our
experience with the aircraft was that it was a totally safe operation.”

United’s MEC would historically stress the safety aspects of the crew comple-
ment issue, but the Delta pilots were prepared for that.

“Joe Meek, who chaired the DC-9 Evaluation Committee, personally polled
every pilot flying the DC-9 after the first year of line operations,” Smith remem-
bers.“Two out of 75 pilots said they thought it should be three pilots. So when
we went up to Chicago for this meeting with Charley and Chuck Woods, we
just hauled out these letters. Charley looked at them and said “You can’t argue
with the pilots actually flying the line That was it.”

In 1966, Douglas stretched the DC-9 into the “dash-30,” which was 15 feet
longer than the “dash-10"The FAA approved the “dash-30”as a two-pilot aircraft
under the same type certificate as the “dash 10" Another “nine” was already on
the drawing boards, the “dash-50,” which the FAA had already promised to cer-
tificate as a two-pilot aircraft. Because the DC9-50 was comparable in every
way to the Boeing 737,a crisis was afoot.

When PiedmontAirlines’ pilot group signed a“side letter”in its 1967 contract
to fly the B-737 with a two-pilot crew, the crisis had arrived. Charley Ruby at
first refused to approve the Piedmont contract. United had flown the B-737 as a
three-pilot airplane since it had come on their property.Beset with other troubles,
Ruby could not buck the powerful United pilot group. But how could he force
the Piedmont pilots to fly with a third crewmember? ALPA’s Article XX policy,
now without any external allies and facing internal rejection by several pilot
groups, clearly needed re-thinking.

“The practical reality was that the pilots were going to fly that airplane with
two crewmembers, or management was going to be in a position to force them
to fly it,” says Hank Duffy, who as cochair of ALPA’s National Crew Complement
Committee in 1980 (along with Dick Cosgrave of United) made a careful study
of the issue’s history.
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Management could entice pilots to fly these new aircraft with blandishments
that were almost irresistible, and they weren’t always just money.At Wien, for
example, management tried unsuccessfully to lure its pilots into giving up the
third crewmember on the B-737 by offering to buy a local service carrier and
make the B-737 second officers into captains on Twin Otters. This offer was
attractive because, while sitting on the jumpseat of one of these new aircraft
was a job, it was a lousy one.The third crewmember had nothing to do, and
ALPA would find itself waging a long struggle, contractually, to get management
to give these pilots “meaningful duties.” But all this aside, if ALPA could not tie
the third crewmember concept to something concrete (and the safety aspect
would eventually emerge as the most viable), then the whole thing would smack
of “featherbedding.”

The 1968 BOD attempted a fix. The United pilots, under pressure from their
management to operate with two pilots to meet the challenge of the airline’s
competitors, wanted a strong Article XX that would force all B-737 operators to
use three pilots. Bill Davis, United MEC chairman, knew that junior pilots who
were then flying the B-727 would undergo massive furloughs once the B-737
replaced it on many routes. But he wanted somebody else to propose the new
Article XX so that it would not appear to be just a United power play. Capt.
Gerald Goss of Frontier agreed to draft the new crew complement policy. Ironi-
cally, the new Article XX would,a decade later, get Goss’s Frontier pilots placed
into ALPA trusteeship when they broke ranks and agreed to fly the B-737 with
two pilots.

“Bill Davis and the United pilots really didn’t have the courage to go it alone
on the B-737, Goss recalls.“Management was stonewalling them,and he wanted
ALPA’s help.But he couldn’t get the vote from ALPA the way he was drafting the
resolution,so I rewrote it.The way I worded the new Article Twenty was that ‘all
new aircraft must be considered for three pilots.The policy wasn’t set in stone.”

The Ruby era ended with gaping holes in ALPA’s crew complement policy.
Officially,no ALPA pilot group was supposed to be flying with fewer than three
pilots on any “new” aircraft, like the B-737. But what about the new DC-9-50?
Was it “new;” or just “stretched?”

When JJ.O’Donnell became ALPA’s fourth president in January 1971, he tried
to defuse the issue through diplomacy. He personally went to the Douglas fac-
tory, talked to Donald Douglas himself, and received what he was sure was a
promise that the next generation of DC-9s, the “dash-80,"would be a three-pilot
jetlinerThe United pilots wanted to draw the line at the nose of the DC-9-50, the
Delta pilots insisted on drawing it at the tail.As for the B-737, O’Donnell, hew-
ing close to official ALPA policy,intended to draw the line at its nose, no matter
that the FAA had certified it for two-pilot operations. From the government’s
viewpoint, the matter of crewing was simply a labor dispute.

Two major aircraft corporations were now involved, and if ALPA could not
force them into crewing two essentially similar aircraft with three pilots, its
crew complement policy would clearly damage the commercial prospects of
one of them. Having an external enemy like Boeing was bad enough, but now
serious internal divisions among pilot groups over the policy arose.
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With management offering lucrative new contracts to the pilots of several
airlines if they would agree to fly the B-737 or the DC-9-50 with two
crewmembers, something had to give.To appreciate the ramifications of this
dispute, we must remember that a pilot already flying the “Nine” could not tell
from the cockpit whether it was a“dash 30” or a “dash 50!”

The BOD meeting held at Kansas City in 1974 lasted an interminable 10 days.
The closely contested presidential election that O’'Donnell won accounted for
part of its length, but the bitter internal struggle over crew complement ac-
counted for the rest. For two full days, the delegates fought over it. Finally, they
approved what appeared, at first glance, to be a policy set in stone. But was it?

The reaffirmed and reworded Article XX required three crewmembers for all
“new turbine-powered or jet aircraft certificated after January 1, 1975” (other
than short-haul aircraft certificated for commuter and air taxi operations). It
then listed the aircraft likely to fit the three-crewmember category, including
such speculative ventures as the “swing panel”B-727.The policy included the B-
737;but on the DC-9-50, the policy waffled. Aware that Delta’s pilots were unal-
terably opposed to the third crewmember on their DC-9-50s, the BOD permit-
ted that model to fall under an imprecise definition. Essentially, the language
required that O’Donnell fight hard for its inclusion in the same category as all
other “new” aircraft but, in effect, recognized that he would fail.

“There was no doubt that we were drawing the line at the tail of the DC-9-50,”
Hank Duffy recalls of the 1974 BOD.“To require otherwise would have forced
several pilot groups out of ALPA”

On all other aircraft, including the B-737, ALPA would nail the flag to the mast
and go down with guns firing. Proof of this intention lay in the BOD’s approval
of drastic measures should any airline try to fly the B-737 as a two-pilot aircraft.
ALPA would pay full strike benefits to any pilot group that walked out over
crewing the B-737.The Association would consider the possibility of a nation-
wide SOS (ALPA’s “nuke”) should any airline force its pilots to fly the B-737 with
two pilots.And ALPA explicitly threatened to impose a trusteeship on any pilot
group that broke the policy, either through a direct contract or a “side letter” of
agreement.

As we know,ALPA would eventually lose this war,when the Presidential Emer-
gency “Fact Finding” Board appointed by Ronald Reagan in 1981 ruled in favor
of two-pilot crews for any aircraft designed that way. But did ALPA have a realis-
tic chance of winning this struggle, and did J.J. O’'Donnell do everything he
could to salvage the third crewmember?

An answer, of sorts, to these questions might be found in the experience of
the pilots of Texas International (TXI).We will meet them later in their capacity
as the first pilot group to face Frank Lorenzo, but for now, let us consider their
response to the crew complement issue. How did it play out at the “grass roots”?

“When Frank Lorenzo arrived on the property in 1973, recalls former TXI
MEC chairman Dennis Higgins, “he wanted a commitment from the pilots that
we would fly any new-generation airplane with two pilots, not three. We al-
ready had the DC-9, he was looking at the DC-9-50, but they weren’t even cut-
ting tin on that airplane yet. We had never flown anything but two-man air-
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planes, we knew that our pilots absolutely would not fight him on that issue,
and even our MEC was divided.As leaders, we wanted to uphold ALPA policy,
but we also wanted to do what was good for TXI”

While they sought to resolve this dilemma, TXI’s pilot leaders, consisting of
four local council officers plus the MEC chairman, stalled Lorenzo for several
months. But when the first DC-9-50 rolled off the assembly line, the issue came
to a head. Seeking to break the deadlock, Lorenzo arranged for the entire TXI
MEC to travel to California for a look at the new jetliner.

“We had to keep it from becoming a public issue with our pilots as long as we
possibly could,” Higgins remembers.“But then the company, to put pressure on
the MEC, invited us—Floyd Carpenter, Buddy Benedict, Gordon Darnell, and
me—out to look at the first -50 being fabricated. Buddy was saying, ‘What a
gorgeous airplane, I sure would like to fly it,I bet I could make a lot of money on
that airplane’”

With his MEC eroding, Higgins and Carpenter, who had been an ALPA stal-
wart on TXI since the early 1950s, tried to hold the line.

“Iremember Floyd arguing, The very last thing we need to do in facing Lorenzo
is to piss off ALPA,;” Higgins says. “But the other guys on the MEC were saying,
‘Well, ALPA’s constitution doesn’t really apply’—stuff like that.”

Higgins called O’Donnell from California, asking for help. O’Donnell invited
Higgins to fly with the entire MEC directly to Washington,D.C.,instead of going
back to Texas.

“We had been out there for two days,but we changed planes,got onTWA,and
flew nonstop to Washington,”Higgins says.“O’Donnell had a car and driver pick
us up and take us to Congressional Country Club,where we met him for dinner.
He did three hours, nonstop, telling us we were ‘on point, what the crew comple-
ment issue was about. Buddy Benedict was just dazzled by O’Donnell. He went
back toTexas and says, T'll never fly that goddamn plane unless it has three seats
on it!””

So it is foolish to think that J.J. O’Donnell didn’t give ALPA’s crew complement
policy his full support and best effort. Had he been president in 1964 at the
time the Delta pilots were evaluating the DC-9, he would have insisted on up-
holding ALPA policy. O’'Donnell, as we have seen, was adamant about that. But
evidence shows that he did not think the issue was winnable.Two of his closest
associates in ALPA, Executive Administrator Jack Bavis and Secretary Tom
Ashwood, corroborate this.

“The funny part is that O’Donnell didn’t really believe the DC-9 should have
a third crewman on it,” Jack Bavis asserts.“But since it was in the Constitution
and By-Laws, he would move hell and high water to make sure that it either
didn’t get certificated or that each pilot group would live up to the policy.As
long as the big airlines were holding the lines on crew complement, manage-
ment couldn’t afford to take them on in a strike. But when it got to the smaller
groups whose pilots could be replaced in a strike,and if the rest of ALPA refused
to call a strike in support of them, there was just no way to sustain it.The third
crewman was just a thorn in our side, eroding us through pilot groups electing
not to join ALPA and through internal dissension.”
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Tom Ashwood faults O’Donnell for not showing more resolve, and he views
the loss of the third crewmember as “the biggest mistake we made.” Ashwood
believed the crew complement issue was winnable on its merits.

“Crew complement was an issue I wasn’t really concerned with until I began
to realize its industrial implications,”says Ashwood, a dapper, articulate man.“As
a result, I became an ardent three-pilot-crew supporter. I recognized what it
was doing to ALPA, because people had strong beliefs both ways. Delta was
making threats about pulling out, United was muscling everybody. United was
the 300-pound gorilla, but right behind them was Delta at about 230, and of
course O’Donnell’s between a rock and a hard place. I argued vigorously with
O’Donnell that we could win it, that Delta would not leave ALPA and would toe
the line. I never went public with our disagreement out of a sense of loyalty
toward him. He took a way out that I didn’t approve. Frankly, it was a set-up with
his friend Drew Lewis [Reagan’s Secretary of Transportation].I mean, the results
of that Emergency Board on crew complement were known beforehand. But I
recognized the dilemma O’Donnell faced. Opportunists were using crew comple-
ment against him for political purposes.”

In fact, O’Donnell remains convinced that the entire crew complement issue
was a political ploy from the beginning. We must remember that in 1974, when
the BOD'’s actions sharpened the dispute and severely limited O’Donnell’s flex-
ibility, his arch-rival Bill Arsenault of United orchestrated the dispute. Clearly,
Arsenault had to worry about massive furloughs on United if the B-737 reverted
to a two-pilot aircraft. O’Donnell thinks Arsenault not only had a secret crew
complement agenda, but that he also outsmarted himself.

“Arsenault may deny it,but I have it on good authority that he said to his MEC,
‘We’re going to milk this crew complement thing for everything it’s worth,”
O’Donnell declared in 1991.“He was going to sell the third man off the B-737.
But it got away from him! He convinced the United pilots that the third man
was necessary for safety,and the safety people weren’t about to give him up.”

John LeRoy of United in the late 1970s chaired a specially appointed national
committee on crew complement for O’Donnell. The focus of LeRoy’s commit-
tee was safety. By studying the whole range of FAA incident and accident re-
ports, his committee found that the three-crewmember cockpit was safer than
the two.

“This report incensed the Delta pilots,” LeRoy recalls. “Because the DC-9-50
was coming on the line, we argued that it was a new airplane. Douglas execu-
tives were so worried about it that they came to the 1974 BOD meeting and
assured us that they had absolutely no intention of trying to stretch the DC-9
beyond the -50.We put on a seminar for the pilots of airlines that had antipathy
for the safety argument, and we convinced those guys”

‘Which leaves us with the question of O’Donnell’s commitment to the third
crewmember.Answers to this question can be found in the history of the Wien
strike, the first practical test of ALPA’s post-1974 crew complement policy.

The Wien Air Alaska strike of 1977 lasted 22 months. J.J. O’ Donnell would
fight the good fight over crew complement at Wien,whatever his private doubts.
As has so often happened in ALPA’s history, developments on small airlines
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would have large consequences. It happened on little Long & Harmon Airlines
in 1934, which Dave Behncke used as a test case for enforcing the pilot pay
scales and working conditions dictated by “Decision 83” of the National Labor
Board.’ It would now happen on Wien, where a long strike on a small airline
with fewer than 200 pilots would not only be the first step in laying the crew
complement issue to rest, it would also provide a powerful example of
O’Donnell’s ability to handle a political dilemma.

The pilots of Wien Air Alaska prided themselves on being the best foul-weather
fliers in the world. Many of them had come up as bush pilots under the nearly
legendary Noel Wien, the airline’s founder. Until Wien lost control of his airline in
the 1960s, it was, by all accounts,a good place to work—a real pilots’airline. ALPA
made Noel Wien an honorary member in 1974, shortly before his death.Two of
his sons and a grandson flew the line for Wien and were ALPA members. They
would walk out with their fellow pilots when the strike occurred on May 8,1977.

The strike followed a brief period of ownership by a conglomerate called
Household Finance and a leveraged buyout engineered by an entrepreneur
named Jim Flood. Flood then became Wien’s CEO and confronted the enor-
mous problem all such financial manipulators must solve—how to pay off the
debt incurred by acquiring the company. Flood proceeded to give ALPA its first
taste of what deregulation would be like. The Wien strike, which lasted for 653
days before ending on March 1,1979, was thus only partially about ALPA’s crew
complement policy. Certainly Wien’s management wanted to get rid of the third
crewmember on the B-737,but the device employed to do it was almost more
of an issue than the substance of the crew complement issue itself.

“It was like a throwback to the 1930s,” says EC.“Chip” Mull of US Airways,
who flew helicopters in Vietnam before hiring on with Wien in 1974.“We had a
constant problem with out-of-seniority flying, which the company would not
negotiate with us.They were just union-busters.”

The aspect of Wien’s operation that directly provoked the strike was the so-
called “hire/fire” system. A pilot assigned to the second officer position on B-
737s simply could not survive his probationary year. Wien routinely fired and
then rehired each pilot on the anniversary of his hiring!

“The only way you could get off probation was to get on the Sky Van or the F-
27 says Mull.“Until you could, you were forever at the bottom of the seniority
list, because they’d issue you a new number each time they fired and rehired
you. Some people stayed five years and never got off probation.”

Adding to the problem of rotating pilots at the bottom of the seniority list
(which meant that only luck got you off the B-737 jumpseat), Flood used a
technique that would later be identified with corporate raiders like Carl Icahn
and Frank Lorenzo—he began selling off assets to service the airline’s debt.
Confronted with an intractable labor situation and strong fears that manage-
ment was jeopardizing their jobs by selling off vital infrastructure (an early form
of what Eastern pilots would later call “upstreaming”), the Wien pilots, under
the leadership of MEC chairman Ron Wood, walked out.

Flood promptly advertised for permanent replacements. Eventually, he man-
aged a feat familiar to the Old Guys who lived through the National Airlines
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strike of 1948. Using a dozen Wien pilots who crossed the picket line (the “in-
house scabs”) and another 69 hired off the street (the “out-house scabs™),Flood
completely “scabbed out” the Wien pilots and maintained a reduced schedule.

But this did not mean that the Wien strikers failed. They managed a good
strike. Using the financial support of ALPA, the 132 Wien strikers maintained
picket lines, traveled to New Zealand and Ireland to shut down (by appealing to
sympathetic socialist and labor government officials) training operations that
Wien was using,and won support from organized labor. But as the strike dragged
on and no settlement appeared in sight, once again, like the Southern Airways
strike of 1960, the Wien pilots obviously could not win without some form of
overt political intervention.®

“That was the most difficult strike I dealt with,”said O’Donnell in 1991 .“I won’t
say the Wien pilots were sacrificial lambs to our crew complement policy, be-
cause we got them all back to work. But Jim Flood had hired a couple of ex-scabs
in management who were just union-breakers who wanted to destroy ALPA.Ron
Wood provided super leadership and kept his pilots together. He was dedicated
toALPA,and he believed in the third crewmember;and let me tell you, if I ever get
into a war, I'd want those Wien pilots with me.They hung tough.”

TheWien pilots, whose strike benefits were hardly lavish (B-737 second offic-
ers, for example, received a flat $1,000 per month,about a third of their prestrike
pay), uniformly praise O’Donnell’s support, emotional and otherwise. He made
four separate trips to Anchorage, and Jack Bavis made more. But as the strike
dragged on, the Wien strikers came to know all the highs and lows that only
people who have been through such an ordeal can appreciate. J.J. O’Donnell
was the focal point of all their hopes.

“There was a real question as to whether the Wien pilots would ever get back
on the job,” says ALPA General Counsel Henry Weiss. “My sense was that the
issue of crew complement was no longer a live one for ALPA”

The Wien strike would ultimately be settled by a Presidential Emergency Board
(PEB) appointed by Jimmy Carter.As a condition for their support of the Airline
Deregulation Act of 1978, Democrats in Congress required the PEB. While the
PEB ruled against Flood’s “permanent replacement” scabs and assigned them to
the bottom of the seniority list (which effectively ended their careers at Wien),
it also “found” that the Wien pilots should fly the B-737 with only two pilots.
While specifically disavowing that its finding was in any way a statement on
either side of the safety argument, the PEB nevertheless dealt ALPA’s crew comple-
ment policy a serious blow.

“O’Donnell’s words said he was committed to the three-crewmember con-
cept,”John LeRoy believes.“But he was beginning to see political weaknesses in
his own position;and the real arguments aside, I believe he came to the conclu-
sion that this was going to be so divisive that ALPA couldn’t survive it

Nor would the Wien story have a happy ending. Flood’s operation gave the
illusion of health almost until the end,and the pilot group even expanded slightly.
But in November 1984, Wien “temporarily suspended” service and went bank-
rupt shortly thereafter. The long, proud history of Wien Air Alaska, which dated
back to the era of wooden wings, was over.
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ALPA would remain publicly committed to the third crewmember, but the
long Wien strike eroded support inside ALPA. The Frontier pilots, their carrier
stressed by the adverse effect of deregulation and wary of the fate that the Wien
pilots had suffered, had agreed, before the Wien strike, to give up the third
crewmember on their B-737s.Their open defiance of Article XX was something
O’Donnell would could not tolerate. On Feb. 19, 1976, O’Donnell took an un-
precedented action—he placed the Frontier MEC in “trusteeship.”The practical
effect of ALPA’s imposition of trusteeship on the Frontier pilots was nil—they
flew as a two-pilot operation right through the Wien strike and went on as if
nothing had happened.At the conclusion of the Wien strike, O’'Donnell quietly
withdrew the trusteeship,and he would never move to impose it again on any
other pilot group because of an Article XX violation.

With a whole new generation of two-pilot aircraft,such as the Airbus A310 and
the Boeing 757/767 ,arriving on the scene, ALPA was outgunned. By 1980,ALPA’s
crew complement policy had virtually no support aside from the International
Federation of Air Line Pilots Associations, which promised to boycott all two-
pilot airliners. Nobody took IFALPA’s threat seriously.

The safety argument appeared to wane, as the public grew tired of hearing
about it. Even the death by heart attack of Capt.Lloyd Wilcox at the controls of his
Braniff B-747 enroute from Honolulu to Dallas in March 1979, which seemed
tailor-made to prove ALPA’s point,evoked only yawns.As luck would have it, First
Officer Jim Cunningham had previously captained B-727s, and an FAA check
airman who was fully qualified to fly the B-747 was aboard riding as a passenger.
One can only imagine the new life ALPA’s safety argument would have acquired
had this incident played out like the American Flyers crash.In April 1966,after the
captain of a Lockheed Electra died of a heart attack at the controls during a mili-
tary charter flight, the first officer could not handle the emergency.All 72 people
aboard died near Ardmore, Okla. Braniff’s Jim Cunningham saved the day in 1979,
but his feat of airmanship stirred no widespread demand from the public in favor
of the third crewmember as a safety factor.

JJ. O’Donnell, whose handling of ALPA’s politics had reached a plateau in
1978, found himself increasingly on the defensive. His supple handling of the
Wien strike indicated he was far from finished politically, but he was damaged
by it nevertheless. The Wien strikers won nothing except self-respect and their
jobs back—as a two-pilot operation.

Perhaps the Braniff pilot’s death was an omen. 1

NOTES

! Of course, Group V had many “ants,” while Group I might have only two “elephants,” or conceivably
only one, should deregulation result in a “super carrier”An airline’s position would shift according to its
fortunes, with successful expanding carriers rising, while weak, declining carriers fell. The first group
alignment after 1974 was as follows: Group I— Eastern and United; Group II—Delta and TWA; Group
11— Northwest and Pan Am; Group IV—Allegheny, Braniff, Continental, and Western; Group V—24 “ants,”
including airlines like Texas International, which had 400 pilots in 1974.

2 See “Blue Skies and MEC Wars,” Ch. 15, for a full treatment of the walkout.

3Which will be covered later—see “The End of the O’'Donnell Era,” Ch.7.

4 For a full discussion see “Safety and Crew Complement in the 1950s,” Flying the Line, Ch. 17.

> See “Flying for a Rogue Airline,” Flying the Line,Ch. 8.

¢ See “The Southern Airways Strike of 1960, Flying the Line,Ch. 18.
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LEFT: A weary Charley
Ruby hands over ALPA to
an almost visibly eager
JJ. 0'Donnell in 1970.

ABOVE: O’Donnell addresses the
attendees at the AFL-CIO convention
while AFL-CIO Executive Adminis-
trator Tom Donohue and President
George Meany look on.

RIGHT: O’'Donnell with AFL-CIO
Vice-President Lane Kirkland and
Capt. Mike Lyon, Pan Am’s MEC
chairman. Under O'Donnell, ALPA’s
relations with organized labor
warmed considerably from the
deep freeze under Ruby.




ABOVE: “Skyjackings”: men with guns and bombs from Beirut to Cairo to Las Vegas demonstrated the
potential for violence directed at airline pilots which characterized the 1970s.

BELOW: Approaching the deadline to “hit the mattresses” during the abortive 1972 skyjacking SOS,
ALPA general counsel, Henry Weiss, and J.J. 0'Donnell leave the United States Court House in Washington,
D.C,, after an injunction hearing following O'Donnell’s “Meet the Press” television appearance.
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RIGHT: O’'Donnell’s rise within the
ranks of organized labor led him
to become, in effect, a trouble-
shooter for George Meany to other
airline unions. The AFL-CIO looked
to 0'Donnell to be a mediating
influence with PATCO because of
his long friendship with PATCO’s
then president, John Leyden.

ABOVE: UAL MEC Chairman
John Ferg, center, at SOS meeting
in Atlanta. Years later, he would
gain infamy when he crossed

the picket line to fly during the
United pilots’ strike.

LEFT: Capt. JJ. “Bud” Ruddy
(UAL), air safety coordinator for
Washington, D.C., converses with
television reporters about safety
issues during ALPA's Oct. 21, 1972,
S0S picket of the White House.




TOP LEFT: Capt. Richard Flournoy (Trans World), one of O’Donnell’s most persistent critics in the early 1970s.
ABOVE RIGHT: TWA's John Gratz, typically assertive, makes a point on behalf of Rich Flournoy at the 1974
BOD meeting.

ABOVE LEFT: Eastern’s Bob Tully, first vice-president under Ruby, was a significant force in inter-ALPA affairs.
He was seen by many as the pilot who should have been ALPA’s president in 1970 instead of 0'Donnell.
BELOW: Capt. Lee Higman (United), center, was one of many who took O’Donnell lightly—and paid the price.
0'Donnell easily defeated Higman in 1974.




Northwest pilots were forced to strike
their airline for 3 months in 1972.
Carrier management had the use of a
Mutual Aid Pact with other carriers
to pool their financial reserves as a
hedge against the pilots’ job action.
The MAP survived for 20 years before
its demise in 1978 as a casualty of
deregulation and an intense ALPA
lobbying campaign.
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WIEN -AIR ALASKA
ON STRIKE !

When the Wein Air Alaska pilots
were forced to strike from May 8,
1977, to March 1, 1979, the dispute
was partially about ALPA's crew
complement policy. The airline’s
CEO wanted to shed the third
crewmember on the B-737. He
routinely “fired” a pilot assigned as
4 B-737 second officer and then
“rehired” him on the pilot’s
anniversary date thereby never
allowing the pilot to complete
probation. When the CEO began
selling off assets to pay off debt
incurred from acquiring the airline,
the pilots hit the bricks.



ABOVE: F/O John LeRoy (United) nearly won the internal fight over

the third crewmember on the B-737. His persuasive approach and a
fierce competitiveness nearly sank the deal 0'Donnell had worked
behind-the-scenes with the incoming Reagan Administration. Shown are
the newly elected Executive Vice-Presidents in 1976. They include, from
left, F/0 Harry Hoglander (Trans World), LeRoy, Capt. Don McLennan
(Pan Am), Capt. Gary Thomas (Continental), and F/O Stan Poynor
(Texas International).

ABOVE: Capt. Joe Meek (Delta)
doomed ALPA's “Article XX policy
mandating a third crewman in the
cockpit of the DC-9 and its variants. A
decade earlier he had headed an
evaluation team at Delta that agreed to
fly the DC-9 with only two pilots.
LEFT: Bob Rubens (NCA), left, almost
single-handedly caused revision of the
regional vice-presidency system. Using
his office as an independent power
base, he was a constant thorn in
0'Donnell’s side during the early 1970s.
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ABOVE: Braniff had famed painter/sculptor Alexander Calder
design paint schemes for its aircraft.

LEFT: In June 1982 Braniff employees auctioned off personal
items at Dallas’s Love Field to help raise cash until they could find
new jobs. One Braniff family sold its pet dog. Other items that went
on the block were cars, boats, and real estate.

BELOW: Two Braniff pilots prepare to end this leg of their journey.

FAR LEFT: Group II Executive
Vice-President and Eastern MEC
Chairman August H. “Augie” Gorse
dealt 0'Donnell a serious setback
in the Braniff Latin America route
acquisition in 1983.

LEFT: Real estate salesman, Bud
Cebell, a Braniff 727 pilot, shows
off the miniature house his new
employer uses to promote the
agency. Cebell helped numerous
Braniff pilots find work.
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CHAPTER 5

THE BRANIFF DEBACLE
Deregulation Hits Home

ike the phoenix, that mythological bird that rose from the ashes with new

life at each death, Braniff rose from the ashes of its first bankruptcy in 1982,
only to fall victim, again, to a second bankruptcy in 1989. General questions
concerning ALPA’s role in the double debacle of “Bankruptcy I and II” linger in
the minds of most airline pilots.What could (or should) ALPA have done? This
question will forever be etched in acid for the Braniff pilots who lived through
the bankruptcies.

The story of Branift’s life, rebirth, and death touches the very core of every
working airline pilot’s experience. Every pilot remembers each intimate detail
of that first job search, from the initial idea of being an airline pilot (usually
during some adolescent fantasy), to that first source of information about a
possible job (perhaps during military service, when it dawns on a pilot that
there are easier ways to make a living than landing on a carrier in mid-Pacific),
to the letters of inquiry written (;nany letters), to the first return contact from
an airline (any airline). Furthermore, the airline pilot who cannot recall the
most minute details of the interview process that brought that first job offer
from an airline—the challenging written tests, the “friendly” chats with austere
Chief Pilots, those conversations in hallways with other equally nervous appli-
cants, the long wait for the verdict of those mysterious corporate decision-mak-
ers in personnel departments—is rare indeed.

While all pilots who ever thought they might like to become an airline pilot
probably had an idea of which airline he would like to work for, the truth is that
most pilots have always taken the first job offered—by any airline.

On May 12,1982, when Braniff became the first major airline to go bankrupt,
throwing 1,200 airline pilots out of work, an almost audible shudder shook
through the ranks of the profession. Among airline pilots everywhere, the uni-
versal reaction was “There but for the grace of God go 1

How many pilots working for other airlines had flirted with Braniff during
their job search? How many would have taken a job with Braniff, had another
airline not called sooner? How many pilots (like young Hank Duffy, a future
ALPA president, when he first began contemplating an airline pilot’s career)
were admirers of Braniff’s dash, verve, and sleek, sophisticated image?

As the first casualties of the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978, the Braniff pilots
are entitled to a special and unenviable place in this history.While other airlines
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have technically gone bankrupt since the passage of the Civil AeronauticsAct of
1938 (notably Capital Airlines in 1961), the effect of these failures on pilots was
minimal. Because the airline industry was a regulated public utility, with man-
agement guaranteed a certain fixed return on invested capital, poor manage-
ment decisions seldom resulted in the total failure of a company. Under the
leavening hand of government regulation, managers who proved themselves
incompetent to manage found themselves forced out by government regula-
tors,but the airlines themselves survived. Before financial collapse destroyed an
airline’s credibility with travel agents and the public, the regulators would inter-
vene. Either by direct subsidy of federal dollars coupled with “crisis supervi-
sion” of errant managers, or (if the failures of management were too egregious)
by forced merger with another carrier, the old system of direct government
regulation preserved the integrity of the air transportation system.The govern-
ment, after all, had created the system, so the government was responsible for
seeing that it survived.

The “shotgun marriages” of forced mergers were seldom pleasant under the
pre-1978 system of direct government regulation, but they were a lot better
than the fate awaiting Braniff’s pilots.In 1961, the Capital pilots,accustomed to
a more relaxed corporate culture, found the transition to United very trying.!
But at least they had jobs. The Braniff pilots would be left with nothing, en-
meshed in the first great test flight of the unproven vehicle called deregulation.
For the first time since 1938, airline pilots would find themselves almost com-
pletely at the mercy of free market economics.

What happened at Braniff? When the airline abruptly quit flying in May 1982,
the Braniff pilots (including ALPA’s leaders) were as bewildered as everybody
else.In fact, the MEC chairman at Braniff, Joe Baranowski, admitted at the time
that lack of information, aside from “rah, rah stuff from management,” nearly
drove to distraction MEC members trying to track the company’s real situation.
All that Braniff’s pilots really knew was that the company was sending mixed
signals, saying things were bad one day, only to announce later that they were
pretty good.

The general uncertainty about Braniff’s economic viability caused pilot-room
bulletin boards to blossom with offers to do whatever was necessary to keep
the airline flying. Many pilots openly offered to fly free for one month. But the
company had to come to the pilots with straight facts and requests for help
first! Lacking full cooperation from management, the pilots of Braniff of had no
way of knowing just how bad the situation was, or what they could do to help.

“Everything we knew, we got from the newspapers,” Baranowski declared.

This information deficit confirmed an ancient gripe among Branift’s“Old Guys.”
Braniff never told line pilots anything, and middle managers at the point of
operational contact seemed to take perverse pleasure in ignoring any sugges-
tion for improvement, particularly if it came from a pilot! Former Braniff pilot
John Nance, whose book Splash of Colors chronicles the aitline’s downfall,
attributes many of the airline’s problems to these managers, whom he calls
“empty suits,” who were “confused, ill-trained,” and working in a corporate at-
mosphere that was “disastrously ineffective”

50




The Braniff Debacle

John Giberson, the veteran ALPA activist and former IFALPA vice-president
whose service dates back to 1947, agrees with Nance. A World War II Marine
pilot, Giberson came to Braniff via merger with Kansas City-based Mid-Conti-
nent Airlines in 1952. Having gone through it all with Braniff, including the
initial 1982 bankruptcy, Giberson returned to line flying and retired in 1984,
before what came to be called “Bankruptcy II” in 1989.

“The vast majority of our middle management were idiots,” Giberson says
bluntly.“It was often said that Harding Lawrence had a drinking problem.Well, if
S0, it was those idiots who drove him to drink”

In fact, one lesson pilots would learn, collectively, from the Braniff debacle
was that corporate incompetence was something that they could not ignore.
ALPA would have to develop its own sources of information about events tran-
spiring in corporate suites. To do otherwise, when jobs and careers were at
stake, would mean that ALPA would enter the brave new world of deregulation
blind. Because of Braniff, most MECs would begin learning how to track the
business side of their airlines, acting almost as “shadow” managements. Corpo-
rate analysis done at ALPA National in support of these “shadow managements”
would grow steadily during the 1980s. Pilots on many airlines, particularly those
whose situation was most precarious,like TWA and Eastern, would spend their
days anxiously monitoring corporate decisions instead of flying. After all, the
pilots of an airline had infinitely more at stake than the managers running the
airlines, what with “golden parachutes” guaranteeing these executives a soft
landing, no matter how poorly they performed.

If history teaches any lessons at all, it is that surface explanations for great
events seldom reveal the real truth. But in Braniff’s case, the surface explana-
tions are plausible enough. If fuel prices hadn’t skyrocketed in 1979, just as
Harding Lawrence, Branift’s president, began his spectacular postderegulation
expansion plan, maybe Braniff today would be one of the “megacarriers”If rising
fuel prices and economic recession had not ravaged the airline industry in 1982,
maybe we would today think of Braniff the same way we think of Delta, which in
some respects was Braniff’s historical twin.If Harding Lawrence had not agreed
to finance his rapid fleet expansion with a sickening burden of debt (at 2 per-
cent over the prime rate, whatever it was"), Braniff might have become Delta.

Are rising fuel prices,unmanageable debt,and drastic reduction in passenger
traffic owing to the worst economic recession since the Great Depression of
1929, sufficient to explain Braniff’s failure? Other airlines survived under similar
circumstances. Why didn’t Braniff?

Braniff was an historical anomaly from the start, with a weak route structure
and a powerful direct competitor,American Airlines.The reasons for Braniff’s
weakness lay in the circumstances of its birth. Two Oklahoma brothers, Paul
and Tom Braniff, founded the first incarnation of Braniff in 1928, primarily to
serve oilmen who needed rapid transportation. Of the two brothers, Paul Braniff
was the flyer, Tom the businessman. Beginning with four Stinson “Detroiter”
aircraft, they eventually served a route that included Tulsa and Oklahoma City,
Okla., and Wichita Falls and Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas. In 1929, shortly before the
great Wall Street crash, they sold out to Universal Airlines.
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The Braniff brothers’ real business was insurance, not aviation, but their brief
experience with running an airline had intrigued them. After the Great Depres-
sion began, airplanes were cheap and pilots plentiful. So, using two six-passen-
ger Lockheed Vegas, the Braniffs promptly got back into the business in 1930,
christening the second version of their airline “Braniff Airways.” But they were
surprised to learn that the Post Office had already awarded all the airmail con-
tracts to large corporations at a conference held in Washington, D.C., in 1930.
These conferences, while not exactly secret, were certainly low profile and
restricted to selected inside bidders,among whom the Braniffs weren’t included.

The Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 ended a statutory system embodied in
the Civil Aeronautics Act of 1938. However, the idea of regulation began not
with Franklin D.Roosevelt’s New Deal, but with his predecessor,Herbert Hoover.
As Secretary of Commerce in the Harding and Coolidge administrations, Hoover
worried that the same fragmented system that bedeviled rail transportation
would cripple the new airlines. Owing to the lack of planning, the nation’s rail
system was inefficient and irrational.In fact, to cope with the emergency mobi-
lization of World War I, President Woodrow Wilson had to nationalize the rail-
roads to introduce some order among them.

Hoover,a noted efficiency expert,seized control of the budding airlines through
his Department of Commerce in the 1920s and set out to build them into a
system that would be efficient, safe, and self-sustaining without government
subsidy. Once Hoover became president, he ordered his postmaster general,
Walter Folger Brown,aToledo,Ohio,lawyer,to use airmail contracts to force the
gaggle of fiercely competing airlines into a series of mergers that would turn
their operation into a real “system” serving the whole nation.

From the beginning, Brown intended to force the small fry (like the Braniff
brothers) out of the airline business. Brown’s reasoning was that only large,
well-financed corporations could afford the initial capital outlays that would
make passenger operations successful. Brown figured that, eventually, passen-
ger service would subsidize mail operations—and the government could get
out of the business altogether. But before this could happen, the airlines would
need a good, heavy dose of old-fashioned cartelization—under government
guidance.

Angry at being excluded from this system,Tom Braniff, who was well-con-
nected politically,led a public assault on Brown'’s policies. The Braniff brothers,
to prove they could fly more cheaply, extended their airline to serve Kansas
City and Chicago—which, with grave portents for the future, put them directly
at odds with powerful American.

Sensing that he might yet come out of this business with a hefty profit,Tom
Braniff used his resources and the venture capital of wealthy Oklahoma oilmen
to keep Paul’s airline alive while waiting for political fortune to smile. He made
much of the greater speed of Braniff’s Vegas, which could whisk deal-making
oilmen from Tulsa to Ft. Worth more quickly than the subsidized competition’s
lumbering Fords and Fokkers.

Ultimately, Brown would be fully vindicated. The courts found that he had
done nothing improper in laying the groundwork for the regulated mail and
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passenger system that FDR and the New Dealers copied almost totally. But at
first, when they swept into power on March 3, 1933, they tried to dismantle
Brown'’s national airline system.A series of spectacular Senate hearings chaired
by an Alabama Democrat named Hugo A. Black, whom Roosevelt would soon
appoint to the Supreme Court, offered the Braniff brothers a forum. Senators
bought their tales of fraud and chicanery in the awarding of the 1930 airmail
routes. In February 1934, Roosevelt canceled the contracts and ordered the
Army to fly the mail. This experiment lasted only a few months, whereupon the
new postmaster general, James A. Farley (an old style New York politician who
knew how to reward friends and punish enemies) reopened the mail contracts
for bidding. The Braniff brothers snatched away American’s prime Chicago-to-
Dallas/Ft.Worth route.Thus, almost from the beginning, Braniff faced a power-
ful enemy nursing an ancient grudge.

Between 1934 and 1965, when Harding Lawrence took over, Braniff was a
steady, unspectacular performer. As one of the smallest “majors,” Braniff culti-
vated an intense “family” feeling, promoted its executives from within, and did
reasonably well in the competition with American for the Texas trade. Profiting
from its identification with the Lone Star state (which American would negate
when it moved its corporate offices there from New York in the early 1970s),
Braniff pioneered the “hub and spoke” concept at its Dallas base, much as Delta
(its historical cousin) had done at Atlanta. This approach was a necessity at
Braniff and Delta, because neither could compete with the more prestigious
“Big Four” (American, Eastern, TWA, and United). When the nature of the busi-
ness shifted in the 1960s, the older “transcontinentals” would have to adapt to
the hub-and-spoke system pioneered by Delta and Braniff, but they also had
their lucrative and extensive old “city pair” markets to fall back on.Aside from its
Chicago-Dallas city pair, Braniff was a poor relation in this arena.

Why did Delta make it work so well at Atlanta, and Braniff fail so miserably at
Dallas? Much of the answer lies in the character of the strange, contradictory,
and occasionally brilliant man who took over Braniff in 1965.Harding L. Lawrence
learned his trade under the tutelage of Bob Six at Continental. Lawrence was a
splendid deputy—bright, adventurous, constantly enthusiastic, hard working.
Yet, something about Lawrence bothered people who worked with him—a
certain imperiousness,a wild, sometimes irrational streak that identified him as
a man who might lose his moorings in the game of high-stakes poker that was
the airline business.As Bob Six’s No. 2 man at Continental, Lawrence was the
kind of guy who had a dozen ideas a day, one of which might be good, the rest
disasters.

John Giberson, a close friend of Braniff’s MEC chairman, Butch Poole, con-
cedes that these criticisms of Braniff’s new boss have some justification.

“I watched the way Harding Lawrence ran the company,” Giberson says,“and
when you’re talking to me about him, you’re talking to the choir. He was bril-
liant, astute, and completely open about where he wanted to take Braniff.

“His basic problem,” Giberson says,“was that his middle managers were so
incompetent they couldn’t carry out his plans,and he was incapable of firing
these idiots. Instead, he kicked them upstairs.”
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Although Lawrence had undeniable gifts and charm, there was something
cranky about him.What can you say about a man who would name his son in
honor of an outworn political slogan with racist overtones? States Rights
Lawrence! One might logically conclude that any father, no matter how bril-
liant, who would stick a kid with a name like that had a cog missing.

Howard Cole, a Braniff pilot since 1958, served as MEC chairman during and
just after Bankruptcy I.Like Giberson and many other pilots who had dealings
with Lawrence during these years, Cole remains an admirer.

“If it weren’t for the alcohol,” Cole believes,“Mr. Lawrence would never have
allowed himself to be run off, more or less in the middle of the night. If he had
stayed and fought, I will always believe he could have flown Braniff through
bankruptcy. One thing is for sure, he would never have parked those airplanes
in 1982. He would have kept them and us flying”

Another view of Harding Lawrence is that he was a living embodiment of the
“Peter Principle” A success until he reached the final rung of the corporate
ladder, Lawrence would reach his level of “creative incompetence” as Branift’s
president.At Continental, he had Bob Six’s steady hand to keep him on track—
at Braniff, nobody was there to rein him in.

But in the beginning, things were fine between Branift’s pilots and Harding
Lawrence. His aggressive expansion of routes and purchase of new equipment
put money in pilots’ pockets. Eschewing the traditional distance from the pilot
group that old Tom Braniff had left as his managerial legacy, Lawrence sought
out MEC chairmen for “insider” chats.

Howard Cole, who served (along with Chuck Goduti and Charles Bohanon)
as “custodial representative” in holding the Braniff pilots together during the
difficult days between Bankruptcy I and the airline’s rebirth in 1984, remem-
bers how shocking it was to see Lawrence buddying up to Butch Poole, the
MEC chairman in 1965-66.

“He really won the pilot group over;” Cole remembers.“I'd see Mr. Lawrence
and Butch with their heads together, and I'd think we really had it going.”

John Giberson likewise remembers the early Lawrence days fondly.

“I can still remember personally seeing Mr.Lawrence take charge,like a breath
of fresh air)” Giberson says.“We pilots would see things wrong and complain,
but those idiots who were in charge would simply ignore us and nothing would
be done. Mr. Lawrence, if he’d had more people like himself, instead of the
people he inherited, would have succeeded. But handicapped as he was by
inferior middle managers, it was a struggle. I think eventually, they just wore
him down.”

“Harding Lawrence was one of the better communicators among airline
management people,’said J.J.O’Donnell in his 1991 interview.“I was like a lot of
the Braniff people, a fan of his. I knew he was in trouble about a year before
Braniff went bankrupt, because he called me and we talked about it. I remem-
ber he told me that his interest costs, just on the two Boeing 747s he had run-
ning back and forth to Honolulu, required each plane to have 280 people on it.
He said, "We're averaging 160, and that’s not counting you pilots, labor, repair,
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maintenance, depreciation.That’s just my interest costs.
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But other, much earlier signs that something might be amiss with Harding
Lawrence’s stewardship at Braniff had appeared. His choice of members for the
Board of Directors, for example, raised eyebrows among many close observers.
Lawrence liked to select Board members less for their business acumen than
for the impression they made. Several were Texas oilmen whose principal claim
to fame was that they had been lucky at picking spots to sink wells. Others
were “nice ladies” who met the Texas definition of “class” and circulated well at
cocktail parties among the Dallas business elite. Politicians and bankers rounded
out the Boards Lawrence helped to choose through the years. Some of them
were incompetent,a few were drunks,and none of them knew beans about the
airline business.

Maybe that was the way Lawrence wanted it. He had big ideas that were
going to take Braniff on a wild ride, and he didn’t want a Board that might
exercise a restraining influence upon him, which Bob Six had done at Conti-
nental. Suave, debonair Harding Lawrence, he of the expensive silk suits and
carefully coiffed hair,would charm the socks off these well-heeled rubes while
he launched Braniff into the stratosphere and they rubber-stamped his every
move.

To begin, Lawrence hired a classy New York advertising agency headed by
blonde, beautiful Mary Wells, whom he subsequently married (after divorcing
his wife of 37 years).Under his new wife’s stylish tutelage, Lawrence completely
reshaped Braniff’s image. First, he outfitted Braniff’s flight attendants, who were
predominantly female and referred to as “stewardesses” in those days, in wild,
high-fashion outfits. (He would have had the pilots don similar garb; but except
for new double-breasted uniform coats, they successfully resisted Lawrence’s
wilder wardrobe renovations. In any case, the idea of Butch Poole, a heavy-set
bear of a man, in an Italian designer airline pilot uniform, inspired more hilarity
than outrage.)

Lawrence hired internationally famous artist Alexander Calder to paint the
exterior of a Braniff DC-8. Calder’s unique, avani-garde paint schemes made
Braniff instantly recognizable, even famous, an airline curiosity, situated at the
cutting edge of style and fashion. Lawrence inaugurated “ultra service,” which
took first-class passengers into the realm of chef-prepared French cuisine and
fine wines, all served in high style, supposedly, although critics scoffed that this
wing-ding pampering was more hype than performance. Lawrence’s ideas about
luxury service were geared to the Texas elite’s notions of that concept, which
Mary Wells deftly adapted into an advertising blitz featuring slick, international-
ist themes. At her urging, Lawrence had the interiors of Braniff’s aircraft rede-
signed, featuring first-class seats of soft leather.

The corporate headquarters at “Braniff Place,” just outside Dallas, featured an
indoor-outdoor swimming pool, tennis courts, a miniature lake, and a hotel.
Most striking of all, through an interchange agreement with Air France and
British Airways, Braniff flew the supersonic Concorde—the ultimate “statement”
about where Harding Lawrence was taking his airline.

And Braniff grew—prodigiously. Under the old system of direct government
regulation, Lawrence could expand his airline only by acquiring another carrier
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or by competing for new route awards from the CAB.He was successful at both.
Braniff had acquired the “international,” which allowed it to use the initials “BI,
in 1948, when it began limited DC-6 service to South America. Lawrence sought
expansion with a vengeance. Like the born plunger he was, he gambled heavily
in 1967, engineering the acquisition of Panagra.This bold movement into the
Latin American market, which gave Braniff about half of all U.S. service to the
region, mainly through its Miami base, only whetted Lawrence’s appetite. Braniff
pilots from those heady days remember Lawrence boasting that they would
soon be flying into every European capital, and they even heard talk that the
airline would absorb Pan American!

For the pilots,those were the best of times.The rapid expansion of the 1970s,
and especially the postderegulation period following 1978, made Braniff a won-
derland of rapid promotion.A pilot who hired on just before the boom in 1964
would attain the left seat in a scant five years. Junior captains were common in
the cockpits of the airline’s “fastback” BAC 1-11 jets, and Braniff’s pilot force
grew to levels that left veterans of the old, stodgy pre-Lawrentian era stunned.

“I caught a little bow wave on promotion,“says Duane Woerth (elected ALPA’s
first vice-president beginning in 1990 and president in 1999), who hired on at
Braniff in 1977. He would later catch on at Northwest after the first Braniff
bankruptcy. “At the Kansas City base, Woerth says, “the pilots of every airline
would ride the crew busses, and it was embarrassing. By the time of our first
furlough, in 1981,1 was a first officer only about 150 numbers away from hold-
ing a captain bid. Sitting right across from me on the crew bus would be guys
from TWA who’d been second officers for 18 years!”

Braniff, at its peak strength in 1979, employed more than 2,700 pilots, 125 of
whom were captains who were flying B-747s. Harding Lawrence had applied
for almost every route in sight, and he bought new equipment and hired new
pilots with what seemed reckless abandon. Braniff’s logo became familiar on
several continents.

In a regulated environment, as a mid-level carrier, Braniff got just the touch of
panache from Lawrence it needed and dominated the Dallas/Ft. Worth
“metroplex.” But Lawrence was no fool; and he knew that, once the Airline
Deregulation Act of 1978 took effect, Braniff could not survive unless it ex-
panded. Wiser heads figured that Lawrence was overdoing it, that this massive
expansion would lead to trouble unless all the breaks went Branift’s way.

But there was a certain method to Harding Lawrence’s madness. Probably
because he misunderstood history, Lawrence plunged. He knew that the last
time the government flirted with deregulation, after the 1934 airmail cancella-
tions crisis, those entrepreneurs bold enough to expand their operations to
serve unprofitable routes had come out on top.Deregulation hadn’t worked, so
when the government reregulated the system, the airlines actually serving routes
had an advantage over the competition. Many of them were, in effect,
“grandfathered in.”

Harding Lawrence, studying this episode from aviation’s past, probably con-
cluded that the future would belong to the bold. So he rushed to serve unprof-
itable routes,hoping that he could hang on long enough for reregulation to save
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him.Lawrence made no secret of his plans—he told dozens of people when he
began his rapid expansion that within a couple of years Braniff would be either
“as big as United or gone?

“During the first phase of deregulation, we could pick up only routes that
other airlines had abandoned, recalls Jack Morton,a retired Braniff captain.“Pan
American gave up Seattle-Honolulu, and Mr. Lawrence rushed to pick it up. He
should have been asking, ' Why did they give it up?”They must have had a reason.
We began flying every place and no place, with no way to feed those routes.So
we were flying half empty a lot of the time”

History is a tricky teacher, and Lawrence got its lessons badly wrong. Many
people,including ALPA’s leadership, opposed deregulation. Lawrence, like ALPA
President J.J. O’Donnell, figured that an unregulated airline industry would never
make sense and that eventually the government would have to reregulate to
preserve safety standards. But in the interim, while the government was coming
to its senses, rapid expansion made sense. If the banks were willing to lend him
the money to expand, Lawrence was willing to take the gamble. From his point
of view, he really had no choice.In the deregulated environment, only two kinds
of airlines would survive—very large and very small. Braniff would either be-
come a “megacarrier” or be merged out of existence—a fate worse than death
to a man with Harding Lawrence’s towering ego.

There were problems with this analysis, as we can see through hindsight.
First, the political climate, conservative and free-market in orientation, was run-
ning against the concept of government regulation. Ronald Reagan, who would
win election in 1980, believed passionately that government was the problem,
not the solution. Reagan’s promise to “get the government off the backs of the
American people” meant that reregulation would not be an option during the
1980s.

Secondly, the banks urging Lawrence toward ever greater indebtedness to
finance his expansion were themselves engaged in some dubious lending prac-
tices.Loan officers received promotion and bonuses not for making good loans,
but for the volume of loans they engineered.The banks, flush with “petro dol-
lars” deposited by price-gouging OPEC nations (the oil embargoes of 1973 and
1979 had made them rich beyond imagining), had to lend money out—they
couldn’t eat the deposits. So the banks encouraged young loan officers to pres-
sure applicants to “over borrow”

Farmers in the Midwest, Third World nations, and Harding Lawrence were
among the notable takers of this bait. Loans gone sour to Latin American nations
would be made whole by U.S. taxpayers (the government’s conception of “na-
tional interest” would dictate this outcome, since the days of sending in the
Marines to collect debts were over). But the farmers and Braniff, whose assets
were mostly in land and airplanes, not only could be foreclosed, they would
almost have to be foreclosed, partly to appease angry taxpayers, but mostly as a
symbolic gesture.In short,somebody was going to have to go down the drain to
serve as an object “lesson” about “traditional values” And no help would come
from the government.

In the wave of deregulation that swept the country, beginning during the
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1970s and culminating with the excesses of the 1980s, the government was
willing to let the big banks loan themselves silly. A bank as big as Continental
Illinois, up to its eyebrows in “nonperforming loans” to Third World countries,
was (like Lockheed and Chrysler) too big and important to be allowed to fail.
Such a catastrophe might pull down the entire financial and banking structure.
But Braniff was small potatoes. No significant national interest would be af-
fected if Braniff failed. Massive failure of a really big company might warrant
government intervention, but Braniff’s tragedy would affect only its own em-
ployees, not the nation at large. In fact, half the existing airlines could go out of
business without significantly affecting the nation’s economic health. And in
truth, the deregulators, like Alfred Kahn, believed that a certain number of air-
line failures were a necessary “corrective” on the road to a free market airline
system.

Braniff was the Christmas turkey at this particular banquet.The banks, which
had so blatantly overexpanded loans to unworthy borrowers, played a role in
the accumulating troubles that engulfed Harding Lawrence. In an impossible
conflict of interest, one of the banks that had loaned Braniff money also had
one of its officers on the airline’s Board. This Board member, who was in a
position to second-guess Lawrence, essentially had veto power over manage-
ment decisions. By threatening to deny an extension of credit unless things
were done the way the bank thought proper, Braniff’s management was thus
denied its basic prerogatives. Put simply, when the airplanes securing the loans
became more valuable to the bank on the open market than the interest they
earned on the airline’s loan, the bank could force a sale—regardless of the effect
upon Braniff’s operations.

Under these circumstances, Harding Lawrence did what any self-respecting
executive would do—he resigned. But Braniff’s floundering only got worse.
Under John Casey, who had served as Lawrence’s chief of operations, board-
room skirmishing reached new heights.The Board members, increasingly wor-
ried about their fiduciary responsibility (the possibility of stockholder lawsuits),
cut ever more deeply into managerial functions.They didn’t want Casey in any
case, because they figured Braniff’s problems were in the marketing area, and
they wanted a slick salesman instead of an old-fashioned operations guy.

At this point, things were serious but not desperate.As usual, the pilots were
told little or nothing of the Board’s infighting. But the Braniff pilots’ respect for
Casey was strong, and they stood ready to provide whatever contract conces-
sions were necessary to help him succeed.

“John Casey knew his stuff, and he was a man of absolute integrity;” John
Giberson remembers.“The problem was getting them to ask us for help, to tell
us what they wanted”

In retrospect, Casey’s hands were clearly tied. The Board wanted somebody
else, and they would shortly get him in the person of Howard Putnam. In a
surprising move that Branift’s pilots could only watch helplessly,the Board lured
Putnam away from Southwest Airlines,a non-ALPA carrier. The Board’s thinking
was that Braniff’s future under deregulation was as a low-budget carrier, and
Putnam, having worked at the prototype cheap airline, was the man to ramrod
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that transition. Closer analysis by the Board would surely have revealed that
Putnam’s career at Southwest hardly suited him to cope with Braniff’s prob-
lems.

SouthwestAirlines was something of a freak.It originated in the forced merger
of the Dallas and Ft.Worth airports.The authorities extracted written promises
from all existing airlines that they would discontinue scheduled service to Dal-
las Love Field and Ft.Worth Amon Carter airport once the FAA-mandated con-
struction of new combined Dallas/Ft.Worth International Airport (DFW) was
complete. Because passengers prefer close-in fields, any airline that continued
to serve the old airports, instead of the new one being built miles away out in
the boonies between the two cities, would beat the pants off any competitors
who moved.The FAA did its part by forbidding any interstate carrier from serv-
ing the old airports, which were supposed to become general aviation fields.
Furthermore, in what came to be known as the “Love Field Compact,” all the
existing carriers agreed that they would not serve the “Metroplex” at the old
airports (eventually, only Dallas’ Love Field would stay open) on their intrastate
routes, over which the FAA had no control. Because Texas has 3 of the 10 largest
U.S. cities within its borders (Dallas, Houston, and San Antonio), an intrastate
commuter airline modeled on California’s Pacific SouthwestAirlines (PSA), could
do the established carriers (and DFW) considerable damage. Hence the “Love
Field Compact.”

Despite these precautions, some savvy operators with plenty of money were
determined to skim the cream off the Texas commuter trade, specifically the
Dallas-Houston market. They were definitely not “little guys” competing against
the corporate barons, although Rollin W.King, who originally conceived of South-
west, might fit that description.The airline began flying in June 1971, backed by
Murchison money and several influential Texas politicians,among them Herbert
D.Kelleher (an associate of Governor John C. Connally),and future Democratic
Party National Chairman Robert Strauss.This kind of backing caused one edito-
rial observer to comment during the company’s formative stage: “Southwest
Airlines won'’t use aviation fuel—just political power”

Because Southwest had not existed at the time of the “Love Field Compact,”it
was not bound by it. Following extensive legal challenges, the airline took to the
air, complicating life for every airline that served the Texas market from brand-
new DFW. Although it would be an overstatement to say that Southwest did
Braniff irreparable harm, nevertheless the damage was substantial (as it was to
other ALPA carriers).

So it didn’t take a genius to make money at Southwest, and anyway, Howard
Putnam had nothing to do with it. During the airline’s formative stage, tough,
curmudgeonly old T. Lamar Muse, who had learned the business at American,
made Southwest a success. Muse, figuring that anybody smart enough to pay
pilots half the going wage could make money,eventually left Southwest to form
his own airline, MuseAir, thus opening the way to Putnam.?

Putnam, whose career had been unremarkable to this point, found himself,
inexplicably, tapped as Braniff’s savior. It was a poor choice. No Braniff pilot
who lived though this era has a good word to say about Putnam;and in fact,a
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majority of them suspect deep conspiratorial involvement of other airlines in
his choice. Put bluntly, they believe that Putnam never had any intention of
making a success at Braniff. They sneer at his idea, which ultimately proved
unworkable, of converting Braniff into a cheap, jumbo-sized version of South-
west. Many Braniff pilots also believed that Putnam was hired by somebody (a
shadowy, illusive “them”) to be the airline’s undertaker. Putnam himself, by his
own admission, couldn’t understand why Branift’s Board wanted him,but since
they were offering big money and a no-risk challenge (he had a “golden para-
chute”), Putnam left his comfortable berth at Southwest for the listing deck at
Braniff. Upon arriving, Putnam said publicly that he doubted Braniff’s ability to
survive! It was hardly a Churchillian moment.

So Putnam,who took over Braniff in September 1981, cut fares as the “Reagan
Recession” deepened. Branift’s cash-flow problems only got worse,asAmerican
matched fares in a deepening spiral. Only one thing would have saved Braniff—
some sort of direct federal assistance.The most obvious regulatory move would
have been for the CAB (then approaching “sunset” itself and quite incapable of
taking action) to guarantee Branift’s tickets.Travel agents, who were crucial to
any airline’s success, could then have sold Braniff tickets without fear of getting
burned. More important,American, Branift’s chief competitor, would have had
less incentive to put the airline under.A federal edict requiring other airlines to
honor a failed Braniff’s tickets (and American would have had to redeem more
of them than any other airline) would have been a powerful incentive to help
Braniff survive.

In the last analysis, American did offer to help.American’s CEO,Robert Crandall,
impetuously telephoned Howard Putnam, hoping to put an end to the ruinous
price war.On some routes, Braniff and American were both losing money flying
airplanes with full loads of passengers. Incredibly, Putnam resisted the efforts to
reach an accommodation.Instead of grasping at this last life preserver American
was throwing Braniff’s way, Putnam secretly tape-recorded the conversations
with Crandall, hoping to prove a violation of antitrust law.These putative “crimi-
nal” conversations, even had they resulted in stiff jail sentences and fines for
every last American executive, would not have saved Braniff.

On May 12,1982, a teary-eyed Howard Putnam, still barely familiar with his
job,announced that Braniff was shutting down.The Braniff pilots faced a crisis
no other pilot group had ever confronted.The first hatchlings of the deregula-
tion chicken had come home to roost squarely upon them.

All eyes were now upon ALPA. L1

NOTES

! See George Hopkins, Flying the Line, Ch.23,“Jets and Thin Ice.”

2 In 1967, when Braniff was growing rapidly, I interviewed Harding Lawrence about making Braniff the
subject of my doctoral dissertation in history. While he delayed making a decision,ALPA offered to
cooperate fully in my project, thus leading me to write The Airline Pilots:A Study in Elite Unionization
(Harvard University Press, 1971).

3 Iinterviewed Muse in 1975.Those interviews became the basis of “The Texas Airline War, The
Washington Monthly (March 1976).
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CHAPTER 6

O’DONNELLS DILEMMAS
The PATCO Strike, Braniff, and Furloughs

In 1970, at the final BOD meeting Charley Ruby would preside over asALPA’s
president, he made a farewell address that was oddly predictive of his
successor’s downfall a dozen years later.After eight embattled years, Ruby could
have selected from a wide array of troublesome issues as the focus of his re-
marks. He chose pilot furloughs.

“We have a fairly large income for a small union, but you cannot dip both
arms in that pot and come out in the black,” Ruby warned the delegates.

Furloughs,Ruby told the BOD,created a“crisis of sympathy”for the pilots losing
their jobs and had the potential to threaten ALPA’s financial stability. Ruby, whose
professional career began in the days of seasonal layoffs, saw furloughs as a nor-
mal but temporary aspect of the professional pilot’s experience. In fact, he ex-
pressed great sympathy for managers who had to make these furlough decisions,
and he spoke out strongly for cooperation with the airline industry in such mat-
ters. Ruby’s expression of a “managerial mentality;” while not totally lacking con-
cern for the plight of furloughed pilots and their families, was at least a bit old-
fashioned. It was also symptomatic of the “You ain’t a real airline pilot ‘till you've
been furloughed” syndrome so typical of his era.

But signs of change were appearing. During the heady expansion of the 1960s,
a new generation of airline pilots, mostly hired owing to the government’s sup-
port of ALPA’s three-crewmember policy,had come to see furloughs as anything
but routine. Consequently, Ruby’s warning that ALPA’s finances would suffer if
the delegates tried to do too much to help furloughed pilots stirred mutterings
among some delegates.Talk about fiscal restraint was all well and good for Char-
ley Ruby, as he rode off into the sunset with a comfortable retirement package;
but the larger question remained unanswered. What was ALPA’s responsibility
to members of the profession who lost their jobs?

Of all the headaches O’Donnell would inherit from Ruby, furloughs were the
most debilitating. For Ruby, this problem would require only a couple of aspi-
rins and the stern warning he left as his legacy in 1970. But for O’Donnell,
furloughs would become a full-fledged migraine. The problem with furloughs
wasn’t just the lost dues revenue to ALPA, as some cynics suggested.The prob-
lem went much deeper, to the very core of the professional airline pilot’s image
of himself as a stable, respected, and prosperous member of the upper middle
class. Take away the profession from which most airline pilots derived their
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sense of self-worth, and ALPA would inevitably become a tempting target for
blame and criticism, as would whoever happened to be ALPA’s president at the
time.

“The guy who loses his job or is being furloughed doesn’t think rationally;’].J.
O’Donnell sighed in his 1991 interview.“He says ‘Goddamn it, why didn’t you,
why didn’t ALPA, do something to protect my job!’”

The furlough issue would trouble ALPA well into the postderegulation era,
and it would attain new significance as the great merger crisis of the 1980s
unfolded. But in 1970, at a time when questions of “fragmentation policy” and
“scope clauses” were mostly abstractions, the furlough issue seems, in retro-
spect, relatively trivial. But it struck contemporary observers as quite serious.
While ALPA membership had doubled from 14,000 in 1965 to 28,000 in 1970,
the number of pilots on furlough by then had increased 10-fold, to 880. Even in
an era when being furloughed was looked upon as a routine part of the airline
business, these numbers alarmed many pilots.

Imagine the crisis O’Donnell faced in 1982, when the number of airline pilots
out of work jumped by more than 2,000 from the Braniff collapse alone! And
these pilots weren’t just furloughed—they were part of a mass “termination”
unlike anything in ALPA’s history.-What did ALPA owe the Braniff pilots,and how
could O’Donnell dodge this bullet?

As we have seen, O’Donnell had coped successfully with political crises be-
fore.If he chose to run for an unprecedented fourth term asALPA’s president in
1982, he would, as an incumbent, have enormous resources to counterbalance
the negative baggage he had accumulated over the previous 12 years. Coming
less than a year before he would have to face reelection, O’Donnell knew that
the Braniff bankruptcy would be a political problem,but he did not think it an
insurmountable one.At the time of Branift’s bankruptcy, he had not yet formally
declared his candidacy, and he kept his intentions to himself.

With his usual flair, O’'Donnell pacified a majority of the Braniff MEC by the
kind of “hands on” personal touch at which he was a master. Friends and foes
alike agree that in dealing with small groups, O’Donnell was a formidable opera-
tor. But with larger groups, particularly at one step removed from personal con-
tact, O’Donnell often appeared stiff and brusque. The volume of angry letters
from rank-and-file Braniff pilots indicated that he was vulnerable on this count.

Part of the hostility Braniff’s line pilots displayed toward O’Donnell stemmed
from the fact that he kept a relatively low profile. This shying away caused more
than one Braniff pilot to express the feeling that O’Donnell and ALPA were
abandoning them to their fate.

“The Braniff pilots were like all rank-and-file pilots, in that they did not under-
stand that the president of ALPA doesn’t have the muscle they think he has,”says
Howard Cole, who as Braniff MEC chairman after Joe Baranowski, almost
singlehandedly kept ALPA alive during the nearly two years after 1982.“Our
pilots felt put upon, cannibalized by our brethren at Eastern;and that left a very
bitter taste. Because O’Donnell was an Eastern pilot, he got a lot of the blame.
‘When I took over as master chairman, the Braniff membership in good standing
was less than 20 percent.”
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O’Donnell’s financial support for the Braniff MEC was never in doubt.At the
May 1982 Executive Board, the Braniff MEC received an emergency grant of
$50,000 to continue routine representational activities. Subsequently, the Ex-
ecutive Committee authorized nearly $500,000 to support the Braniff MEC in
its various activities, which included an 800 number “hot line” that kept the
airline’s pilots abreast of the latest developments.

But the fate of Braniff’s pilots was only one of several contentious issues
nagging at O’Donnell,and with an election coming, minimizing their plight and
distancing himself from it was good politics. But more to the point, O’Donnell
believed that Braniff would emerge from bankruptcy, resume operations, and
the crisis would solve itself. Consequently, he saw no need to rush into unfamil-
iar terrain.To implement the kind of “crash program” of employment assistance
many Braniff pilots were urging upon him was precisely the kind of thing Char-
ley Ruby had warned about.That things would pan out, at least temporarily, just
the way O’Donnell predicted earned him little credit among unemployed Braniff
pilots at the time.

‘When Hank Dufty took over ALPA’s presidency in January 1983, he would
find a bulging file of letters from Braniff pilots asking for assistance. Many of
these letters were rife with the personal tragedy of divorce, lost homes, and
shattered lives. Unemployed Braniff pilots wanted many things from ALPA,among
them “strike benefits”These letters repeated a familiar refrain—loyal dues-pay-
ing members who had never asked for anything from ALPA before needed help.
‘What about a loan equal to the dues they had paid in over the years? But Braniff
wasn’t on strike,and ALPA’s Constitution and By-Laws had no way to help them
financially with loans.

“When people can’t get jobs,when they have everything on the line and they
see it all going down the drain, they want some place to vent their emotions,”
says Dick Goduti, who would become Braniff’s “custodial representative” fol-
lowing “Bankruptcy II”in 1989.“ALPA was an easy target when they got to the
point where there was nobody else to blame.”

But the Braniff pilots did have one legitimate complaint. Above all else, they
wanted ALPA to somehbow force the government into complying with the “first
right of hire” provisions of the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 While O’Donnell
had indeed quietly supported the Braniff MEC financially, to ordinary line pilots
this form of aid was almost invisible. What they really wanted was new jobs,
which seemed to be their right under the law. In this critical area, which in-
volved directly pressuring the Reagan administration for first-right-of-hire,
O’Donnell was strangely silent.

“I don’t know if J.J. had some understanding with Ray Donovan [Reagan’s
Secretary of Labor], but for some reason he never pushed the Labor Depart-
ment to post its [first-right-of-hire] regulations,” Dufty insists.“Until they issued
the regulations,we could do nothing.We had to start from scratch, trying to get
the Secretary of Labor to post the regulations.”

As we have seen, the “Reagan Revolution” began with a crusade to “get the
government off the backs of the American People.”To this end, President Reagan
announced that he was canceling all “unnecessary government regulations.”
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The first-right-of-hire regulations issued by his predecessor, Jimmy Carter,under
the terms of the Airline Deregulation act of 1978, fell victim to the Reagan can-
cellations.In the March 1981 issue,Aér Line Pilot reported that the cancellation
was “to give the new Reagan administration a chance to make any changes it
might deem necessary.’

First-right-of-hire regulations spelled out the implementation procedures gov-
erning the labor protective provisions (LPPs) of the Airline Deregulation Act of
1978. Government intervention in situations like this, historically called em-
ployee protective provisions (EPPs), typically applied to businesses over which
the government had regulatory or oversight authority. As ALPA had experienced
them previously, these regulatory activities applied mostly to mergers, like the
Allegheny-Mohawk union of 1972.

The deregulation LPPs were new in that they required an existing airline to
hire,on a preferential basis, pilots who had lost their jobs because of deregula-
tion. The problem with this legislation was that it first required the President,
through his administrative subordinates, to“find”that deregulation was the cause
of the airline’s bankruptcy and then to issue a set of administrative guidelines
implementing procedures for first-right-of-hire.An airline was not obligated to
hire pilots it didn’t need under the 1978 act, but any pilot who couldn’t get a job
within a 10-year limit that Congress imposed had the right to compensatory
payments from the federal government.

All this sounds like a double-barreled safety net—either the Braniff pilots
would get new jobs with another aitline or they would get compensation. But
it held a “Catch 22” Any President who philosophically opposed the concept
could thwart it simply by doing nothing—which is exactly what Reagan did.
Secretary of Labor Ray Donovan, the Reagan Administration official directly
charged with action under the 1978 deregulation act, mindful that LPPs were
the kind of direct government intervention in business that the President had
built his political career by opposing, refused to act.

“It took years for the Department of Labor to implement first-right-of-hire
because the companies fought it like hell, they thought it was going to cost
them millions,” O’'Donnell explained in 1991 about the long LPP delay. “Con-
gress wrote a law that was in my opinion watered down, almost worthless, and
worded in such a way that the Department of Labor was the scapegoat.”

In the 1991 interview, O’Donnell blamed the utter failure of the LPPs as a job-
protection device on congressional Democrats, particularly Senators Howard
Cannon and Edward M. Kennedy, who chaired the committees that drafted the
legislation. He also criticized airline management for thwarting the LPPs.
O’Donnell offered no criticism of either Ronald Reagan or Ray Donovan. Be-
cause O’Donnell would later serve as Under Secretary of Labor under Reagan,
his disclaimers are at best disingenuous, and many of O’Donnell’s critics be-
lieved at the time he was “playing politics” with the LPP issue.

“Thave no doubt that John O’Donnell was job hunting with the Reagan people
almost from the moment they took office,” says Merle C.“Skip” Eglet of North-
west, who served as an ALPA executive vice-president at the time.“I have no
direct knowledge that he was delaying the LPPs for that purpose, but it would
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not surprise me.There wouldn’t have been any negative political fallout within
ALPA, because at the time,in 1981, the LPPs just weren’t an issue.After Braniff’s
bankruptcy in 1982, of course, they would be”

As we have seen, by the time of “Operation USA” in 1981, O’Donnell had
become very close to the new Republican administration. He obviously wanted
to maintain that relationship and build upon it. Had O’Donnell pushed aggres-
sively for implementation of the LPPs, his action probably would have alienated
Reagan topsiders and almost certainly would have damaged his standing with
them.So,out of either personal ambition and political expediency,or conversely,
a sincere belief that“staying on the right side” of the Reagan administration best
served ALPA’s interests, O’Donnell opted for a low-key approach to implemen-
tation of LPPs.

No one but O’Donnell himself knows for sure what his motivation was, and
in all fairness,we must remember that the LPPs that Braniff’s pilots would shortly
need so much were not an issue until later. At the time of the Reagan
administration’s sidelining of the LPPs, few airline pilots had any interest in
them. During the months leading up to the Braniff bankruptcy, only two rela-
tively small airlines, Air New England and Airlift International, whose pilot groups
totaled barely 100, would theoretically have benefited from the LPPs.But when
Hank Duffy took over from O’Donnell in January 1983, the LPPs regulations
were still in administrative limbo.

“We started working on Ray Donovan pretty hard,”says Hank Duffy of his first
months in office.“We finally got him to post the LPP regulations, but then the
airlines tied it up in court.We eventually won it, but it took years”

After nearly three years of delay, the Reagan administration finally succumbed
to ALPA’s pressure and published the LPP regulations. Fifteen airlines promptly
sued to halt their implementation.In May 1984, a federal court further delayed
implementation of the LPPs because the Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 con-
tained a“legislative veto” designed to oversee and limit the President’s adminis-
tration of the law.The Supreme Court had previously ruled that such limitations
were unconstitutional,but Congress believed that its LPP wording in Section 43
of the deregulation act would pass muster. This provision was in the law be-
cause congressional Democrats feared the adverse effect of deregulation on
their labor constituents and distrusted the labor policies of the current Carter
administration, not to mention of future Republican administrations.

This attempt to protect labor from the effects of deregulation backfired, much
to the dismay of airline pilots, who stood to benefit from it more than any other
occupational group. But the original prolabor intentions of Section 43 were
clear. In the absence of Reagan’s support for the LPPs, all ALPA could tell pilots
who lost their jobs because of deregulation was to continue asking employers
for “special consideration” under first-right-of-hire provisions. Meanwhile, ALPA
appealed the court decision and eventually prevailed, but not until 1987.1t was
a hollow triumph—the statutory 10-year limit on the LPPs associated with the
deregulation act of 1978 had run out.

“Iam not sure anybody ever got hired because of first-right-of-hire,” says Hank
Dufty frankly.“But it was a fight worth making”
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As for the compensation due to pilots who lost their jobs because of de-
regulation, not one Braniff pilot (or any other airline pilot, for that matter) has
ever received a penny.

The Department of Labor’s long delay in issuing the regulations meant that it
would be years before Congress could appropriate money for that purpose. By
1987, when the administrative and legal systems had finally finished with the
LPPs, the federal budget was deeply in deficit and had no money to spare. Con-
gress and the President had mutually agreed to understate the deficit by the
sham of refusing to spend money in federal “trust funds”; among these were
taxes that passengers paid for the specific purpose of airport improvements.In
this financial environment, neither Congress nor the President showed interest
in appropriating money to compensate airline pilots.

Ironically, in several lawsuits that Braniff pilots brought, judges would later
rule that Braniff had indeed failed because of deregulation. So the Braniff pilots
were entitled to compensation under the LPPs, but no money was available to
pay them—the final “Catch 22

As for O’'Donnell, he was playing his political cards very close to the vest in
early 1982, emphasizing his “connections” with political leaders and his “quiet
clout” with them. So in fairness to him, the decision to soft-peddle the Braniff
collapse was consistent and intellectually defensible. While many Braniff pilots
pilloried O’Donnell and all his works,an influential segment, particularly among
the Braniff MEC, worked hard to counter their attacks, thus insulating him from
damage somewhat.

In any case, the direct political impact of the Braniff pilots at the BOD meet-
ing in 1982 would be minimal, because owing to their unique situation, they
were granted only “observer” status, which meant they were not permitted to
vote. In addition, the fact that the Braniff pilots had high hopes of getting their
airline back into the air further ameliorated the tension. But Braniff’s pilots
were the ghost at the banquet in 1982, and their presence as “observers”was a
visible reminder to every delegate that the unthinkable was now possible—
airline pilot furloughs might 7ot be just temporary, after all.

“We didn’t even debate Braniff that much,” recalls Hank Duffy.“At that point,
everybody thought it was an isolated thing, not the trend for the future”

And in fact, Braniff would revive, metamorphosizing into “New Braniff” (or
Braniff IT), on March 1, 1984.This rebirth was largely the work of two retired
Braniff pilots,Jack Morton and Glen Shoop, plus one active pilot, Jack Murdoch.

A more overtly political problem,the PATCO strike of 1981, provides another
view of just how tricky the furlough issue could be.When the Professional Air
Traffic Controllers Organization went on strike against the federal government
inAugust 1981, many pilots were so incensed at O’Donnell’s handling of it that
they mounted a serious effort to recall him from office.

Because of the profound dislocations the PATCO strike might cause in the
working environment of airline pilots, O’'Donnell necessarily had to involve
himself in it.The restrictions on airline operations that the PATCO strike gener-
ated almost certainly played a role in the bankruptcy of some small carriers,
notably Air New England, and might well have aggravated the troubles of oth-
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ers, including Braniff. For O’Donnell, the PATCO strike was almost a match for
Braniff—neither crisis,no matter what he did, was likely to win him many friends.

ALPA and PATCO had a symbiotic relationship in that both worked inside a
mutually dependent system. Like most such relationships, it had deep internal
tensions that often erupted into outright fissures. Many airline pilots saw PATCO
as irresponsibly aggressive, while many PATCO members viewed pilots as pam-
pered prima donnas. This friction often showed in the verbal mannerisms of
pilots and controllers when they dealt with each other. “On the frequency”
conversations were often characterized by brusqueness,sarcasm,and even out-
right nastiness.As a committed trade unionist, O’'Donnell tried mightily to cre-
ate an atmosphere of mutual cooperation between PATCO and ALPA. His ef-
forts generated an irate reaction from many airline pilots.

“Some pilots gave the controllers fits,” O’Donnell reflected sadly in 1991.“We
had pilots who just continually rubbed salt in the controllers’ wounds and ridi-
culed them for wanting a starting pay equivalent to a pilot’s. By the same token,
we had some controllers who didn’t treat pilots right.We tried every way in the
world to build a positive relationship with PATCO, running articles in Air Line
Pilot about them, because a lot of them are good people”

A valid professional conflict underlay the hostility between airline pilots and
air traffic controllers. Put simply, it came down to the question of authority.
Pilots have historically disliked giving up their“command authority”to anybody.
The nature of the modern ATC system meant that as the airline industry devel-
oped,air traffic controllers would inevitably assume de facto“command author-
ity” in many situations. PATCO owed its origins partly to the feeling of many
controllers that their “job” did not receive the same respect as airline pilots’
“profession.”

But in another sense, a purely psychological rift existed between pilots and
controllers, one that was primarily sociological in origin. Typically, controllers
learned their trade in the military as enlisted personnel who were under the
command of pilot officers.When PATCO began stressing the similarity of their
responsibilities, even going so far as to suggest that controllers should receive
“equal pay for equal work,” many airline pilots heartily disagreed.Who did these
ex-enlisted men think they were?

During the long buildup to the PATCO strike, the controllers’ tactics against
the federal government earned them the enmity of a clear majority of airline
pilots. While many airline pilots, particularly those “nuts and bolts” types who
specialized in ATC problems, felt the controllers had legitimate grievances, these
sympathies did not extend to PATCO, its leadership, or most importantly, its
tactics.

On at least two occasions before 1981, PATCO members demonstrated their
unhappiness with the FAA and its administrator, Langhorne Bond, by “working
to the book"This tactic, which airline pilots had occasionally used themselves,
might at first glance seem to fall within acceptable parameters. But PATCO’s
case was different. When pilots used the “slowdown” as a tactic, it was against
their private employers and affected nobody else. When PATCO engaged in a
slowdown, it was against the U.S. government—an inappropriate and unpatri-
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otic action, in the opinion of many airline pilots. But far worse, a PATCO slow-
down damaged other people, most directly the airlines that pilots depended on
for a living. For example, during a one-day slowdown in August 1980 at a single
airport, Chicago’s O’Hare, PATCO cost the airlines almost a million dollars in
excess fuel alone.And pilots had one more reason to be unlikely to support a
walkout by PATCO—strikes by federal employees were #llegal!

Questions of legality aside, strikes are traditionally about muscle—politically,
economically, and morally. An element within PATCO believed that if it could
hold its 13,000 members on the picket line, they could shut down the nation’s
air transportation system and force the government to meet their demands. FAA
Administrator Langhorne Bond, the Carter appointee with whom ALPA also
had differences, warned PATCO’s leaders that their demands were excessive
and that he would crack down hard on them if they went on strike.

In January 1981, shortly before the Reagan administration took office, Bond
explicitly told PATCO that the FAA had a contingency plan in place to break a
controllers’ strike. Bond warned PATCO that the FAA’s plan involved the use of
military personnel, hiring “permanent replacements,” and aggressive criminal
prosecution designed to force strikers to cross the picket line.Bond also warned
PATCO’s leaders that despite their endorsement of Ronald Reagan in the 1980
campaign, they should not expect more lenient treatment from incoming Sec-
retary of Transportation Drew Lewis. Bond’s warning was prophetic, and his
disgust with PATCO’s leadership was one of the few things he and J.J. O’Donnell
agreed upon.

By early 1981,a more radical element had replaced much of PATCO’s original
leadership.Barely a week before the strike, Robert Poli displaced John Leyden,
a man O’Donnell had known and respected since before assuming ALPA’s presi-
dency. In fact, O’Donnell’s relationship with PATCO had become quite close
during John Leyden’s tenure.When Poli tricked Leyden into resigning, the na-
ture of O’'Donnell’s relationship with PATCO changed.

“I'had ten years of excellent relationships with PATCO through John Leyden,”
O’Donnell said in 1991.“I knew him very well socially,we were onTV together,
and we filed several joint lawsuits.I brought him to every ALPA convention. But
Bob Poli and his radicals, who wanted to jump controllers’ pay from $23,000 to
$55,000, replaced Leyden in July because he was a peacemaker who opposed
striking in violation of federal law”

Owing to O’Donnell’s rise within the ranks of organized labor to a vice-presi-
dency of the Executive Council of the AFL-CIO, he became, in effect, George
Meany’s troubleshooter and ambassador plenipotentiary to other airline unions.
He enjoyed a similar relationship with Lane Kirkland, Meany’s successor. The
AFIL-CIO looked to O’Donnell as a mediating influence on PATCO because of
his long friendship with John Leyden. On one occasion, Leyden had invited
O’Donnell to address the PATCO convention in Honolulu. But Bob Poli was not
John Leyden.

“In February 1981, John Leyden warned me that Bob Poli and the radicals
were planning an illegal strike,” O’Donnell recalled 1991.°I told John not to
expect airline pilots to honor PATCO’s picket line because the great majority of
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pilots were angry at the controllers.I said, If you have a strike, my guys will run
over you; they’ll fly every damned flight.”

During a May 1981 meeting between Poli, Leyden,and O’Donnell, with Jack
Bavis present, Poli announced that PATCO would have a strike that was a “set
up,’in that it would have the silent support of the Reagan administration, which
would use it as cover to meet their demands. Poli insisted that he had a commit-
ment from Reagan owing to PATCO’s endorsement of his candidacy in 1980
and that the strike would be short.

“I said,'Bob, you're smoking a pipe,” O’Donnell recalled later.“I believe some
of Reagan’s people said they’d do that, I really do; but a commitment like that
would never have come from him.And I don’t think they ever said they'd give
in or were going to solve PATCO’s problems.They said they were going to look
into them, see what they could do. Stupid leadership—that was Bob Poli”

Ben Cleveland, a former Marine fighter pilot who helped found PATCO be-
fore moving into FAA management, confirms that ordinary PATCO members
were tricked into going on strike by Poli’s misrepresentation of Ronald Reagan’s
position: “I attended a meeting at Phoenix just before the strike at which a
regional vice-president of PATCO assured us that the strike was an ‘inside deal;
that it would be short and just for show, theater really, to give Reagan the excuse
to cave in to us.

“ I'was already a supervisor at the time,” Cleveland recalls,“and I knew it had
to be another pile of Bob Poli’s bullshit. The word was out in management that
if those guys went out on strike, they were going to be fired,and no kidding! By
then I was not in PATCO, just a friendly observer.I warned—nobody listened”

O’Donnell, because of his close contacts with the Reagan people, also knew
that Poli was either lying or a fool. Ronald Reagan came to the White House
committed to a radical restructuring of American society,and one of his targets
was organized labor. He clearly meant to dismantle what he called “the welfare
state,”because he saw it as a drag on economic growth.Reagan had noble goals,
best summed up in his cheery slogan,“A rising tide lifts all boats,’to explain how
he believed economic growth would cure America’s ills. But implicit in the
“supply side” economics that Reagan espoused was the notion that any institu-
tion that hampered the free flow of market economics was counterproductive.
Traditionally, conservatives have viewed labor unions as a drag on economic
growth, a dead weight carried on entrepreneurial backs. Furthermore, conser-
vatives have long believed that governmental favoritism was the base upon
which organized labor’s power rested. In short, organized labor would clearly
be one target of the Reagan Revolution. Bob Poli completely misunderstood
this fact.

ButJ.J.O’Donnell did not.In late July,at a national meeting of PATCO’s Execu-
tive Board, the radicals and their opponents fought it out. With the strike issue
hanging in the balance, Bob Poli engineered an internal coup that ousted John
Leyden. O’Donnell followed these events with great interest.

“As they were flying to Chicago for a special meeting of the PATCO Executive
Board and their Negotiating Committee, Poli says to John Leyden,‘Let’s you and
I resign in protest and say we’re not going to strike.” O’Donnell recounts.“This
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Executive Board wanted to strike. So Poli convinced Leyden to resign as presi-
dent, but then Poli didn’t!”

When PATCO’s Executive Board named Poli to replace Leyden, Poli then
proceeded to set the strike date for the first week of August 1981.With O’Donnell
warning him that ALPA would not support the strike, Poli agreed to delay it until
after a meeting with the AFL-CIO Executive Council in Chicago on August 2.
PATCO, ignoring the advice of the AFL-CIO to rethink their strike plans, on the
following day, Aug. 3, 1981, walked out and threw up picket lines at O’Hare.
Lane Kirkland was unhappy about it, but he would not cross PATCO’s picket
line. He canceled his return flight, rented a car, and drove to his home in Wash-
ington, D.C.

“They had picket lines set up at the base of the control tower at O’Hare, but
not at the airport,” O’Donnell says.“I got on an airplane and came back to Wash-
ington. I was trying to stop this stupid strike.”

O’Donnell had been talking to Drew Lewis regularly for months and knew
that the Reagan administration would give PATCO no quarter. O’Donnell also
knew that rank-and-file airline pilots would cheer PATCO'’s destruction, no mat-
ter that it might do some damage to themselves in the process.This fact left
O’Donnell with a classic dilemma. Getting the PATCO strike settled as soon as
possible was in everybody’s interest. But to mediate the strike, to act as an
effective go-between, O’Donnell would have to appear conciliatory to both
sides. His private sympathies were, of course, entirely opposed to PATCO, and
particularly Bob Poli, whom he considered an unreliable radical. But O’'Donnell
couldn’t let his distaste show.

Had O’Donnell been left alone, he might well have engineered a compromise
that would have settled the strike and salvaged the professional careers of thou-
sands of hapless PATCO members. As we have seen, O’Donnell was a gifted
negotiator and conciliator whose contacts with all parties were intimate. He
spoke with the authority of his AFL-CIO vice-presidency and his friendship with
John Leyden (whom he would later offer an ALPA job, after Poli had engineered
his ouster from PATCO). O’Donnell had access to the top levels of PATCO, while
simultaneously remaining on close terms with Drew Lewis, the Reagan
administration’s point man in the PATCO strike.

But circumstances and bad luck prevented O’Donnell from stopping the
PATCO strike.A hostile reaction developed among many ALPA members, who
saw O’Donnell’s efforts at conciliation as favorable to PATCO. Put simply, most
ALPA members wanted PATCO figuratively strung up by its heels. Should
O’Donnell persist in his efforts, the political fallout within ALPA would be costly.
Although August was far too early to announce his candidacy for reelection to a
fourth term as ALPA’s president, O’Donnell’s political antennae were neverthe-
less up. He had no intention of suffering political damage within ALPA because
of the stupidity of PATCO’s leaders.

“I'd say 70 percent of ALPA members were ultraconservative Republicans,”
O’Donnell said in 1991 .“But I also knew that the PATCO strike had the potential
of losing large numbers of them their jobs for a period of six months or a year,
as they hired and trained new controllers.The only thing I wanted was to make
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sure I didn’t lose people to layoffs. I was scared of losing 20 percent of our
members to layoffs—then there would be big trouble because we didn’t do
something to stop the strike.”

OnAug.5,1981,just two days into the PATCO strike, at precisely the moment
when O’Donnell could have been most effective at mediating an end to it, his
enemies inside ALPA struck. The Eastern MEC, at the urging of his archenemy of
many years’ standing,Augie Gorse, passed a resolution condemning O’Donnell’s
activities in the PATCO strike.The resolution accused O’Donnell of “favoring”
PATCO and called for his resignation. O’Donnell, sensing the mischief his en-
emies could make for him politically with such charges, withdrew from active
involvement in the effort to end the PATCO strike. Even a direct appeal from
Drew Lewis,who had come to rely on O’Donnell, failed to get him back into the
fray.

“That Eastern MEC resolution criticizing me for supporting the controllers
was a beauty,” O’Donnell said angrily in his 1991 interview.“I had done just the
opposite”

Shortly thereafter, Secretary of Transportation Drew Lewis, with whom
O’Donnell had conferred repeatedly on the PATCO strike,called to ask for help.
Lewis particularly wanted to know Bob Poli’s whereabouts, since he had gone
into hiding.

“Drew Lewis asked me to communicate with Poli;’ O’Donnell says.“I told him
I was not a mediator, that I was not a friend of Poli’s,and I suggested that he call
John Leyden and gave him the phone number. But John was still so angry at that
double-cross by Poli that he wouldn’t help. So Lewis called back and asked if I
had any suggestions. I says ‘Yeah, I got a suggestion. Let’s all go fishing.”

O’Donnell was now under dire political stress within ALPA,and he dared not
take any further active role in the attempt to settle the PATCO strike.But he did
delegate full authority to Jack Bavis and sent him into battle. This approach,
although politically expedient, also made sense, because Bavis had developed
something of a friendship with Bob Poli.

“O’Donnell did get involved in the PATCO Strike, even though the Executive
Council hadn’t approved it,” Jack Bavis says of his mission to Poli.“He sent me to
be his personal intermediary with Bob Poli. J.J. did this because he had devel-
oped a friendship with Drew Lewis, who needed to know what was taking
place inside PATCO and under what conditions Poli would take the strike down.
Lewis trusted O’Donnell to communicate with PATCO back and forth. For ex-
ample,I carried the message to Poli that if he would resign and say that he made
a mistake, Lewis would take all his people back. Poli refused. It was the worst
case we saw of a union leader who sacrificed his troops even when he knew
they were going to be defeated and replaced”

And so the PAT'CO tragedy played itself out. Using a combination of military
controllers, crossovers,and supervisory personnel,the ATC system limped along
while “permanent replacements” were hired and trained to take over for the
PATCO strikers.The FAA drastically reduced access to the ATC system for many
months;and while the hardship on general aviation was enormous, the airlines
came out better than anyone had hoped.The mass layoffs that O’Donnell had
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feared did not materialize.

Once the Reagan administration decided to break PATCO, only one thing
could have saved it—ALPA’s direct intervention.The only rubric under which
ALPA would have honored PATCO'’s picket lines was safety. On Aug. 19, 1981,
O’Donnell laid that possibility to rest.At a press conference in Washington, D.C.,
he refuted charges made by striking PATCO members that the system was un-
safe. Armed with an Executive Board resolution affirming that the ATC system
was functioning safely “under reduced capacity, O’Donnell explained to a large
gathering of news media that ALPA’s Air Traffic Control Committee was closely
monitoring the situation.

“I have 33,000 members flying the system, reporting from all over the coun-
try at all major traffic hubs,”O’Donnell said.“I can say without equivocation that
the ATC system is safe.”O’Donnell went on to blast Poli, thus giving the Reagan
administration public assurance that ALPA would not rescue PATCO. Actually,
O’Donnell had already privately assured Drew Lewis that ALPA would not step
into the fight.

“On the tenth of August, Drew Lewis called me about rumors that we were
going to start honoring PATCO'’s picket lines,” O’'Donnell recalled later.“I told
Drew very candidly that if I told my people to honor those picket lines, they'd
run over me!”

Despite O’Donnell’s best efforts, his handling of the PATCO strike was very
damaging to him.With Eastern’s MEC savagely denouncing him, O’Donnell felt
under more pressure than he had ever been before.In the autumn 1981 Execu-
tive Board, O’Donnell would face a formidable recall movement, spearheaded
by his own Eastern MEC.To forestall it, O’'Donnell gave what many observers
took to